
 
 

 
 
To: Members of the  

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY SERVICES POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 Councillor Will Harmer (Chairman) 
Councillor Robert Mcilveen (Vice-Chairman) 

 Councillors Ian Dunn, Simon Fawthrop, Samaris Huntington-Thresher, 
Christopher Marlow, Melanie Stevens, Harry Stranger and Kieran Terry 

 
 A meeting of the Environment and Community Services Policy Development and 

Scrutiny Committee will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on WEDNESDAY 9 JUNE 
2021 AT 7.00PM 

 
 MARK BOWEN 

Director of Corporate Services 
 

 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 
 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 
A G E N D A 

 
PLEASE NOTE: This meeting will be held in the Council Chamber at the Civic Centre, 
Stockwell Close, Bromley, BR1 3UH. Members of the public can attend the meeting: You can 
ask questions submitted in advance, or just observe the meeting. There will be limited space 
for members of the public to attend the meeting – if you wish to attend please contact us, 
before the day of the meeting if possible, using our web-form:  
 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/CouncilMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm  
 
Please be prepared to follow the identified social distancing guidance at the meeting, 
including wearing a face covering. 
 

PART 1 AGENDA 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contact details are shown on 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting. 
 

 STANDARD ITEMS 
 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Stephen Wood 

   stephen.wood@bromley.gov.uk 

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8313 4316   

FAX:   DATE: 27 May 2021 

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/CouncilMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm


 
 

3    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11TH MARCH 2021 (Pages 3 - 32) 
 

4   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND THE PUBLIC (Pages 33 - 50) 
 

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports 
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of 
the meeting. Questions that are not specific to the agenda should have been received 
by the Democratic Services Team by 5.00pm on 25th May. 
 
Questions specifically relating to reports on the agenda should be received within two 
working days of the normal publication date of the agenda.  Please ensure that 
questions specifically concerning reports on the agenda are received by the 
Democratic Services Team by 5.00pm on 3rd June 2021. 
 

5    MATTERS ARISING AND WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 51 - 58) 
 

 HOLDING THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER TO ACCOUNT 
 

6    PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE AND  ECS PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW (Pages 
59 - 60) 
 

7   PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF REPORTS TO THE ENVIRONMENT AND 
COMMUNITY SERVICES PORTFOLIO HOLDER  
 

 Portfolio Holder decisions for pre-decision scrutiny. 
 

a    APPOINTMENTS TO THE COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTATIVE PANEL AND 
THE LEISURE GARDENS AND ALLOTMENTS PANEL 2021/2022 (Pages 
61 - 64) 
 

8    POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER ITEMS  
 

9    WOODLANDS IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME--POST COMPLETION REVIEW 
REPORT (Pages 65 - 92) 
 

10    GLENDALE CONTRACT--ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (Pages 93 - 102) 
 

11    ECS CONTRACTS REGISTER (Pages 103 - 112) 
 

12    ECS RISK REGISTER (Pages 113 - 126) 
 

  



1 
 

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY SERVICES POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting held at 6.30 pm on 11 March 2021 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Will Harmer (Chairman) 
Councillor Kieran Terry (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillors Mark Brock, Ian Dunn, Colin Hitchins, 
Samaris Huntington-Thresher, Melanie Stevens, 
Harry Stranger and Michael Tickner 

 
 

Also Present: 
 

Councillor Mary Cooke, Councillor Simon Fawthrop, 
Councillor William Huntington-Thresher, Councillor Keith 
Onslow, Councillor Tony Owen, Councillor Will Rowlands 
and Councillor Stephen Wells 

 
88   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 

No apologies for absence were received.  
 
89   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
90   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 14th JANUARY 2021 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14th January were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 
91   QUESTIONS TO THE CHAIRMAN OR THE COMMITTEE 

 
There were no questions received for the Chairman or the Committee.  
 
92   MATTERS ARISING AND WORK PROGRAMME 

 
CSD21024  
 
Members noted the report regarding Matters Arising and the Work 
Programme. 
 
A Member referred to an item on the Work Programme that had not been 
allocated a meeting date yet. This was the item relating to maintaining the 
quality of card and paper—he asked when a meeting date for this report 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

2 

would be forthcoming. The Director of Environment and Public Protection said 
that he would look into this and report back to the Committee.  
 
RESOLVED that 
 

1) The Matters Arising and Work Programme report be noted 
 

2) The Director of Environment and Public Protection would 
investigate when the report relating to the maintenance of card 
and paper quality would be reported back to the Committee 

   
 
93   PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE 

 
There was no update from the Portfolio Holder on this occasion.  
 
94   QUESTIONS TO THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER 

 
Three questions were submitted to the Portfolio Holder for oral response, and 
23 questions were received for written response. Questioners received a 
response to their written questions on the day following the meeting. All the 
oral and written questions and answers are published as an appendix to the 
minutes.  
 
95   PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF REPORTS TO THE 

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY SERVICES PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 
 

a BUDGET MONITORING 2020/21  
 
FSD 22021 
 
Members were briefed by the Head of ECS Finance that the current projected 
underspend was £372k. This had reduced from the last report, as the 
previous underspend with respect to ‘Highways’ was now intended to be used 
on carriageway repairs. It was explained that the budget report did not detail 
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Portfolio’s budget, as this was 
reported separately to the Executive.  
 
A Member asked what the reasons were for the £255k disputed cost with 
respect to Waste Services. The Member also noted that there was a £56k 
underspend with respect to vacancies in the Traffic and Road Safety Service 
and asked if there was a plan to fill any vacancies that may exist, given the 
current level of interest with respect to road safety. 
 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking responded to the question 
regarding the £56k underspend for the Traffic and Road Safety Service. He 
explained that this was funding that was held in reserve, as it was not clear if 
TfL capital funding for certain LIP funded positions within the service would be 

Page 4



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

11 March 2021 
 

3 
 

available. He promised to check on this and report back to the Committee if 
required.   
 
(Post meeting note: with respect to the matter of the £255k disputed cost 
figure, a response was previously disseminated to Members on 4th January 
2021)  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) The Portfolio Holder endorse the 2020/21 revenue budget monitoring 
for the Environment and Community Services Portfolio. 
 
2) The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking would check on the 
matter relating to the £56 underspend still needed to be held in reserve, 
and if the relevant TfL capital funding had been released.    
 
96   CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT 

 
FSD21016 
 
The Chairman pointed out that this report was primarily for noting. This was 
because the Leader had agreed a revised Capital Programme for the five year 
period 2020/21 to 2024/25. The report highlighted the changes that were 
agreed by the Leader in respect of the Capital Programme for the 
Environment and Community Services portfolio.  
 
RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder notes and acknowledges the 
changes agreed by the Leader on 10th February 2021. 
 

a TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENTS AT THE JUNCTION OF BROMLEY 
ROAD, WITH SCOTTS LANE AND DOWNS BRIDGE ROAD  

 
ES20080 
 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking explained that the report had 
been generated to put forward options to improve traffic and pedestrian safety 
at the junction where Scott’s Lane and Downs Bridge Road crossed Bromley 
Road. This was a location where accidents had occurred for many years; 
most of these accidents had been non-serious but a few were serious. This 
particular location had been on a list for possible safety scheme 
improvements for some time. Members had asked officers to look into the 
possibility of what could be done, because this area was on the periphery of 
the Shortlands Liveable Neighbourhood, and therefore funding was available 
from TfL for improvement works to be undertaken. The Assistant Director felt 
that in the main, Ward Members were supportive of the application, although 
he was aware that they  had their own comments and suggestions to put 
forward.  
 

Page 5



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

4 

The report suggested that a mini roundabout be installed at the junction, and 
this would therefore mean that traffic would have to reduce speed, thus 
minimising the risk of accidents and avoiding injuries. Members had also 
asked officers to consider what could be done for the benefit of pedestrians, 
as many pedestrians crossed in that area. The Assistant Director informed the 
Committee that current pedestrian counts were not available due to the Covid 
19 lockdown and so therefore the pedestrian counts had to be estimated. 
 
However, pre-existing vehicle counts were available which could be taken into 
consideration. It was felt that a refuge was needed for the deflection of traffic 
on the mini roundabout. The Assistant Director explained that it may also be 
possible to install a zebra crossing for the benefit of pedestrians. So various 
options were being considered in the report, and it was hoped that the 
Committee could feedback to the Portfolio Holder before he made his final 
decision on how to proceed and which option should be implemented.  
 
A Member (who was also a Ward Councillor) explained that the Ward 
Councillors had been campaigning for changes at this location for some time 
and so he was delighted that a scheme was being planned. He said that the 
Ward Councillors, (broadly speaking), were in favour of the recommendations 
of the report. However, the Ward Councillors felt strongly that the 227 bus 
shelter should be re-located. It was felt that if the bus shelter stayed where it 
was, it would hold up traffic--which was likely to tail back to the roundabout. It 
was suggested that the bus shelter be moved further forward and that this 
should be costed in to the plans.  
 
The Member (and Ward Councillor) addressed the matter of whether or not a 
refuge should be installed—or a pedestrian crossing. He preferred the option 
to install a pedestrian crossing, as he felt that this would have a more calming 
effect on the traffic flow. He stated that he was sceptical as to the value of the 
cost benefit analysis undertaken. He concluded by saying that the 
recommendation of the Ward Councillors would be for the installation of the 
mini roundabout with a Zebra Crossing. There was no preference regarding 
the  use of tegular or granite paving. This would therefore mean that the 
preference would be for option 1 as outlined in the report, with the caveat that 
the bus shelter be relocated. 
 
A Member noted that the proposed scheme was being developed outside the 
normal Department for Transport guidance and so he queried the significance 
of this. He also drew attention to the fact that the stage one safety audit had 
not been undertaken and asked if this would pose any risk to the completion 
of the project. The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking responded that it 
had to be borne in mind the guidance from the Department of Transport was 
not of a statutory nature but it was in fact just guidance. In this case the 
roundabout was being developed with four arms, and it was acknowledged 
that generally speaking, mini roundabouts would work better with three arms, 
so there may be some limited imbalance in traffic flows. However, it was 
definitely the case that the proposed development of the mini roundabout with 

Page 6



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

11 March 2021 
 

5 
 

four arms would be preferable to the current situation and would address the 
safety concerns that had been raised by Ward Councillors and residents. 
 
With reference to the safety audit, when the detailed design was completed 
then a second stage road safety audit would be undertaken by an 
independent consultancy. At this stage any other additional safety concerns 
would be flagged up. From past experience it was noted that generally 
speaking a second stage safety audit did not normally derail a project, in fact 
it could result in tweaks that made the project better. Any recommendations 
from the second stage safety audits would be considered before the 
implementation of the scheme.  
 
Members were informed that bus shelters were not built or designed to be 
relocated after being taken down, but rather a new bus shelter would need to 
be constructed at a new location if it was agreed that this was the way 
forward. The cost of construction of a new bus shelter was in the region of 
£20,000.  
 
The Chairman commented that a 40% contingency figure had been factored 
into the plans, and he wondered why this was the case, as 40% seemed to be 
rather excessive for a standard road traffic improvement scheme. The 
Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking answered that this had been advised 
by the scheme designers as due to time constraints, not as much initial site 
investigation had been undertaken as would normally be the case. This could 
therefore mean that as the project progressed, an issue with utility 
infrastructure could be detected, and this was the reason for the 40% 
contingency figure being factored in to the project. If no issues of this nature 
were encountered, then it was expected that the contingency figure would 
reduce.  
 
A discussion took place concerning the usefulness or otherwise of the PV2  
calculations used, where P equated to pedestrians and V equated to vehicles.   
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1) The project design should move forward and that the option to be 
implemented would be ‘option 1’, which was the option to install a 
mini roundabout with a zebra crossing and tegular paving.    

 
2) The 227 bus shelter should, if possible, be relocated in 

consultation with TfL. 
 

3) The costs of the scheme should be met from TfL funding for the 
Liveable Neighbourhood Transport Scheme. 
 

4) Delegated authority with respect to design amendments be 
granted to the Director of Environment and Public Protection, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder.  

 

Page 7



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

6 

 
b WESTGATE ROAD AND ALBEMARLE ROAD TRAFFIC 

MANAGEMENT CHANGES  
 
ES 20079 
 
The Committee was presented with a report seeking approval for the 
installation of traffic signals on either side of Westgate Road Bridge and to 
retain and modify experimental cycle lanes on Albemarle Road, Beckenham. 
 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking explained that a cycle route had 
been installed previously in Albemarle Road, and this had been actioned as 
funding had been available from central government to support cycling during 
the pandemic lockdown. The scheme had been introduced as an 
experimental scheme as there had not been time for a full consultation 
process to be undertaken. The scheme had been operational since November 
2020. It was felt that the scheme could be improved with the installation of 
traffic lights on the Westgate Road Bridge. The purpose of installing the traffic 
lights would be to allow two way traffic to flow over the bridge once more, but 
avoiding the issues of traffic coming over the bridge nose to nose as was 
currently the case.  
 
Some issues had arisen in the lower west end section of Albemarle Road, 
where a one way system had been installed to support the cycle route. 
Because of this, it meant that more traffic was going past Harris Beckenham 
School. Officers had observed the operation of the cycle lane and felt that the 
situation could be improved by reverting the road back to two way traffic, while 
still supporting cyclists. One of the ways that this could be achieved would be 
to suspend parking bays to help improve the traffic flow.  
 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking said that it was decided that a 
local public consultation was needed to see whether the experimental cycling  
lane should be discontinued, or whether the Council should try and develop 
and improve it. To this end, a local public consultation was undertaken and 
the views of local residents were sought. The Assistant Director said that a 
copy of the consultation document was provided with the agenda papers. 
Members noted that the report recommended that traffic lights should be 
installed on the bridge and the western section of Albemarle Road should be 
returned to two way traffic, whilst at the same time retaining a segregated 
route for cycling.  
 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking noted that a separate 
consultation had been undertaken by Ward Councillors, which had also been 
incorporated into the agenda papers and which he was aware they would be 
speaking in respect of in due course. The Assistant Director for Traffic and 
Parking stated that the results of the consultation undertaken by officers was 
that generally speaking the public was still supportive of the scheme.  
 

Page 8



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

11 March 2021 
 

7 
 

A Member and Ward Councillor expressed the view that what was lacking 
from the officers’ survey was that members of the public had not been asked 
what they wanted to do with respect to the Bridge at Westgate Road. He 
agreed that the public seemed to want to continue with the trial of the existing 
scheme.  
 
A Member mentioned that a previous report had been brought to the 
Committee with respect to the ‘Quiet Way’ which seemed to run more or less 
on the same route as the cycle lane. He sought assurances that the proposed 
scheme would not affect adversely any plans with regard to the ‘Quiet Way’. 
He also asked for assurances that if Albemarle Road reverted back to two 
lanes (plus the cycle lane) that this reversion would still be safe for cyclists.    
 
The Assistant Director responded that the proposed route for the ‘Quiet Way’ 
had been disputed for several years but had now been superseded by this 
new route. A route that would help continue this scheme would be to take the 
cycle route to Beckenham Junction and then Rectory Road, Blakeney Road, 
Bridge Road and join up with the cycle route near to Kent House Station and 
then progress up to Greenwich.  
 
The Assistant Director stated that with respect to the last section of Albemarle 
Road, the carriage-way width had been measured and was found to meet the 
TfL guidance required to provide adequate safety for cyclists. Observations 
seemed to indicate that with two lanes of traffic and a segregated lane for 
cyclists, this should result in slower moving traffic. 
 
A Member asked if alterations could be made to Westgate Road Bridge which 
could include the addition of an independent lane for pedestrians. The 
Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking answered that any plans that would 
include the construction of a new bridge, or any major structural changes to 
the existing bridge would be far too expensive and would incur costs of a far 
greater magnitude—and there was no budget for this.       
 
A Member and Ward Councillor asked the Committee and the Portfolio Holder 
to support the three recommendations that were proposed in the Ward 
Councillors report (page 95 of the agenda pack). He also recommended the 
adoption of the recommendations outlined in sections 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 of the 
officers’ report. 
 
The Assistant  Director  for Traffic and Parking and the Portfolio Holder made 
closing comments before the resolutions were agreed. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1) The Albemarle Road Experimental Cycle Scheme be left in place for 
the present time, but with the amendment of the re-introduction of two-
way traffic between the junctions at Westgate Road and St Georges 
Road, whilst retaining the segregated cycle lane, along with associated 
junction priority changes.  

Page 9



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

8 

 
2) The railway bridge in Westgate Road continues to have one-way 
traffic over the bridge and that traffic be one-way South (as present).  
  
3) The Albemarle Road Experimental scheme be subject to further 
review(s) and consultation(s) within 18 months so that post-lockdown 
traffic can be measured and residents’ views re-evaluated. 
 
4) That funding for this work be allocated from the TfL Liveable 
Neighbourhood Budget. 
 
5) The Director of Environment receive delegated authority to deal with 
design amendments across the whole scheme in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder and in line with the requirements of an Experimental 
Traffic Regulation Order. 
 

c PLANNED HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE  
 
ES20084 
 
Members were presented with a report regarding the work planned for the 
maintenance of highways in the borough. 
 
The Assistant Director for Highways explained that some LBB funding had 
become available for highway maintenance projects because of previous 
underspends, and that funding was expected to be reinstated by TfL. So what 
was now required was to submit a bid to TfL for the funding of planned 
highway maintenance; the Council was allowed to submit a bid to the value of 
£1.5m. In reality it was probable that  approximately half of this would be 
received.  
 
It was clarified that this highway maintenance was not directed primarily at 
any holes or damage caused by utility works, but was for general structural 
planned maintenance.  
 
Councillor Hitchins declared an interest at this point in view of the fact that he 
regularly travelled on two of the roads that were mentioned in the appendix to 
the report.  
 
Members supported the recommendations as outlined in the report.   
 
RESOLVED that:  
 
1)  The Portfolio Holder agreed that the schemes listed in Appendix ‘A’ 
should be included in a programme of planned highway maintenance for 
2020/21, to be undertaken by the Council’s existing highway term 
maintenance contractor, up to a maximum cost of £0.6m, subject to 
available funding from underspending on other Highways revenue 
budgets. 

Page 10



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

11 March 2021 
 

9 
 

 
2) The Portfolio Holder agreed that a bid for funding of £1.5m should be 
submitted to TfL for the schemes listed in Appendix ‘B’ to form a future 
principal roads maintenance programme and, if successful, the 
Executive is requested to amend the Capital Programme accordingly. 
 
97   PRE SCRUTINY OF REPORTS GOING TO THE EXECUTIVE 

 
a PROCUREMENT OF MOVING TRAFFIC CONTRAVENTION 

CAMERAS  
 
ES 20078 
 
Members were asked to undertake pre decision scrutiny of the report 
regarding the procurement of moving traffic contravention cameras. The final 
decision concerning the recommendations of the report would be taken by the 
Executive. There were 13 cameras to procure, and it was hoped to begin 
enforcement later in 2021. 
 
The recommendation was that the cameras would be procured via APCOA 
(the existing contractor). APCOA would sub-contract the procurement to TES 
Limited.   
 
A Member asked for assurances that the quality of the images would enable 
prosecutions to take place, and also asked if LBB would be able to add to the 
number of cameras being used going forward. The Head of Shared Parking 
Services stated that additional cameras could be added to the network in the 
future if required. Evidence of image quality would be provided by the 
contractor before LBB entered into a contractual arrangement. 
 
The Vice Chairman asked if consideration had been applied to undertaking a 
joint procurement initiative with Bexley, with the possibility of making  
efficiencies/savings. The Head of Shared Parking Services replied that no 
direct conversation to that end had taken place. However, if in the future the 
camera network was going to be extended, then this was something that 
could be considered.  
 
The Chairman asked about the vendor (TES), reminding the Committee that 
they were a small business with approximately 8-10 staff. He inquired us to 
what protection LBB would have if TES went bust. This was because the 
Council had experienced previous issues when a company had gone bust and 
the Council had been unable to access the affected systems. He would not 
wish the situation to arise whereby TES went bust and then LBB was left with 
non-functioning cameras. The Head of Shared Parking Services responded 
that TES was a company that was known to the Council as they had provided 
services with respect to mobile CCTV cars in Bexley. She expressed 
confidence in their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations. However, she 
agreed with the Chairman that it would be prudent to include assurances in 
the Council’s agreement with APCOA which would make it clear that APCOA 

Page 11



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

10 

would take responsibility for any risk associated with using TES as a sub-
contractor.   
 
A Member pointed out that in his view it should be the Council’s policy to 
support small and medium sized enterprises, and as TES was known to the 
Council then they should be given the opportunity to undertake the work. 
 
RESOLVED that it be recommended to the Executive that they accept 
the recommendations of the report. 
   

b BROMLEY BIODIVERSITY PLAN 2021-2026  
 
DRR000000 
 
Members were presented with a report outlining the Bromley Biodiversity Plan 
(BBP) for consideration and pre-decision scrutiny before the plan went to the 
Executive for ratification. 
 
Members noted that the report recommended that the new Bromley 
Biodiversity Plan (BBP) should be adopted by the Council. The BBP aimed to 
prevent the decline of species and habitats and to promote their conservation 
through active management of land, and the promotion of biodiversity gains 
through the planning system. The BBP provided guidance to developers, 
planners and land managers on how biodiversity should be protected and 
enhanced in the borough. 
 
Dr Judith John attended the meeting to answer any questions with respect to 
the Plan. The purpose of the report was outlined by Ben Johnson. The onus 
on the Council to produce the report was in response to the requirements of 
the National Environmental Rural Communities Act. This placed a duty on 
Councils to protect Bio-Diversity. The Chairman commented that recently 
there had been much focus nationally on bio-diversity.  
 
The Committee noted the importance of gardens in this regard, especially 
when taken cumulatively, and that it may be prudent to reflect this in the Local 
Plan when it was reviewed.  
 
Members were impressed with the detail and quality of the report and agreed 
with the recommendations. 
 
RESOLVED that the Bromley Biodiversity plan be noted, and that the 
Committee recommends the adoption of the Plan by the Executive.  
 
  
98   POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER ITEMS 

 
a SHORTLANDS FRIENDLY VILLAGE LIVEABLE UPDATE  

 
ES20081 

Page 12



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

11 March 2021 
 

11 
 

 
Members were presented with a report that was primarily for information 
purposes. The report was drafted to provide the Committee with an update 
with respect to the design developments for the Shortlands Friendly Liveable 
Neighbourhood Village.  
 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking explained that the project had 
been delayed because of Covid19, but nevertheless design modelling was 
continuing. More work was required to be done before anything more 
concrete could be brought to the Committee for scrutiny. 
 
The Chairman was very keen for the scheme to be pursued, and for modelling 
to continue and for a local public consultation to be implemented. He 
commented that there was no data in the report with respect to funding for 
improving ‘street scene’ and for enhancing the general look and feel of the 
area to encourage local businesses. The Chairman stated that the project was 
very challenging as the Council was restricted by obstacles that were not 
movable.  
 
A Member stated that it was important that the scheme facilitate cycling from 
Bromley, to Beckenham and then to Greenwich. A discussion took place 
concerning the note in the report of differing views amongst the Ward Member 
Project Board. The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking explained that 
this was largely because the answers to the correct solution were not clear 
and that was why more modelling was required. Once the results of further 
modelling were known, then the results would be reported back to the 
Committee.   
 
A Member said that he had attended previous public meetings concerning this 
development, but they had been unproductive as there had not been enough 
detail available to comment upon. He was not keen on more traffic lights. He 
was in favour of streamlining and the use of mini-roundabouts as required. 
 
RESOLVED that the update report be noted. 
 

b ECS PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW UPDATE  
 
Members were briefed with the performance overview update for ‘ECS4’ 
which was in respect of the recycling of household waste. This was rated as 
‘amber’. This was below target due to the impacts of the Covid Pandemic. 
‘ECS6’ was similar to this and was also amber, figures similarly being affected 
by the pandemic. 
 
Changes to residents’ lifestyles during the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
resulting restrictions meant that more people were at home during the 
daytime. This had resulted in an increase in the amount of residual waste 
produced per household. It was likely that home clearances and improvement 
activities also increased during this time which also impacted on the figures. 
 

Page 13



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

12 

Members heard that with respect to the arboricultural contract, the required 
target levels had not been hit. This was due to the seasonal volatility of the 
work and the need to deal with a backlog. Performance had now improved.  
 
The Chairman said that the borough had experienced disruptive waste 
collections with the snow and ice that occurred during February. Services had 
been suspended for several days. He wondered if with hindsight, this was the 
correct course of action, and if the decisions made had been communicated 
effectively, and what could the Council do better next time.  
 
Members were informed that the snow and ice caused chaos and serious 
health and safety issues. The safety of the work force was of first importance 
and so services were suspended for three days. A discussion took place as to 
how matters were communicated during this period. The Portfolio Holder 
pointed out that going forward, the Council would benefit from an enhanced  
website which would improve the way the Council communicated with 
residents. It was also the case that LBB now benefited from an advanced 
weather forecasting system which was very reliable and perhaps more trust 
could be placed in their accuracy, rather than waiting for early morning 
inspections before determining whether collections could occur safely, thus 
allowing residents to be alerted the day before.   
 
Part of the discussion relating to communication, concerned whether or not a 
message concerning collections should have been put on the front page of 
the Council website, where it would be easy to see. The Communications 
Executive stated that the waste news website address was well known, and 
lots of people had looked at this. He said that in terms of the lessons learnt, 
the Council would be looking to improve the website, and was also looking 
into text messaging  residents directly.  
 
A Member inquired if refuse teams could have been redirected to the North of 
the borough which seemed to get less adverse weather conditions. It was 
noted that an issue making this difficult was that this would have necessitated 
a comprehensive communications exercise to explain what was happening, 
so that residents could get their bins out for collection on time.  
 
A Member suggested that emails be sent directly to residents explaining what 
the default position was, sending out a holding email if necessary. In her 
ward, as there was little communication, plastics were left out for collection for 
a week which were blown everywhere by the wind.  
 
A Member suggested the possibility of adding a note to Council Tax 
reminders to request more email addresses, so that the Council could get 
greater coverage for their communications. The Communications Executive 
said that  the Council currently held 70,000 email addresses of residents but it 
would obviously be good to get more.  
 
The Chairman wondered if Residents Associations could be used to get 
messages out to the public if required.  

Page 14



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

11 March 2021 
 

13 
 

 
A Member referred back to ‘ECS 4’ and the issue of high precipitation making 
paper too wet for recycling. He wondered if any plans were in place to try and 
resolve this issue. The Strategic Manager for Waste Services explained 
alternatives to the current collection methodology was something that had 
been looked into, but so far all options for alternative collections seemed to be 
too costly. In the meantime, the Waste Transfer Station was having some 
repairs actioned, and holes were being repaired in the roof to stop water 
getting in and wetting the paper.  
 
The Committee was briefed that trials were underway with an alternative 
paper re-processing centre and a refuse derived fuel facility, in an attempt to 
find cost effective ways of drying paper that could then be recycled.  
 
The Committee noted that with respect to the paper market, there had been a 
general downward trend in pricing due to supply exceeding demand with 
respect to paper. During the Covid-19 pandemic, the price had seen an uplift 
due to an increase in demand for card packaging. This was likely to be 
temporary, with the overall trajectory being that paper prices would continue 
to decline.  
 
RESOLVED that the ECS Performance Overview update be noted.     
 
99   ECS DRAFT PORTFOLIO PLAN 

 
ES20070 
 
A discussion took place about the development of electronic vehicle charging 
points in the borough. It was noted that some charging points had been 
installed by TfL and others by Blue Point/ChargePoint London. The Portfolio 
Holder explained that this was a developing strategy, and the Council had to 
be careful to make the correct investment in technology, one that would be an 
investment for the future and also upgradeable. 
 
Mention was made of the facilities for the Cray Wanderers football team and 
the fact that they were in desperate need of funding, as their current 
conditions were very bad, and they were looking to have 26 junior football 
teams up and running the next season.  
 
The Chairman commented on ambitions for the Portfolio Plan and referred to 
the contract targets with respect to public satisfaction for cleanliness. His 
observation was that the report seemed to indicate less ambitious targets 
going forward, despite the fact that the previous targets had been hit. He 
wondered why this was the case. The Senior Business Support Officer 
explained that the Council was definitely not seeking a reduced performance 
from the contractor. There was some confusion in that the targets mentioned 
in the report that the Chairman was looking at, were contractual targets as per 
the contract--whereas the previous targets that Members had been looking at 
were targets that were for internal reporting purposes rather than contractual.  

Page 15



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

14 

 
 
RESOLVED that the Draft Portfolio Plan be noted.   
 
100   RISK REGISTER 

 
ES20067 
 
Members noted that the Covid Pandemic had now been removed from the 
Risk Register. 
 
RESOLVED that the Risk Register report be noted. 
 
101   CONTRACTS REGISTER 

 
ES20068 
 

The Chairman noted that there was one item on the Risk Register that was 
flagged as ‘Red’, but that this looked manageable. 
 
RESOLVED that the Contracts Register report be noted.  
 

 
102   ORPINGTON: CROFTON ROAD TRANSPORT CORRIDOR 

 
ES 20082 
 
Members were presented with a report concerning the Crofton Road 
Transport Corridor Improvement Scheme in Orpington. 
 
The report had been presented because a Member had given notice to the 
Proper Officer that he wished to raise questions regarding the scheme at the 
meeting. 
 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking stated that this was a scheme to 
develop cycle routes along Crofton Road. The scheme had turned out to be a 
controversial one, with many questions being raised with respect to value for 
money and the scheme’s efficacy. In developing the scheme, the public, along 
with Ward Councillors had been consulted. He said that the answers to the 
questions raised by the Guest Member were outlined in the report. 
 
The Chairman commented that he had attended on site and noted that this 
was a work in progress.  
 
The Guest Member stated that his purpose in bringing the matter to the 
attention of the Committee was so that the work would stop, and that the 
Committee sanction or commission an immediate road safety audit of the 
scheme, particularly in the area between Newstead Ave and Orpington 
Station. 

Page 16



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 

11 March 2021 
 

15 
 

 
He referred to the previous use of three lane highways, and the fact that these 
had been scrapped because of dangers in relation to ‘head on conflict’. In his 
view, the cycle scheme being proposed for Crofton Road had  ‘head on 
conflict designed in to the scheme’. The Guest Member referred to an 
accident that had taken place on the 19th of February at 10:00am, which 
involved a head on collision. To support this, he read out a statement given by 
a bus driver that had witnessed the accident.  
 
He stated that post lockdown there could be a danger with standstill traffic in 
Crofton Road which would have a major impact on bus routes. Again, the 
Guest Member reiterated his request to the Committee to undertake a proper 
and thorough road safety audit. The Chairman asked the Guest Member who 
he thought should undertake the safety audit--should it be the Committee or 
should it be the professionals. The Guest Member responded that he was 
asking the Committee to commission the safety audit.  
 
The Guest Member stated that he was in contact with a constituent who was a 
chartered civil engineer and a road safety auditor who had pointed out what 
he considered to be flaws in the design of the scheme, again particularly in 
the area between Newstead Avenue and York Rise. He outlined several 
suggestions that had been made by the constituent who was a retired charted 
civil engineer and these were as follows: 
 

1. The relocation of the BT pole  
2. The relocation of the bus stop and cage 
3. The revision of the kerb-line of the north of the road between York Rise 

and the taxi rank, to increase the width of the carriageway by 2 metres 
4. Narrow the footway on the southern side of the road    

 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and Parking responded that the scheme had 
been audited by an independent safety auditor at the concept and design 
stage, and that at the completion of the scheme, a stage 3 road safety audit 
would be undertaken.  
 
The Portfolio Holder said that in due course an update report would be 
provided and that the Council would continue to monitor the situation. In the 
meantime, the Council planned to improve the scheme by repainting the line 
markings and improving the road surface. It was hoped that if the line 
markings were made clearer this would help to make the scheme safer.  
 
The Chairman asked if there was an immediate and urgent risk that required 
attention. The Assistant Director of Traffic and Parking responded that this 
was why the road markings had now in fact already been repainted, with 
further improvements to come.  
 
The Guest Member  who raised the questions initially, asked if a meeting 
could be arranged with the constituent who was a chartered engineer and with 
the contractor, as the contractor was already on site. 

Page 17



Environment and Community Services Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee 
11 March 2021 
 

16 

 
He asked if the Portfolio Holder and the Assistant Director for Traffic and 
Parking would like to attend the meeting. The Assistant Director for Traffic and 
Parking responded that he would be happy to attend the meeting, and he 
would probably also bring with him someone from the design team and the 
build team. The Portfolio Holder confirmed that he also was willing to attend 
such a meeting.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1) The Committee and the Portfolio Holder noted the report, the 
questions raised by Cllr Owen and the responses provided. 
 
2) A meeting would be held on site comprising the following: 
 

 Councillor Owen 

 Ward Councillors 

 A constituent who was a retired chartered civil engineer 

 The LBB contractor 

 The Portfolio Holder    

 The Assistant Director of Traffic and Parking together with 
representatives from the design and build team  

 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 9.30 pm 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 
   ECS PDS for 11th March 2021 

 
List of questions from the public for oral response :  
 

 
1) Question from Julian Freestone: 

'Significant damage to footpaths & fauna is being done in Elmstead Woods through the 
regular unauthorised use of motorbikes & quad bikes in the woods.  There is also a 
significant amount of noise pollution caused by them at times of high public use (weekends).  

Can you please tell me how the Council intends to tackle this problem?' 
 
Answer to Question 1: 
 
A) The Council and Police are working together to develop an action plan of joint site 
patrols involving the Councils Parks Security contractor / Ward Security and the police  
 
B) Council officers , The police and the Council’s Parks contractors will undertake site 
visits to identify and assess official key pedestrian and vehicle access points into the park  to 
determine what action / physical improvements are required  prevent the illegal access by 
these motorbikes while still maintaining access for pedestrians, those in wheel chairs and 
people with buggies.    
 
C) The site visit will also look to identify illegal motorbike access points with a view to 
blocking them with   appropriate infrastructure.  We strive to maintain the paths and fauna in 
Elmstead Woods in a good condition as far as reasonably possible. the budget however will 
be stretched to repair additional damage so it may take some time to achieve those repairs. If 
we are successful in catching any of the culprits we will seek to impose fines which we can 
then use to help with repairs 
 
Supplementary Question to Question 1: 
 
You mentioned that this matter falls under the remit of two committees as it also relates to 
matters of public safety. Am I right in thinking that this will be a joint effort as well as involving 
the police, given that the activity is illegal. 
 
Answer to Supplementary Question 1 
 
The Environment Committee cover the policy aspects of the Parks Security Service and 
Councillor Lymer (Portfolio Holder for Public Protection and Enforcement) has more to do 
with the parks security service. So yes, we will be dealing with this jointly. Councillor Lymer 
has regular contact with the police. As you pointed out, we require joint action to be effective. 
Ward security use body worn cameras and patrol with dogs. This give them a good ability to 
act in the situation regarding the quad bikes and motor bikes.      

 
2) Question from Daniel Mirea: 

I have serious concerns about the damage done to the whole ecosystem in Elmstead Woods 
brought by an increasing number of motorbikes motocross users in this area. It is not just the 
noise but also the damage done by aggressive off-road driving through Elmstead Woods on 
a regular basis. In spite of numerous complaints, the council does not seem to take action. 
Can you please minute these concerns and update on any future action plans? 
 
 
 

Page 1

Minute Annex

Page 19



 
 
Answer to Question 2: 
 

A) The Council and Police are working together to develop an action plan of joint site 
patrols involving the Councils Parks Security contractor / Ward Security and the police  
 

B) Council officers , The police and the Council’s Parks contractors will undertake site 
visits to identify and assess official key pedestrian and vehicle access points into the 
park  to determine what action / physical improvements are required  prevent the 
illegal access by these motorbikes while still maintaining access for pedestrians, those 
in wheel chairs and people with buggies.   
 

C) The site visit will also look to identify illegal motorbike access points with a view to 
blocking them with   appropriate infrastructure.   

 
We strive to maintain the paths and fauna in Elmstead Woods in a good condition as far as 
reasonably possible. the budget however will be stretched to repair additional damage so it 
may take some time to achieve those repairs. If we are successful in catching any of the 
culprits we will seek to impose fines which we can then use to help with repairs. 
 
3a) Question from Richard Gibbons: 
 

Would Portfolio Holder (a) provide definitive list of land and building assets idVerde is 
currently contracted to manage and maintain within Open Space Portfolio; (b) list of land and 
building assets subject to development and/or disposal in 2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18, 
2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21? 

Answer to Question 3a: 

A)  A list can be provided of definitive land assets that idverde manage and maintain. We 
would require more information regarding the format of the information requested. 

Idverde are not currently contracted to manage or maintain buildings and property assets. 

B) Since 2015 the Council has not disposed of any land or building assets within the Open 
Space Portfolio – as managed by Idverde.  The only exception to this is that the Council have 
granted a lease for a term exceeding 7 years to FC Elmstead so that they could build their 
new pavilion at Chislehurst Recreation Ground and the Open Space notification process was 
followed. 

3b) Question from Richard Gibbons: 

Has the Portfolio Holder undertaken SWOT analysis for Demand Responsive Transport 
(DRT) to (a) enhance/extend bus routes currently serving borough; (b) support 
regeneration/development of Orpington Town Centre, Cray Business Corridor, Biggin Hill 
SOLDC; (c) improve services to/from rural villages, nearby housing developments such as 
Fort Halstead, and Sevenoaks? 

 

 

Answer to question 3b: 

Page 2Page 20



 
 

The Council understands the importance of the bus as part of the Borough’s 
public transport network and how it could be further developed, incrementally, 
based on changes in demand and travel behaviour. The Council holds regular 
Public Transport Liaison meetings, some of which are held in public. These 
meetings are held to raise service issues and general coordination between 
users, providers and funders of public transport (the local TDA is invited) 
TfL is the body in London funded to deliver bus services, the Council, does 
make requests of TfL in this regard.  As and when TfL undertakes studies to 
develop the network and investigate new and innovative bus services, the 
Council, as a stakeholder will provide advice and commentary. In July 2018 we 
wrote to TfL to suggest, in response to a TfL approach, that when they trialled a 
DRT service that they consider the rural part of our borough.  You will also 
have seen the Council’s Press Releases on supervised autonomous vehicle 
tests in 2018 and 2019, which could be a method for delivery of DRT. 
TfL primarily delivers bus services to Greater London residents and tax payers 
to reach their destination rather than Kent residents to reach destinations in 
London. It is my expectation that future developments, such as Fort Halstead as 
part of their environmental commitments in the planning process should be 
considering supporting public transport and/or active travel options for 
residents. The outline planning application for Fort Halstead appears to include 
the provision of a community bus service probably to Orpington Station. Bus 
services are only part of the public transport offer, which includes rail. 
 
Our LIP did make a number of requests for new connectivity, particularly orbital 
routes and links to the Elizabeth line, in addition looking for a timetable for zero 
emission buses. In addition public transport has been a consideration of the 
SOLDC and when we become aware of connectivity gaps we will engage with 
TfL to address them. Future work though remains dependent on TfL finances. 
 
Supplementary Question relating to 3b 
 
The last meeting that I can find on the LBB website for the Public Transport 
Liaison Group was in September 2015. Has the Group met since then, and 
when  will it be meeting next? Have TfL’s DRT trials in Sutton and Ealing been 
discussed at London Councils’ TEC meetings? If so, when was this? Otherwise, 
please can this be raised at future meetings? 
 
Answer to Supplementary Question 3b  
 
No further meeting is planned. There was a meeting in early 2020, but this was 
probably not a public meeting. We will be setting up a meeting as soon as we 
can meet in person again. I will liaise with the PDS Chairman who formerly 
chairs these meetings to see when another one might be organised. The DRT 
meetings cross over into the Supervised Autonomous Vehicle Transport Trials. 
That was probably last discussed at a London Councils TEC meeting a couple 
of years ago in September 2019.  
 

Page 3Page 21



 
 

I will ask the Chairman of the TEC to see when there is a further update, but 
this will probably not be of much use until TfL have finances available to take 
this further. Most of these would have been delivered by other parties and TfL 
and the boroughs are actually only stakeholders and observers, rather than 
participants in the trials. 
 
(The Chairman commented that the last meeting of the Public Liaison 
Committee was in mid-January 2020)    
  
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 4Page 22



ECS PDS—11th March—Questions for Written Response: 

 

1) Question from Maureen McCann: 

My young neighbour wrote about the future of our open spaces in Bromley for his 

young reporter scheme. Since lockdown, these areas have become even more 

important for families. However, Elmstead/Marvels Wood looks neglected and ruined 

by ASB. What is Bromley doing to protect these woods for our future generation? 

Answer to Question 1 

A) The Council and Police are working together to develop an action plan of joint 

site patrols involving the Councils Parks Security contractor / Ward Security and the 

police  

B) Council officers , The police and the Council’s Parks contractors will 

undertake site visits to identify and assess official key pedestrian and vehicle access 

points into the park  to determine what action / physical improvements are required  

prevent the illegal access by these motorbikes while still maintaining access for 

pedestrians, those in wheel chairs and people with buggies.    

C) The site visit will also look to identify illegal motorbike access points with a 

view to blocking them with   appropriate infrastructure.   

D) We strive to maintain the paths and fauna in Elmstead Woods in a good 

condition as far as reasonably possible. the budget however will be stretched to 

repair additional damage so it may take some time to achieve those repairs. If we 

are successful in catching any of the culprits we will seek to impose fines which we 

can then use to help with repairs. 

 

2) Question from Ryan Finn: 

High powered off-road motorbikes are regularly using Elmstead and Marvels Woods 

as their private dirt track. Reaching high speeds in concise space, they pose a 

significant danger to the numerous members of the public, many of them with small 

children and dogs, that enjoy these woods. Please can you tell me how the Council 

intends to eradicate this problem?" 

Answer to Question 2: 

A) The Council and Police are working together to develop an action plan of joint 

site patrols involving the Councils Parks Security contractor / Ward Security and the 

police  

B) Council officers , The police and the Council’s Parks contractors will 

undertake site visits to identify and assess official key pedestrian and vehicle access 

points into the park  to determine what action / physical improvements are required  

prevent the illegal access by these motorbikes while still maintaining access for 

pedestrians, those in wheel chairs and people with buggies.    

Page 5

Minute Annex

Page 23



C) The site visit will also look to identify illegal motorbike access points with a 

view to blocking them with   appropriate infrastructure.   

D) We strive to maintain the paths and fauna in Elmstead Woods in a good 

condition as far as reasonably possible. the budget however will be stretched to 

repair additional damage so it may take some time to achieve those repairs. If we 

are successful in catching any of the culprits we will seek to impose fines which we 

can then use to help with repairs. 

 

3) Question from Mandy James: 

UK government announced 50% of all urban journeys are to be walked or cycled by 

2030. Will LBB acknowledge training on road and cycle safety isn’t enough to meet 

this and advise of the actions LBB will take to build sufficient infrastructure to enable 

this level of active travel? 

Answer to Question 3: 

The 50% target for active travel for urban journeys is of course an average and the 

fringes of the urban area, such as Bromley will obviously have a lower proportion 

than Central London. Much of the borough is suburban and rural. Walking, 

particularly walking to public transport has provided the majority of active travel 

journeys in the borough and is likely to continue to do so. We therefore support both 

walking and cycling, plus in the case of some school journey push scooters. 

Turning to cycling, our cycle training, outside of the current pandemic, has been able 

to meet the demand, in addition the Council continues to install improved facilities for 

both cycling and cycle parking. That includes new facilities recently or currently being 

installed in Orpington, Beckenham and Crystal Palace and we have also facilitated 

over 600 cycle parking spaces at destinations in recent years. New developments in 

addition have a requirement in the planning process to provide cycle parking and 

those numbers would be in addition to the above. 

In terms of future facilities the aspiration is to provide residents with a genuine choice 

of travel modes as to how they travel within our borough. Understanding the demand 

is key to ensure that future spend is justified and part of that may require us to 

understand the extent of a new normal. 

 

4) Question from Mandy James: 

Road congestion is an ongoing problem within the Waldo and Tylney Road area of 

Bromley. With so many idling cars in close proximity to four schools, will LBB please 

confirm what action is being taken to reduce traffic and pollution in this area? 

Answer to Question 4: 

I am sorry you have been inconvenienced in recent weeks by congestion due to the 

higher volumes of customers visiting Waldo Road re-use and recycling centre. Trips 

Page 6Page 24



to council amenity sites have remained an essential activity during lock down, and it 

appears a high volume of customers have taken the opportunity of staycations to 

spring clean. We continue to promote our Green Garden Waste Collection 

subscription service to reduce the number of journeys, and in the last year we have 

seen approximately a 20% increase in take-up. We also introduced a new online 

application system for Green Garden Waste sticker purchases, since with the 

libraries closed the previous method purchase method was unavailable to residents. 

As the weather continues to improve and in anticipation of garden spring cleans, we 

are starting our weekend operations at our green garden waste satellite sites in 

Norman Park, Shire Lane, Unicorn Primary and Charles Darwin schools, and these 

will now begin a week earlier this year on the 27th and 28th March.  

We launched our anti-idling education programme outside schools just before the 

pandemic closed most schools. This is an area we will return to as schools reopen. 

 

5) Question from Carolyn Heitmeyer: 

Following consultation and with approval from the Greater London Authority, 

Bromley Council has published its Air Quality Action Plan. This document mentions 

delivery of 'Shortlands Friendly Village Scheme' as an output. Can the Portfolio 

Holder provide an update on the delivery of this scheme, and whether it includes 

Westgate Road traffic lights? 

Answer to Question 5: 

There are two separate reports being presented to this PDS committee this evening, 

the first of which provides a full update on progress with the Shortlands Friendly 

Village Scheme and the other will consider whether traffic lights should be installed 

on Westgate Road bridge. 

 

6) Question from Carolyn Heitmeyer: 

Can Bromley Council undertake and share a cost-benefit analysis regarding giving 

residents boxes with hinged lids for paper recycling, i.e. similar to the wheelie bins 

currently provided for non-recyclable waste in Bromley, or the paper recycling 

wheelie bins provided to residents in Lambeth? 

Answer to Question 6: 

For clarity, Bromley Council does not provide containers for non-recyclable refuse as 

the service that we operate is a sack collection. Residents can therefore choose how 

they want to present their waste and purchase their own container for storage in 

between collections.  

The indicative cost of purchasing and delivering a 180 litre wheeled bin for paper and 

card to all households is £2.4 million based on 2019/20 tonnage data, and 2020/21 

costs. Considering the financial aspects of wet paper instead being directed for 

Page 7Page 25



energy recovery, there does not appear to be a sufficient benefit to justify this outlay 

at the current time. We also note these wheelie bins would be plastic. 

Bromley is a high performing borough for recycling, achieving a recycling rate of 

50.9% in 2019/20, which compares to Lambeth’s recycling rate of was 31.7%.  The 

configuration of our recycling and waste services including the container type is one 

of the reasons Bromley continues to perform at this high level. A regular reader of 

our environment press releases will see that we continue to introduce new measures 

with the aim of enhancing our recycling rate. 

 

7) Question from James Rowe 

The need for the UK to adopt much more active travel has recently been restated, 

and indeed increased, with the statement from Grant Schapps. To that end, will the 

Council commit to publishing annual success measures that track the necessary 

increase in levels of school children using active travel? 

Answer to Question 7: 

The best measure of success is the number of children in the Borough travelling to 

school by foot, bike, or scooter. This is a key performance indicator regularly 

reported to this committee. Unfortunately, as schools were closed for much of the 

last year, the data we now have is quite out of date. However, The Council’s School 

Travel Advisers continue to liaise with schools to help the schools deliver their travel 

plan activities and to ensure that Bromley continues to have among the highest 

number of Gold accredited plans in London. Also, various new infrastructure has 

been introduced this year in support of active travel to schools. 

 

8) Question from James Rowe: 

The DfT’s School Travel Guidance gives local authorities responsibility to promote 

sustainable travel to schools. Specifically this should include : 

1) an audit of sustainable travel infrastructure, and 2) annual publication of its 

sustainable school travel strategy each August. 

When and where are these published? 

Answer to Question 8: 

Bromley has recently had more Gold accredited school travel plans than any other 

London borough. Bromley has, for many years, invested in effective school travel 

plans, updated as necessary, putting forward a package of measures to improve 

safety and increase active travel, backed by a partnership involving the school, 

education, health and transport officers from the local authority, and other 

stakeholders. These seek to secure benefits for both the school and the children by 

improving their health through active travel and reducing congestion caused by 

Page 8Page 26



school runs, which in turn helps improve local air quality. Each travel plan provides a 

regular audit of the sustainable travel infrastructure required to support that school. 

 

9) Question from Amanda McCann: 

My question is why have you allowed the residents whose houses back onto the cow 

path off of Elmstead Lane to cut down trees and bushes in order to install gates and 

pathways to their properties. It has completely destroyed what was once a pleasant 

rural pathway. 

Answer to Question 9: 

The Council has not given consent for residents of Elmstead Lane to cut down trees 

and bushes to facilitate the installation of gates and pathways to their properties. 

Thank you for notifying us of this issue which is being investigated. 

 

10) Question from Rajeev Thacker: 

Action 22 of the Air Quality Action Plan states that the Council aims to "continue with 

Play Street events.” Can you please a) give the names of the streets where the 

events have taken place and b) the number of and dates of the events that have 

taken place. 

Answer to Question 10: 

Bromley doesn't have any Play Streets as such but prefers to allow residents to book 

one-off organised Street Parties. To better reflect this in the AQAP and avoid any 

misinterpretation “Play Street Events”, has been amended to “Street Party Events”. 

This will make no difference to the activities already undertaken, as part of the target 

22 concerning “Temporary Car Free Days”. This small change to the wording of the 

target will be reflected in the AQAP’s first annual status report, scheduled for release 

in April 2022. Mindful of the Government’s easing of lockdown guidance schedule we 

are considering the possibilities for 2021. 

In 2019 Bromley received 50 applications for Street Parties, followed by 71 

applications in 2020. A list of these streets will be sent to Mr Thacker by officers. 

 

11) Question from Rajeev Thacker: 

The same action point refers to the Council engaging “with residents in discussions 

about possible changes in the locality that would enhance walking and cycling." 

Please give details of the process that residents should follow in order that they can 

engage with the Council to discuss such potential changes. 

Answer to Question 11: 

The Council encourages residents to give their views on cycling and walking 

schemes through consultation events and communications in respect to larger 

Page 9Page 27



proposals, but also responds to hundreds of approaches from residents via the 

Council’s online forms each year. Please use 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/trafficmanagementcontactform 

 

12) Question from Robbie Vincent: 

Sophisticated monitors show human made Air Pollution in Bromley exceeds WHO 

safe limits. On occasion by more than 5 times. Health Charities and other Boroughs 

issued notification of dangers attached to all types of Wood Burning. Bromley shows 

24 related deaths in 2021. Bromley’s plan of action please? 

Answer to Question 12: 

Bromley’s plan of action is provided in the Air Quality Action Plan and the associated 

matrix which can be accessed here 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/246/air_quality_action_plan 

 

13) Question from Laura Vogel: 

Bromley Council has an outstanding record of achievement regarding the STARS 

program. Does the Portfolio Holder agree there is merit in the Council counting and 

reporting the number of children in the borough travelling to school by foot, bike, or 

scooter as a key performance indicator? 

Answer to Question 13: 

This information is already recorded and is a key performance indicator regularly 

reported to this committee. Unfortunately, as schools were closed for much of the 

last year, the data we now have is quite out of date. However, The Council’s School 

Travel Advisers continue to liaise with schools to help the schools deliver their travel 

plan activities and to ensure that Bromley continues to have among the highest 

number of Gold accredited plans in London. Also, various new infrastructure has 

been introduced this year in support of active travel to schools. 

 

14) Question from Laura Vogel: 

Many were pleased to see the addition of the planters on Bromley High Street, could 

the Portfolio Holder confirm if the funds for the planters came from the Covid 

Infrastructure Grants and if so, explain how the placing of the High Street planters 

enhances residents’ ability to “active travel” and social distance? 

Answer to Question 14: 

Grant funding for the planters and other social distancing barriers and signage in 

town centres across the Borough was awarded by the MHCLG under the banner 

“Reopening High Streets Safely”.  Planters were also installed to allow space for 

increased outdoor dining to support food and beverage businesses required to 

Page 10Page 28



reduce the number seats inside their premises. Social distancing measures in town 

centres are therefore primarily to allow high streets to reopen safely, giving 

customers confidence that they can return high streets without significant risk in 

respect to Covid 19. Other funding, received via TfL from the DfT, was used to 

introduce social distancing and active travel facilities around schools and along some 

transport corridors, with the introduction of new segregated cycle routes and zebra 

crossings, amongst other measures. 

 

15) Question from Alisa Igoe: 

Environment and Community Services: Portfolio Plan for 2021/22 

Priority 6, page 442 

Overarching Portfolio Themes: 

Our Ambitions: Strategic links: The priority aligns to the following Building a Better 

Bromley ambitions: ● For Bromley to have a safe, clean and green environment 

great for today and the future. “The purpose of the ASR is to shift the focus towards 

what is being done to improve air quality locally and therefore, provides an update on 

monitoring undertaken and progress towards the various actions set out in our action 

plan.” 

Question: 

The Air Quality Action Plan is shown for September 2021. The Annual Status Report 

(ASR) is required to be provided by Councils. What changes have now been 

implemented to improve air quality in Bromley as a result of the completed AQAP 

consultation and what is planned between now and September 2021? 

Answer to Question 15: 

The finalised Air Quality Action Plan runs from 2020 to 2025. Changes implemented 

so far will be recorded in the April 2021 annual status report, where data is available 

for the previous year.  

To see what is planned between now and September 2021, please access the Air 

Quality Action Plan here 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/246/air_quality_action_plan  

 

16) Question from Alisa Igoe: 

It’s excellent Bromley acted swiftly to impose a TPO on trees alongside No 1 

Broadheath Drive on Elmstead Lane. Would the Council consider tightening its 

published policy on felling/work on trees that are outside Conservation areas and/or 

not subject to permanent TPOs, to insist all tree felling must be approved by the 

Council? 

Answer to Question 16: 

Page 11Page 29



When a threat is identified to a tree which sits outside a conservation area the 

Council can manage this through the imposition of a TPO. It is not practical given the 

limited resource available or enforceable under the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 for the Council to create its own requirement for all felling of private trees to be 

approved by the Council.   

Further queries on TPOs may be better directed to the Chairman of the Development 

Control Committee. 

 

17) Question from James Hamilton: 

ECS PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE MONITORING (2020/21) 

Household Waste Recycled or Composted: 

Agenda Item 10b 

ECS4 

Question: 

10b ECS4 states: “There was particularly high precipitation in January 2021, which 

meant the majority of paper collected for recycling had to be disposed and this had 

an impact to the recycling rate for January of 9%”. What is the estimated total of loss 

of income and disposal costs of this contaminated wet paper? 

Answer to Question 17: 

The estimated total loss of income and additional cost associated with sending paper 

for energy recovery instead of recycling in January 2021 was £170k.  

The amount of paper and card recycling that was not recycled in January 2021 was 

significantly higher than we have experienced before. The reason for this was the 

number of days and amount of precipitation in January 2021 was particularly high. 

To compare, the total cost of loss in income and sending paper to energy recovery 

for the entire annual period of 2019/20 was £230k with this matter discussed at 

Environment PDS Committee previously and information on the Council’s website. 

 

18) Question from James Hamilton: 

Could you please state the total tonnage of paper and card collected for recycling in 

January and what percentage of that could not be recycled and had to be disposed 

of? 

Answer to Question 18: 

The total tonnage of paper and card collected for recycling in January 2021 was 

1,097 tonnes and 85% was sent to energy recovery. The impact of the paper and 

card not recycled in January 2021, on our total recycling rate in 2020/21 to date is 

1%.   

Page 12Page 30



 

This is highly unusual and in contrast, during the period April to December 2020, 

92% of the total paper and card collected for recycling was recycled.  

Bromley continues to have one of the highest recycling rates in London, with 50.9% 

in 2019/20. Whilst we strive to recycle as much as possible, it is not unusual for there 

to be a proportion of the recycling that we collect to not be recycled due to 

contamination. In 2019, the average contamination rate in England was 16.6%.  

Bromley prides itself on being open and honest with residents about what happens 

to its recycling, which is why we have let residents know that there is currently an 

issue with wet paper and have been encouraging residents to work with us to keep it 

as dry as possible. 

 

19) Question from Chloe Jane Ross: 

Why does TfL not recommend the mini roundabout at Scotts Lane /Bromley Rd and 

would the Council proceed contrary to TfL’s recommendation? 

Answer to Question 19: 

TfL have not been asked whether they recommend a mini-roundabout or other 

measure at this collision cluster site. The roads are Bromley’s not TfL roads. It is for 

Bromley and its consultants to design a solution. 

 

20) Question from Chloe Jane Ross: 

Are there any potential safety concerns in regard to the pedestrian crossing 

proposed next to the Scotts Lane /Bromley Rd mini-roundabout? 

Answer to Question 20: 

All new schemes such as this are subject to a two-stage road safety audit process 

prior to being installed to ensure that any design concerns are addressed. 

 

21) Question from Kerry Nash-Clarke: 

It’s great the Shortlands Friendly Village scheme is being considered again, but why 

are segregated cycle lanes being cut out? A YouGov survey last year found 71% of 

surveyed parents identified building more segregated cycle lanes as the number one 

intervention that would help them, and their children, cycle more. 

Answer to Question 21: 

Segregated cycle lanes have already been installed as part of the Shortlands 

Friendly Village scheme and others may follow. One route originally proposed for a 

segregated cycle route may not be suitable due to the number of mature street trees 

that would need to be felled in order to implement the route. We will be monitoring 

Page 13Page 31



the usage of the new facilities we have provided to ensure that future spend is most 

efficiently targeted. 

 

22) Question from Kerry Nash-Clarke: 

Please can Bromley Council consult residents on options for improving the junction 

of Station Road and Beckenham Lane, as part of the Shortlands Friendly Village 

scheme, and please can this consultation provide residents with information on the 

pros and cons of the different options being considered? 

Answer to Question 22: 

The Council will most certainly consult residents when we have firm proposals for 

improving the junction of Station Road and Beckenham Lane, as part of the 

Shortlands Friendly Village scheme. As you will see in the report to this committee 

regarding the Shortlands Friendly Village scheme, modelling still needs to be 

undertaken before any proposals can be firmed up. 

23) Question from Valerie Gaisford St Lawrence: 

Elmstead/Marvels Wood continues to be destroyed by off-road motorbikes especially 

at weekends. It is causing considerable public nuisance to users/residents plus 

ruining footpaths and plants. Despite the Council and police being fully aware, the 

issue is on-going. 

What measures will Bromley be undertaking to resolve this and preserve the woods? 

Answer to Question 23: 

A) The Council and Police are working together to develop an action plan of joint 

site patrols involving the Councils Parks Security contractor / Ward Security and the 

police  

B) Council officers , The police and the Council’s Parks contractors will 

undertake site visits to identify and assess official key pedestrian and vehicle access 

points into the park  to determine what action / physical improvements are required  

prevent the illegal access by these motorbikes while still maintaining access for 

pedestrians, those in wheel chairs and people with buggies.    

C) The site visit will also look to identify illegal motorbike access points with a 

view to blocking them with   appropriate infrastructure.   

D) We strive to maintain the paths and fauna in Elmstead Woods in a good 

condition as far as reasonably possible. the budget however will be stretched to 

repair additional damage so it may take some time to achieve those repairs. If we 

are successful in catching any of the culprits we will seek to impose fines which we 

can then use to help with repairs. 

 

Page 14Page 32



ECS PDS Committee—9th June 2021 

Questions for written response: 

 

1) Question from Terence W Ide: 

I believe the nursery at Chislehurst Sports Club Ground has submitted an application 

to double the number of children they accept. Elmstead Lane traffic is heavy, fast 

and it is difficult for pedestrians to cross, with only refuges. Will the Council be 

adding a priority pedestrian crossing to protect the young nursery children?  

Answer to Question 1: 

Reducing the number of casualties on Bromley’s streets has long been a priority for 

this Council, with resources being targeted at vulnerable road users and at locations 

where data tells us that there is a greatest risk of road casualties. Once we have 

successfully tackled the locations where, unfortunately, serious incidents are 

currently occurring, other high risk locations can be addressed. Data would not at 

present suggest that a crossing is required on Elmstead Lane.  

This Borough has amongst the highest number of effective, Gold and Silver 

accredited, school travel plans across London.  The Council looks at road safety 

around schools and nurseries on a case by case basis and will of course be happy to 

work with this nursery to ensure that their travel plan submitted as part of the 

planning process is maintained and kept up to date and to address any issues that 

arise and, if appropriate, make improvements to the highway infrastructure.   

2) Question from Terence W Ide: 

A new zebra crossing has recently been installed on Bromley Road A222 beside 

Bishop Challoner nursery, primary and secondary school.  Will the Council agree 

there are still many roads close or alongside Chislehurst's nursery, primary and 

secondary schools that lack adequate safe pedestrian crossings for children walking 

to school? 

Answer to Question 2: 

Each location is investigated and “treated” on a site by site basis. Officers continue 

to investigate options for improving crossing facilities over the A222 near to the War 

Memorial but any changes need to avoid creating congestion on the A222 and 

subsequent diversion of traffic along adjacent residential streets.  

The Council has regular liaison with the local schools to support road safety and 

cycle training, and to discuss viable options to improve the nearby highway 

infrastructure 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



3) Question from Steven Wells: 

In the Local Improvement Plan, Bromley Council has set the goal for 2% of daily trip 

originating in the borough to be made by bicycle, could the council please confirm if 

this target has been met, how it is measured and what changes were implemented to 

achieve this? 

Answer to Question 3: 

The data is measured and supplied by TfL. Bromley has yet to receive the data for 

2019/20 or 2020/21. When this information is received it will be reported to this 

committee.  The last data we have is for 2018/19 shows that 0.8% of daily trips 

originating in the borough were made by bicycle.  

Over recent years the Council has invested significant resources to support cycling, 

with the installation of new cycle routes, some permanent and some “experimental”, 

alongside targeted cycle training. Even during the past year, Officers have continued 

to deliver one-to-one escorted cycle rides to help residents feel safe to cycle to 

places of work. New cycling infrastructure includes permanent routes in Orpington 

and Penge, plus other routes such as in Beckenham and Crystal Palace. 

4) Question from Steven Wells: 

The Council also has a target of achieving 50% of school journeys by active or public 

transport by 2021/22. How is the Council monitoring this (entire journey 'door to 

desk'), and is the Council on track to meet its target? Does the Council acknowledge 

that safety is paramount when encourage people to walk, and therefor pedestrian 

crossings and properly protected cycle lanes are paramount to encourage people to 

make the switch and for it to meet its own target? 

Answer to Question 4: 

Many switchable journeys are in respect to the school run, therefore the Council has 

invested resources in making sure that this Borough has amongst the highest 

number of effective, Gold and Silver accredited, school travel plans across London. 

The Council supports schools to facilitate travel by foot and by bus for their pupils 

who wish to travel this way. 

School travel plans can lead to improvements to the walking infrastructure near to 

schools, such as the installation of a new zebra crossing in Homesdale Road, or to 

improvements at bus stops. Road safety education is also key to helping pupils 

make the choice to walk, cycle or take the bus to school. 

Active travel to schools is monitored through annual surveys at the many 

participating schools across the Borough, although unfortunately last summer the 

data was not gathered anywhere in London as schools were closed to the majority of 

pupils. 

Page 34



The experimental measures introduced post Covid continue to be monitored to 

establish how effective they were, which were most effective, whether they 

represented value for money and how they compare with the schemes approved 

pre-Covid. Until that analysis is complete we cannot comment on the ranking of 

interventions. 

5) Question from Nadine House: 

What measures (leaving aside existing signage and reliance on police enforcement) 

will the Council do to redesign the road(s) to disenable motorists' propensity to speed 

on Holbrook and Magpie Hall Lane? I have been hit by a driver here and witness 

dangerous driving every day walking my children to school. 

Answer to Question 5: 

A number of measures have been introduced in Holbook Way and Magpie Hall Lane 

over the years to improve safety on this route, including vehicle activated signs, 

static warning signs and horizontal deflection / chicanes.  The casualty rate on this 

route is now very low.  

Unfortunately there will be some people that continue to drive in an inappropriate 

manner, in this road and on all other streets.  The Police have the power to address 

this issue, but as with all organisations they will need to prioritise their finite 

resources. 

6) Question from Ben Harvey: 

Rookery Lane offers a safe route to school for children travelling to Hayes Primary 
from Bromley Common, but often becomes unusable due to extensive mud and 
water cover. Will the Committee please confirm that improvements will be made to 
this route and by when, to enable active, safe and traffic reducing travel to school all 
year round? 
 

Answer to Question 6: 

The matter of this lane becoming a Safer Route to School in the future will be 

examined by Road Safety Officers and any subsequent proposal will be subject to 

available funding and priorities. In the interim the lane will be maintained 

commensurate with its use. 

7) Question from Richard Gibbons: 

Since 2016, per year (a) how has the £250k funding been allocated and spent; (b) 

what has been the number of incidents, tonnage and additional net disposal costs of 

fly-tipping per year; and (c) how many fly-tipping fines have been issued and amount 

of revenue generated. 

 

Reference/source: It was agreed at Council on 22 February 2016 to approve £250k 

to be set aside as a one-off initiative to combat environmental crime, with special 

Page 35



reference and focus to fly tipping 

- https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50063622/ECS%20101018%20Fly-

Tipping%20Action%20Initiative.pdf 

 

       Answer to Question 7: 

A) There is presently a balance of £230k. Where possible the costs of preventative 
schemes were funded through existing revenue budgets, thus maximising revenue 
spend and protecting the earmarked reserve for future use. Examples of such 
schemes include various anti-fly-tipping educational and campaign publications and 
advertisements in trade journals, print magazines/directories and newspapers; the 
installation of perimeter target hardening measures through metal 
Posts/railings/earth bunding at locations such as Leaves Green, Green St Green, 
Mottingham Rec, and Okemore Gardens; and restriction of access to Star Lane.  

 

B)   

The total net disposal costs of fly-tipping during this period were around £400k. 
These costs do not take into account any costs associated with the collection of fly-
tipping or the management of the waste transfer station that fly-tipping is taken to.   
 
C)        Number of fines: 

2016 – 1 
2017 – 3 
2018 – 5 
2019 – 2 
2020 – 0 

 
Monies received:  
2016 - £400 
2017 - £800 
2018 - £800 
2019 - £0 
2020 - £0  
 

8) Question from Richard Gibbons: 

Please confirm (a) how LBB’s 50% ‘recycling’ rate is calculated - is it an ‘input’ based 

on collection, or an ‘output’ based on materials truly recycled; and (b) what 

percentage of the so-called recycling rate is incinerated? 

 

 

 

Page 36

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcds.bromley.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs50063622%2FECS%2520101018%2520Fly-Tipping%2520Action%2520Initiative.pdf&data=04%7C01%7CStephen.Wood%40bromley.gov.uk%7Ccdc01388bc5145d7114008d91f963ea7%7C8cc3d50b245a4639bab48b879ac9838c%7C0%7C0%7C637575552414158537%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=cS7xsfAETTcWeqwvtXN69wtp44Ff2tE%2BGd4tCjePGtk%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcds.bromley.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs50063622%2FECS%2520101018%2520Fly-Tipping%2520Action%2520Initiative.pdf&data=04%7C01%7CStephen.Wood%40bromley.gov.uk%7Ccdc01388bc5145d7114008d91f963ea7%7C8cc3d50b245a4639bab48b879ac9838c%7C0%7C0%7C637575552414158537%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=cS7xsfAETTcWeqwvtXN69wtp44Ff2tE%2BGd4tCjePGtk%3D&reserved=0


Answer to Question 8:  

A. Bromley Council’s annual recycling rate is calculated by the Department of the 

Environment, Food and Rural Affairs based on the quantity of recyclable materials 

that are sent to reprocessors. More details of the exact calculation can be found on 

the Waste Data Flow website.  

B. 0% of the 50% recycling rate is sent for energy recovery or incineration. Any 

materials that are sent for energy recovery following the sorting process at the 

Material Recycling Facility are recorded as energy recovery and excluded from the 

final recycling rate. The use of energy recovery has effectively avoided any of 

Bromley Council’s collection going to landfill.   

 

9) Question from James Rowe: 

The DfE’s “Home to school travel and transport guidance” requires local authorities 

to promote sustainable travel to schools. Specifically it states councils must “publish 

their Sustainable Modes of Travel Strategy on their website by 31 August each year”. 

Was this done in 2020, and will it in 2021? 

Answer to Question 9: 

Bromley publishes a three-year Transport Plan (LIP) and the annual Portfolio Plan, 

alongside regular updates to this Committee on the targets set in these two 

documents. 

10)  Question from James Rowe: 

In the Local Improvement Plan, Bromley Council has set the goal for 2% of daily trips 

originating in the borough to be made by bicycle, could the council please confirm if 

this target has been met, how it is measured and what changes were implemented to 

achieve this? 

Answer to Question 10: 

The data is measured and supplied by TfL. Bromley has yet to receive the data for 

2019/20 or 2020/21. When this information is received it will be reported to this 

committee.  The last data we have is for 2018/19 shows that 0.8% of daily trips 

originating in the borough were made by bicycle.  

Over recent years the Council has invested significant resources to support cycling, 

with the installation of new cycle routes, some permanent and some “experimental”, 

alongside targeted cycle training. Even during the past year, Officers have continued 

to deliver one-to-one escorted cycle rides to help residents feel safe to cycle to 

places of work. New cycling infrastructure includes permanent routes in Orpington 

and Penge, plus other routes such as in Beckenham and Crystal Palace. 

 

 

Page 37

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F575323%2FHome_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf&data=04%7C01%7CStephen.Wood%40bromley.gov.uk%7C567ca40ffb894d1843a808d91ee98331%7C8cc3d50b245a4639bab48b879ac9838c%7C0%7C0%7C637574810535026738%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ALMcN%2B2I9%2FJc8xB5ZPf7P43YG8OPUEV5pKTf6iVTEwM%3D&reserved=0


11) Question from Sian Stickings: 

Bromley residents actively clean, sort and store their waste for recycling;  but there 

have been worrying news reports of recyclable waste being sent offshore.  How can 

Bromley residents check how Veolia is disposing of their recyclable waste, how it is 

being processed & where it is going 

      Answer to Question 11: 

Bromley Council aims to be transparent about recycling and waste management. 
Information about what happens to the waste and recycling collected from residents 
and how both Veolia and the Council ensure that your recycling is recycled is 
available on the Council’s website.  

You can be confident that the loose plastic material that is seen on media reports of 
UK material being dumped in countries like Turkey and Malaysia, is not from 
Bromley. This is not only because of the audit process undertaken but also because 
at the Material Recycling Facility Bromley plastics are bailed into cubes of a single 
plastic type. Sadly, there are a small number of unscrupulous or illegal operators 
exporting mixed plastics that may not have been properly sorted and therefore not all 
be recyclable.  

Bromley Council places a high importance on recycling and managing waste 

sustainably. 

12)  Question from Sian Stickings: 

Bromley Council’s Local Improvement Plan has set the goal of 30% of daily trips 

originating in the borough being made by foot:  could the Council please confirm 

whether this target has been met, how it is measured, and what changes were made 

to implement and enable progress towards it? 

Answer to Question 12: 

The data is measured and supplied by TfL. Bromley has yet to receive the data for 

2019/20 or 2020/21. When this information is received it will be reported to this 

committee.  The last data we have is for 2018/19 which shows that 25.4% of daily 

trips originating in the borough were made by foot.  

As many switchable journeys are in respect to the school journey, the Council has 

invested resources in making sure that this Borough has amongst the highest 

number of effective, Gold and Silver accredited, school travel plans across London. 

The Council supports schools to facilitate travel by foot for their pupils who wish to 

walk.  

The Council also installs various improvements to the highway infrastructure to 

support walking, such as five new zebra crossings on high pedestrian routes in 2020. 

 

Page 38

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/524/household_waste_and_recycling/1356/what_happens_to_my_recycling


13)  Question from Patricia Morgan: 

In October 2020 Bromley exported 60% of waste plastic bottles. 63% PET bottles to 

the Netherlands, Romania and Spain and 65% PP bottles to the Netherlands.  Could 

you please explain how they are recycled in those countries, which percentage are 

ever incinerated, put into landfill or moved to other countries? 

Answer to Question 13: 

Absolutely no recyclable plastic bottles that have been collected from residents for 

recycling are disposed of either by energy from waste or landfill.  

Plastic bottles collected from residents are sorted according to polymer type and 

bailed before being transferred to a reprocessing facility in the UK or overseas. At 

the reprocessing facility whether that is in the UK, the Netherlands, Romania or 

Spain, the following steps are undertaken to recycle the plastics: 

1. Washing – to remove any labels, adhesives, food and dirt 
2. Shredding – into smaller pieces 
3. Extruding and compounding – melted and crushed together to form pellets, 

the pellets are valuable feedstock that is used to make new plastic products. 

Bromley’s plastic bottles are made into a range of new products included new plastic 

bottles, fibres for clothing and sleeping bags. 

14)  Question from Patricia Morgan: 

A new housing/care home development is opening off South Eden Park Road adding 

280 new homes and 100 units for elderly which will dramatically increase traffic. The 

council has approved this development. When will the Council install a pedestrian 

crossing on this road? 

Answer to Question 14: 

Each location on our streets is investigated to see if any infrastructure changes are 

needed, such as pedestrian crossings. With resources being finite, they must be 

prioritised where they are most needed. Volumes of pedestrians crossing at a 

particular point is a key consideration as we want crossings to be well used. South 

Eden Park Road already has a number of crossing points comprising central 

reservations and associated visible signage, principally on school routes. 

Reducing the number of casualties on Bromley’s streets has long been a priority for 

this Council, with resources being targeted at vulnerable road users and at locations 

where data tells us that there is a greatest risk of road casualties. Once we have 

successfully tackled the locations where, unfortunately, serious incidents are 

currently occurring, other high risk locations can be addressed. Data would not at 

present suggest that additional or improved crossings are required on South Eden 

Park Road.   

Page 39



However, pedestrian movements will be monitored over the coming years and, as I 

say, resources will be prioritised accordingly.. 

15)  Question from Mandy James: 

In the Local Improvement Plan, Bromley Council has set the goal of 30% of daily 

trips originating in the borough made by foot, could the council please confirm if this 

target has been met, how it is measured and what changes were implemented to 

achieve this? 

 Answer to Question 15: 

The data is measured and supplied by TfL. Bromley has yet to receive the data for 

2019/20 or 2020/21. When this information is received it will be reported to this 

committee.  The last data we have is for 2018/19 which shows that 25.4% of daily 

trips originating in the borough were made by foot.  

As many switchable journeys are in respect to the school journey, the Council has 

invested resources in making sure that this Borough has amongst the highest 

number of effective, Gold and Silver accredited, school travel plans across London. 

The Council supports schools to facilitate travel by foot for their pupils who wish to 

walk.  

The Council also installs various improvements to the highway infrastructure to 

support walking, such as five new zebra crossings on high pedestrian routes in 2020. 

16)  Question from Mandy James: 

In the Local Improvement Plan, Bromley Council has set the goal of reducing all 

collisions by 10%, could the council please confirm if this target has been met, how it 

is measured and what changes were implemented to achieve this? 

 Answer to Question 16: 

The Council is aiming to achieve at least a 10% reduction in all road casualties by 

2022 from the 2015-2019 baseline. Although data for 2020 is still provisional, it 

would seem that we have achieved much more than a 10% reduction last year. 

However, for much of that time the country was in lockdown, which is bound to have 

played its part, so there will be absolutely no complacency. The primary focus will 

continue to be on reducing the number of road user casualties killed or seriously 

injured (often life changing injuries). Experience has shown that individual years can 

represent ‘blips’ in the data and it is the trend that is important. 

Bromley’s LIP details the range of interventions and road safety education 

approaches which form the basis of our actions to tackle road safety issues. 

 

 

Page 40



17)  Question from Julie Ireland: 

The recycling rate has now dropped to 47% for the year 2020-21.  When was the last 

time the annual recycling rate was lower than 47% and what are the main issues that 

caused this drop in the recycling rate? 

Answer to Question 17: 

Recycling performance is complex, 47% under the context of a global pandemic is a 

good achievement. The main reason for lower recycling rates in 2020/21 is the 

increase in non-recyclable refuse. This increase is likely to be associated with more 

people being at home and working from home; home and business premise 

clearances and a return to single use items, particularly Covid related PPE. Many 

local authorities are experiencing these changes to their waste tonnages.  

The suspension of some of our recycling services in 2020 and some of our wet 

paper and card being sent to energy recovery instead of recycling has also had an 

impact on Bromley’s recycling rate. 

The last time our official and audited recycling rate was 47% was in 2016/17.  

It is worth noting that the recycling rate reporting in the Environment Portfolio Plan is 

the Council’s real time unaudited recycling rate. Central government review and 

finalise Bromley’s waste and recycling data to generate Bromley’s official recycling 

rate. The trend from past years is that following the review process, Bromley official 

recycling rate is a couple of percentages higher than the unaudited recycling rate 

published in the Environment Portfolio Plan. 

18)  Question from Julie Ireland: 

How much was the drop in the recycling rate attributed to wet paper and card having 

to be incinerated?   What percentage of paper and card recycling could not be 

recycled in Jan, Feb and Mar 2021 when the rate dropped to 34%, 34% and 50% 

respectively?   

Answer to Question 18: 

January and February 2021 had particularly high numbers of days with precipitation, 

and as a result a higher proportion of paper and card collected for recycling had a 

higher moisture content than is acceptable for recycling at the paper sorting facility. 

The table below shows the proportion of paper and card recycling that was sent to 

create energy rather than being recycled: 

 

2021 January February March

% paper that was sent for energy recovery 87% 73% 5%

Page 41



This had an impact of 6% on the household recycling rate during the period January 

to March 2021. Across 2020/21, the household recycling rate was 2% lower than it 

would have been had 100% of paper and card collected been recycled. 

 

19)  Question from Brendan Donegan 

It’s great that the Portfolio Holder has shared an overview and update document for 

agenda item 6, but it's a huge table and very difficult to navigate as a PDF. In future, 

please could this document (and others like it) be shared as a spreadsheet (e.g. 

Microsoft Excel) so that it is easier for residents to read it? 

Answer to Question 19: 

Our performance management framework is detailed and complex and 

this naturally means that the update document is also detailed, which 

can make navigation through the document challenging at points, be this 
with a paper version or the pdf version on the website. Excel spreadsheets may be 

preferred by some but they will not be accessible for everybody either.  We will 

carefully consider how to better display this information to allow interested readers to 

navigate through the information 

20)  Question from Brendan Donegan: 

Given that we are in a climate emergency, please can the Portfolio Holder explain 

how Bromley Council decided that the 2021/22 target for children travelling to school 

by foot, cycle or scooting should be 50%? 

Answer to Question 20: 

The Council has worked closely with schools for many years to support them such 

that those pupils who can and who wish to travel to school by active means can do 

so. Targets are set to be realistic and to provide a measure against which to monitor 

progress. 

21)  Question from Stephen Wells: 

The recycling rate has now dropped to 47% for the year 2020-21.  When was the last 

time the annual recycling rate was lower than 47% and what are the main issues that 

caused this drop in the recycling rate? 

Answer to Question 21: 

Recycling performance is complex, 47% under the context of a global pandemic is a 

good achievement. The main reason for lower recycling rates in 2020/21 is the 

increase in non-recyclable refuse. This increase is likely to be associated with more 

people being at home, home and business premise clearances and a return to single 

use items. Many local authorities are experiencing these changes to their waste 

tonnages.  

Page 42



The suspension of some of our recycling services in 2020 and some of our wet 

paper and card being sent to energy recovery instead of recycling has also had an 

impact on Bromley’s recycling rate. 

The last time our official and audited recycling rate was 47% was in 2016/17.  

It is worth noting that the recycling rate reporting in the Environment Portfolio Plan is 

the Council’s real time unaudited recycling rate. Raw unaudited waste and recycling 

data provided to central government, reviewed and finalised to produce Bromley’s 

official recycling rate. The trend from past years is that the audited recycling rate is a 

couple of percentages higher than the unaudited recycling rate. 

22)  Question from Stephen Wells: 

How much was the drop in the recycling rate attributed to wet paper and card having 

to be incinerated?   What percentage of paper and card recycling could not be 

recycled in Jan, Feb, and Mar 2021 when the rate dropped to 34%, 34% and 50% 

respectively?   

Answer to Question 22: 

January and February 2021 had particularly high numbers of days with precipitation, 

and as a result a higher proportion of paper and card collected for recycling had a 

higher moisture content than is acceptable for recycling at the paper sorting facility. 

The table below shows the proportion of paper and card recycling that was sent to 

create energy rather than being recycled: 

 

This had an impact of 6% on the household recycling rate during the period January 

to March 2021. Across 2020/21, the household recycling rate was 2% lower than it 

would have been had 100% of paper and card collected been recycled. 

23)  Question from Emily Aidoo:  

Over 4,500 pupils travel to and from the schools along South Eden Park Road every day 

and traffic alternates between dangerously congested and dangerously fast. Crossing 

points around the schools (and pavements around Langley/Unicorn) are woefully 

inadequate for this many children. What can be done to improve safety for pedestrians? 

 Answer to Question 23: 

Reducing the number of casualties on Bromley’s streets has long been a priority for 

this Council, with resources being targeted at vulnerable road users and at locations 

where data tells us that there is a greatest risk of road casualties. Once we have 

successfully tackled the locations where, unfortunately, serious incidents are 

currently occurring, other high risk locations can be addressed. Data would not at 

2021 January February March

% paper that was sent for energy recovery 87% 73% 5%

Page 43



present suggest that additional or improved crossings are required on South Eden 

Park Road.   

Central reservations and associated highly visible road infrastructure, which also act 

as traffic calming, currently provide suitable crossing locations on South Eden Park 

Road 

The Council’s School Travel Planners will continue to engage with the schools 

adjacent to South Eden Park Road to ensure that safe travel to school is supported. 

This may include discussions about safe crossing places for pupils. However, 

pedestrian movements will be monitored over the coming years and, as I say, 

resources will be prioritised accordingly. 

24)  Question from Emily Aidoo: 

The Council mightn’t enforce speeding, but they are responsible for safety. There are 

6 schools and a pre-school (c4,600 pupils) in 1.5miles between the Chinese 

roundabout and West Wickham station. Please explain why this area (where 

speeding is a problem) doesn’t qualify for 20 mph zone or permanent signage. The 

speed of cars on Beckenham road BR4 is also of concern.  

Answer to Question 24: 

The experience the Council has from the various parts of the Borough 
where area-wide 20mph limits have been installed in the past is that we receive very 

many complaints about speeding, despite the lower limit.  Research commissioned 

by the DfT showed that following the introduction of signed-only 20mph limits the 

median speed fell by just under 1mph and found no significant change in collisions 

and casualties.  

In light of the lack of evidence that introducing widespread 20mph limits is the most 

effective approach, Bromley has no plans to introduce such area-wide 20mph zones. 

However, in light of evidence that drivers respond better to warnings or regulations 

where they can see the reason for them, part time advisory 20 limits are being 

introduced around schools in the Borough, on a case by case basis.  

25)  Question from Carolyn Heitmeyer: 

Agenda item 6 includes a document which shows the Council wants to increase the 

proportion of children travelling to school on foot, bicycle or scooter. My 

understanding is that Bromley Council secured funding for 17 School Streets but has 

only created six. Can the portfolio holder explain this? 

Answer to Question 25: 

The Council has worked closely with schools for many years to support them such 

that those pupils who can and who wish to travel to school by active means can do 

so. As many switchable journeys are in respect to the school journey, the Council 

Page 44



has invested resources in making sure that this Borough has amongst the highest 

number of effective, Gold and Silver accredited school travel plans across London. 

The Council supports schools to facilitate travel by active means for their pupils. 

The Council also installs various improvements to the highway infrastructure to 

support active travel, such as five new zebra crossings on high pedestrian routes in 

2020. One measure considered last year as an emergency response to the Covid 

pandemic was the use of temporary School Streets. These temporary School Streets 

were widely offered to schools, but after due consideration only six schools in the 

borough chose to take on this approach to managing traffic around their premises. 
Some schools preferred to have social distancing measures installed, such as 

widened footways.  

26) Question from Sam Webber: 

The report in Portfolio Holder Update and ECS Performance Review states that no 
data is available for the percentage of children travelling to school by foot, cycle or 
scooting for 2020-2021.   When will this be available, and what is the council’s target 
for 2021-2022 , 2022-23 and 2023-24.  What steps have been put in place to 
achieve these targets? 
 

Answer to Question 26: 

Schools were closed last summer when the data would normally be gathered about 

percentage of children travelling to school by foot, cycle or scooting. We are hoping 

to have data for this year’s travel modes in time for the September ECS PDS 

committee meeting. Targets for future years are yet to be set.  

As many switchable journeys are in respect to the school journey, the Council has 

invested resources in making sure that this Borough has amongst the highest 

number of effective, Gold and Silver accredited school travel plans across London. 

The Council supports schools to facilitate travel by active means for their pupils. The 

Council also installs various improvements to the highway infrastructure to support 

active travel, such as five new zebra crossings on high pedestrian routes in 2020. 

27) Question from Sam Webber: 

The report from the in portfolio holder update states that no data is available for 
school travel plans for any period since 2014.   Why is this, is this a new metric and 
when can we expect this data? 

 

Answer to Question 27: 

This is a new target and data should be available at the next PDS committee meeting 

in September. 

 

Page 45



28 Question from Laura Vogel: 

The residents of Palace Estates warmly welcome the Bromley Town Councillors 
work to set up a speed check on Murray Ave.  Can the Portfolio Holder address 
longer-term solutions to dangerous speeding witnessed throughout the borough, as 
Councillors themselves have repeatedly proclaimed, drivers in Bromley completely 
disregard speed limits? 
 

Answer to Question 28: 

Bromley Council has and will continue to target finite resources at the locations 

where data tells us that there is a greatest risk of road casualties.  

Some drivers will drive at inappropriate speeds whatever measures are taken by the 

Council. Murray Avenue has had vertical traffic calming measures in place for many 

years, yet some drivers will still drive at inappropriate speeds here, even when 

children are on their way to school. Thankfully, there is not a collision issue recorded 

for Murray Avenue.   

We have an award winning education programme aimed at new (teenage) drivers to 

educate them of the dangers of speeding. This has resulted in reduced serious 

accidents in this age group. 

29 Question from Laura Vogel: 

In the LIP3, the council has rightly set objectives to increase active travel, cycling 
and reduce KSIs; could the council agree that 20mph speed limits on residential 
roads would help meet these important targets as a sensible person going 20mph 
will prevent the driver behind from speeding? 
 

Answer to Question 29: 

Reducing the number of casualties on Bromley’s streets has long been a priority for 

this Council, with resources being targeted at vulnerable road users and at locations 

where data tells us that there is a greatest risk of road casualties. Once we have 

successfully tackled the locations where, unfortunately, serious incidents are 

currently occurring, other high risk locations can be addressed. 

In light of the lack of evidence that introducing widespread 20mph limits is the most 

effective approach, Bromley has no plans to introduce such area-wide 20mph zones. 

However, in light of evidence that drivers respond better to warnings or regulations 

where they can see the reason for them, part time advisory 20 limits are being 

introduced around schools in the Borough, on a case by case basis.  

The experience the Council has from the various parts of the Borough where area-

wide 20mph limits have been installed in the past is that we receive very many 

complaints about speeding, despite the lower limit.  Research commissioned by the 

DfT showed that following the introduction of signed-only 20mph limits the median 

Page 46



speed fell by just under 1mph and found no significant change in collisions and 

casualties. 

30) Question from Rajeev Thacker: 

Your website lists three types of temporary road closures for which application can 

be made, along with their fees (£190, £564 and £1,680). Please provide broad 

categories or examples of the events which would be covered by each type of 

closure. 

 Answer to Question 30: 

The £190 fee is in fact for parking suspensions rather than a closure of the whole 

road width, which are sometimes required for events to happen successfully. The 

£564 fee is for planned road closures to facilitate events such as a street party on 

the highway where a formal closure will be needed. The £1,680 fee is for closures 

required to facilitate works on or adjacent to the highway, where such closure will be 

required for safe operation by, most often, a public utility company.   

These are the formal costs of a closure, other costs pertaining to the event such as 

barriers, stewarding etc. are the organisers responsibilities. 

31) Question from Rajeev Thacker: 

In respect of each type of road closure, please provide a breakdown of how the cost 

is calculated, e.g., advertising, officer time etc. 

Answer to Question 31: 

I cannot provide a breakdown of costs, but the fees are benchmarked against other 

local authorities and are competitive in that respect. The fees charged ensure that all 

Council costs are recovered, which includes staffing, legal, advertising and street 

notice costs. 

32) Question from Irene Bell: 

There is currently no safe way for children attending the Langley or Unicorn Schools 

to cross South Eden Park Road and a new petition for a crossing has gathered 

nearly 500 signatures. 

 

What is the Council's position on installing a crossing on this road?" 

 Answer to Question 32: 

Reducing the number of casualties on Bromley’s streets has long been a priority for 

this Council, with resources being targeted at vulnerable road users and at locations 

where data tells us that there is a greatest risk of road casualties. Once we have 

successfully tackled the locations where, unfortunately, serious incidents are 

currently occurring, other high risk locations can be addressed. Data would not at 

Page 47



present suggest that additional or improved crossings are required on South Eden 

Park Road.   

Central reservations and associated highly visible road infrastructure, which also act 

as traffic calming, currently provide suitable crossing locations on South Eden Park 

Road 

The Council’s School Travel Planners will continue to engage with the schools 

adjacent to South Eden Park Road to ensure that safe travel to school is supported. 

This may include discussions about safe crossing places for pupils. However, 

pedestrian movements will be monitored over the coming years and, as I say, 

resources will be prioritised accordingly. 

33) Question from Irene Bell: 

Mayoral data demonstrates that most pupils at the Langley and Unicorn Schools 

must cross South Eden Park Road to get to school however no crossing is available 

beyond the traffic refuges. 

What is the Council's position on installing a crossing on this road. 

Answer to Question 33: 

Same as for question 32. 

34) Question from Sarah Gill Schmitz  

What are they doing to help encourage safe walking and cycling in Chislehurst - War 

Memorial junction - being one example which is used daily by parents/young children 

at St Nicholas CE Primary school and Coopers secondary school but lacking a safe 

crossing? 

Answer to Question 34: 

Many switchable journeys are in respect to the school run, therefore the Council has 

invested resources in making sure that this Borough has amongst the highest 

number of effective, Gold and Silver accredited, school travel plans across London. 

The Council supports schools to facilitate travel by foot and by bus for their pupils 

who wish to travel this way. 

School travel plans can lead to improvements to the walking infrastructure near to 

schools, such as the installation of a new zebra crossing in Homesdale Road, or to 

improvements at bus stops. Road safety education is also key to helping pupils 

make the choice to walk, cycle or take the bus to school. 

Across the borough one way we have been successful in encouraging cycling and 

walking has been to identify and signpost quieter routes for pedestrians and cyclists 

to use. We therefore will avoid changes that risk diverting traffic from main roads 

onto quieter roads and might discourage the existing pedestrians and cyclists who 

are using those roads. 

Page 48



35)  Question from Parisa Wright: 

Given the Bromley Biodiversity Plan and Council's promise (at February CCP) to 

address the decline of native flora & invertebrates by starting trials of the long 

discussed biodiversity friendly verges in 2-3 areas of the borough by Autumn 2021, 

please confirm all investigations & meetings will be concluded this summer to ensure 

trials begin September 2021? 

Answer to Question 35: 

It is anticipated that such a trial will commence in autumn 2021 with the launch of 

information materials, communications and consultations with the cutting regime 

changing on subsequently selected sites taking place in 2022. In 2021 idverde will 

continue to deliver their contractual requirements in regard to verge 

management. The autumn sees cuts to areas of green spaces currently managed for 

biodiversity, so a start in the spring is appropriate.  

36)  Question from Parisa Wright: 

While it is important that they are connected to green spaces (e.g. parks, golf 

courses, greens), given some home owners have paved drives and gardens 

unsuitable for wildflowers, please confirm that trials of pollinator friendly verges will 

not rely upon neighbouring gardens changing their planting to complement such 

verges. 

Answer to Question 36: 

As you highlight verges in isolation are not sufficient to address biodiversity. The 

approach to such verges is subject to a number of considerations both bio-diversity 

and most importantly consultation with local residents. The support and most likely 

involvement of local residents will be key going forward as will be education. We will 

have to consider education/explanation without increasing street clutter. At this point 

we cannot comment on front gardens or whether there may be any correlation 

between how residents manage their front gardens and their views on pollinator 

friendly verges. 

37)  Question from Jonathan Coulter: 

The Government plans to reduce greenhouse emissions by 78% by 2035 vis-à-vis 

1990. This is a very bold target, and Government needs the help of Councils to 

achieve it. Would you agree that Bromley Council’s strongest lever is its control over 

transport infrastructure? And shouldn't Bromley therefore be going out of its way to 

implement the Government’s ‘Gear Change’ strategy that encourages people to 

make less use of their motor cars and engage in more active travel? 

 

Answer to Question 37: 

Last year the Council installed a number of new zebra crossings and cycle lanes. 

Bromley will continue to invest in appropriate infrastructure changes to support 

Page 49



cycling and walking, to give road users options as to how they travel through the 

Borough. 

 

38)  Question from Alison Miller: 

Re: problem of speeding on South Eden Park Road. 
Children from all the Langley Schools (secondary  and junior); Unicorn school; St 
David’s school, and parents and children needing to cross en route to Oak Lodge 
school all have to cross this very busy road. In addition, many dog walkers cross this 
road to take their dogs to Blake’s Rec and High Broom woods. There are no traffic 
calming measures, and no zebra or light-controlled crossing to help them cross 
safely. What is the council going to do to help children and parents cross this road 
safely? 

 
Answer to Question 38: 

Reducing the number of casualties on Bromley’s streets has long been a priority for 

this Council, with resources being targeted at vulnerable road users and at locations 

where data tells us that there is a greatest risk of road casualties. Data would not at 

present suggest that a crossing is required on South Eden Park Road.  

The Council’s School Travel Planners will continue to engage with the schools 
adjacent to South Eden Park Road to ensure that safe travel to school is supported. 
This may include discussions about safe crossing places for pupils. 

 
39)  Question from Alison Miller: 

Re: problem of speeding on South Eden Park Road. 
There is a big problem with speeding on this road. There are no traffic calming 
measures (such as the ones you find in many areas where speeding is a problem 
where the driver’s speed flashes up with a message to slow down). Will the Council 
install some traffic calming measures to tackle this problem, and to safeguard the 
very many children and adults who have to cross this road? 

 
Answer to Question 39: 

Through engagement between the Council and the local schools, alongside traffic 

surveys, the Council will seek to determine whether there are suitable measures that 

might improve the behaviour of some drivers on this route and therefore improve 

journeys for pedestrians. Vehicle activated signs will be amongst measured given 

consideration. 

 

 

Page 50



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD 21065  

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY SERVICES POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  Wednesday, 9th June 2021   

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: ECS PDS WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS ARISING 
 

Contact Officer: Stephen Wood, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 020 8313 4316    E-mail:  Stephen.Wood@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: (All Wards); 

 
1. Reason for report 

 This report deals with the Committee’s business management including: 
 

 Developing the 2021/22 Forward Work Programme; and 

 Updating Members on any matters that arose from previous meetings. 

 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 That the Committee reviews and comments on: 
 
 (a) Forward Work Programme for 2020/21 (Appendix 1); 
 

(b) Updates on any committee requests or matters arising (Appendix 2). 
 

 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: The services delivered by the Environment and Community Services 

Portfolio are used by all residents, including vulnerable adults and children. Protection is not 
their primary purpose but adjustments are made, as required, to ensure services are as 
accessible as possible and all users are safe.   

      
  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council Quality Environment:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services  
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £359k 
 

5. Source of funding: Revenue Budget 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 5 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  Variable.    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  The report does not require an Executive Decision 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Not applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  Whole Borough 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 52



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

 Forward Work Programme 

3.1.  Appendix 1 sets out the Environment and Community Services Portfolio’s Forward Work 
Programme for 2021/2022 including: the provisional report title; the lead report author and the 
role of the Committee or the Portfolio Holder. Committee members and officers are invited to 
comment on the proposed schedule and suggest any changes that are considered appropriate.   

3.2  Other reports may be added to the Work Programme as schemes and contracts are developed. 
In addition, there may also be references from other committees, the Environment and 
Community Services Portfolio Holder, or the Executive. So in essence the work programme is 
fluid. 

         Previous Requests by the Committee: 

3.1 Appendix 2 provides a progress update on matters that have arisen at previous meetings. This 
list is checked after each meeting so that any outstanding issues can be addressed at an early 
stage and timely progress made. 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

Services delivered as part of the Environment and Community Services Portfolio affect the daily 
lives of all Bromley residents and tend to be universal in nature - rather than being directed at 
particular groups within our community. Where vulnerable adults or children may be affected by 
service delivery, the issues would be covered in the relevant report and not in this business 
management overview  

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Each PDS Committee is responsible for developing its own Forward Work Programme and 
Environment & Community Services PDS Committee’s future work programme is set out in 
Appendix 1. 

5.2 The activities in this report reflect the Council’s priorities and aims as set out in:  

 Environment Portfolio Plan 2018/21 (see ES18035 on the 10th July 2018 agenda)  

 Building a Better Bromley 2016-18 (‘Quality Environment’ & ‘Excellent Council’). 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Financial, Personnel, Legal, Procurement 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Previous Work Programme and Minutes  
  
Environment Portfolio Plan ES18035  
 
Building a Better Bromley (2016-18) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/2005/building_a_better_bromley
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=127&MId=6461&Ver=4
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/2005/building_a_better_bromley


  

4 

                                          FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME                        Appendix 1 
 

 

Meeting Date: 9th June 2021  
Report   
Author 
  

Decision 
Maker 
 

Contracts Register  
Sarah 
Foster 

PDS 
Committee 

Risk Register Report 
Sarah 
Foster 

PDS 
Committee 

Portfolio Holder Update N/A  

Environment Portfolio Plan Performance Overview Lucy West 
PDS 
Committee  

Forward Work Programme & Matters Arising Steve Wood 
PDS 
Committee 

Woodlands Improvement Programme—Post Completion Review 
Report 

James 
Hilsden 

PDS 
Committee 
 

Glendale Contract—Annual Performance Report 
Hugh 
Chapman 

TBC 

Meeting Date: 1st September 2021  
Report   
Author 
  

Decision 
Maker 
 

Contracts Register  
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Risk Register Report 
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Presentation from Thames Water  N/A  

Portfolio Holder Update N/A  

Environment Portfolio Plan Performance Overview Lucy West 
PDS 
Committee 

Budget Monitoring 
Keith 
Lazarus 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Provisional Outturn (TBC) 
Keith 
Lazarus 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Forward Work Programme & Matters Arising Steve Wood 
PDS 
Committee 

Capital Programme Monitoring-Q1-2021-2022 
Katherine 
Ball 

PDS 
Committee 

Broomwood Road—Sevenoaks Way Junction Review 
Ismiel 
Alobeid 

TBC 

‘Flats Above Shops (Footway) Collection Pilot – Results’ Amy Harris  
Portfolio 
Holder 

Manor Road—Wickham Road Junction Pedestrian Safety   
 

Ismiel 
Alobeid 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Depot Improvement Work-Capital Programme 
Peter 
McCready 
 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Carbon Management Report 
 
 

Sarah 
Foster/Lee 
Gullick 

PDS 
Committee 

Page 54



  

5 

Report on the Results of the Consultation of the Open Space 
Strategy 

Peter 
McCready  

PDS 
Committee 

Veolia Contract – Annual Performance Report 

Amy Harris, 
Jim Cowan 
and David 
Hall 

PDS 
Committee 

Meeting Date: 17th November 2021  
Report   
Author 
  

Decision 
Maker 
 

Contracts Register  
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Risk Register Report 
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Environment Portfolio Plan Performance Overview Lucy West 
PDS 
Committee 

Portfolio Holder Update N/A  

Budget Monitoring: 2021-2022 
Keith 
Lazarus 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Idverde Contract-Annual Performance report 
James 
Hilsden 

PDS 
Committee 

Forward Work Programme & Matters Arising Steve Wood 
PDS 
Committee 

Meeting Date: 19th January 2022  
Report   
Author 
  

Decision 
Maker 
 

Contracts Register  
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Risk Register Report 
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Portfolio Holder Update N/A  

Environment Portfolio Plan Performance Overview Lucy West 
PDS 
Committee 

Budget Monitoring 
Keith 
Lazarus 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Forward Work Programme & Matters Arising Steve Wood 
PDS 
Committee 

Capital Programme Monitoring: 2nd Quarter. 
Katherine 
Ball 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Meeting Date: 10th March 2022  
Report   
Author 
  

Decision 
Maker 
 

Contracts Register  
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Risk Register Report 
Sarah 
Foster  

PDS 
Committee  

Portfolio Holder Update N/A  

Environment Portfolio Plan Performance Overview Lucy West 
PDS 
Committee 

Budget Monitoring 
Keith 
Lazarus 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Page 55



  

6 

Capital Programme Monitoring 
Katherine 
Ball 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Expenditure on Consultants 
Philippa 
Gibbs 

PDS 
Committee 

Forward Work Programme & Matters Arising Steve Wood 
PDS 
Committee 

Possible Future Items for Consideration:   

Capital Spend Post-Completion Report: Highways Investment---
delayed till early 2021 
 

Gary 
Warner 

PDS 
Committee 

AQAP Follow Up report (September 2021) 
Joanne 
Stowell  

PDS 
Committee 
 

Street Lighting Programme 2021/22    
Garry 
Warner 

PDS 
Committee 

Biggin Hill Airport—Progress to Net Zero Carbon emissions by 
2029  

Sarah 
Foster and 
Lee Gullick 
  

PDS 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



  

7 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 

ENVIRONMENT PDS COMMITTEE 

PROGRESS REPORT ON PREVIOUS REQUESTS/MATTERS ARISING  

 

Meeting 
Date 

Committee Request/Matters Arising Progress 

09/09/20 

 

The Portfolio Holder would expect to 
approve an Open Space Strategy 
Policy following a future ECS PDS 
meeting after receiving a report on the 
results of the consultation. 

This is expected to be reported on at 
the ECS PDS meeting in September 
2021. 

14/01/21 The Director for Environment and 
Community Services would report back 
to the Committee concerning the 
issues raised by a Member with 
respect to the Woodland Improvement 
Project. 

The report:  ‘Post Capital Completion 
Report – Woodland Grant Scheme’ has 
been added to the work programme and 
a report will be presented at the June 
meeting.  

14/01/21 
Thames Water be invited to attend a 
future meeting. 
 

The March update stated that Thames 
Water had a communications team who 
attend such meetings, and LBB were in 
contact with them to arrange attendance 
at a future meeting. 
 
Thames Water will be attending to 
answer questions from Members at the 
September meeting. 
  

14/01/21 
Consideration be given as to when 
future items for consideration on the 
work programme could be scheduled in 
to future meetings.    
 

To be scheduled.   

11/03/21 
The Assistant Director for Traffic and 
Parking would check on the matter 
relating to the £56 underspend still 
needed to be held in reserve, and if the 
relevant TfL capital funding had been 
released. 
 

The matter of TfL capital funding is still 
uncertain and vacant posts will not be 
filled at this time. 
 

  

Page 57



This page is left intentionally blank



Report No:
ECS20091

Outcome No. DESCRIPTION 2014-15 
ACTUAL

2015-16 
ACTUAL

2016-17 
TARGET

2016-17
ACTUAL

2017-18 
TARGET

2017-18
ACTUAL

2018-19 
TARGET

2018-19
ACTUAL

2019-20
TARGET

2019-20
ACTUAL Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 2020-21 

TARGET
2020-21 
ACTUAL

2020-21
RAG STATUS GOOD PERFORMANCE Apr-21 2021-22 

TARGET
2021-22

RAG STATUS RAG Threshold COMMENTARY (BY EXCEPTION)

1A Distribution and collection of Purple Sacks to volunteer for 
community led clean-ups (1500 sacks per annum)

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A New Indicator 
2021/22 HIGH Annual 1,500

(April to Sept) Total of 1200 for this six 
month period:

R: <199 monthly
G: >200 monthly

(Oct - March) Total of 300 for this six 
month period):
R: <49 monthly
G: >50 monthly

1B Public Satisfaction with Cleanliness 
(% Streets / Neighbourhoods / Town Centres)

71%
88%
90%

69%
79%
87%

70%
70%
75%

71%
86%
90%

70%
80%
90%

74%
79%
84%

>74%
>80%
>90%

72%
79%
88%  

>75%
>81%
>90%

73%
87%
89%

Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual 
79%
89%
85%

Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual Annual 
>76%
>82%
>90%

79%
89%
85%

GREEN HIGH Annual 
>76%
>82%
>90%

Streets:
R: <67%, A: 68% to 72%, G: >73%

Neighbourhoods:
R: <79%, A: 80% to 84%, G: >85%

Town Centres:
R: <80%, A: 81% to 85%, G: >86%

1C Streets Meeting Acceptable Cleanliness (%) 97.60% 99.00% 95.00% 90.44% 95.00% 99.00% 94.73% 94.92% >92% 95.9167% 96% 98% 97% 98% 97% 98% 97% 97% 98% 99% 98% 99% >92% 98% GREEN HIGH 98.00% >92% GREEN
R: < 86%

A: 87% to 91%
G: > 92%

2A Total Waste Arising (refuse and recycling) (tonnes) 144,660 146,192 145,000 149,875 149,000 145,748 144,266 144,207 146,000 145,748 10,449 11,978 13,780 13,130 11,504 13,440 13,886 13,437 11,786 13,106 9,881 14,035 146,000 150,413 RED LOW 13,866 145,000 RED
R: >150,000

A: 146,000 to 149,999
G: < 146,000

COVID-19 has had an impact on both the amount of non-recyclable refuse and recycling produced by residents and businesses in Bromley. 
With more people working from home or spending more time at home, the total amount of waste generated in 2020/21 was 2% higher than in 
2019/20. This trend appears to have continued in 2021/22, with the waste arising for April being high.
As people spend more time at home, more waste is produced through home cooking, and packaging from online deliveries. With the pandemic 
there is also more reliance on disposable items like face masks.
The total waste arisings managed by the Council also include commercial waste, which has also generally increased with more single use 
items being used such as aprons at hairdressers which would have formerly been reusable, and waste from refurbishments/ clear outs of 
premises.
It is likely that some consumer and lifestyle changes that have occurred during the pandemic will be maintained to some extent and therefore 
continue to have an impact on waste tonnages over the next 12 months.

2B Residual Household Waste per Household (kg) 464.6 478.3 445.0 486.7 485.0 434.0 449.0 454.0 450 469 32 33 40 33 34 32 46 40 41 52 38 42 440.0 464 RED LOW 45 450.0 RED
R: >470

A: 460 to 469
G: < 460

Changes to residents' lifestyles as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic has meant that more people are home during the daytime, and as such 
there has been an increase in the amount of residual waste produced person.

2C Household Waste Recycled or Composted (%) 49.02% 47.30% 50.00% 48.35% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.10% 50.5% 45.3% 47% 54% 52% 54% 50% 55% 45% 50% 41% 34% 34% 50% 50.50% 47.00% RED HIGH 46 51.00% RED
R: < 48%

A: 48% to 50%
G: >50%

Recycling has been impacted by the large amount of non-recyclable refuse in April 2021, which is higher than it normally is and the volumes of 
recycling have not increased by the same amount. 

2D Waste & Recycling collections - homes missed (per 100,000) 78 128 60 182 180 119 140 135 120 166 171 158 169 151 116 124 90 84 81 114 94 89 120 120 GREEN LOW 89 120 GREEN
R: >141

A: 131 to 140
G: < 130

2E Local Authority Collected Waste Disposed of in Landfill (%) 27.00% 27.22% 25.00% 23.68% 24.00% 18.00% 24.00% 13.07% 14.00% 5.36% 0.15% 0.41% 0.02% 0.00% 0.06% 0.03% 0.03% 0.03% 0.00% 1.09% 0.23% 1.13% 2.00% 0.26% GREEN LOW 1.00% 2.00% GREEN
R: > 5%

A: 2.5% - 5%
G: <2.5%

2F Number of Green Garden Waste customers (No.) 15,864 18,192 20,000 21,845 26,500 23,863 27,259 28,189 30,000 31,147 32,980 34,645 35,814 36,163 37,007 37,191 37,162 37,386 37,315 37,321 37,661 38,499 30,000 38,499 GREEN HIGH 39,169 40,000 GREEN
R: < 36,000            

A: 36,000 to 38,000          
G: > 38,000

2G Reduction in Waste Service Provider's emissions (%) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A New Indicator 
2021/22 LOW Annual 

Waste 
managed in 

2022 target of -
0.12 CO2eq 

per tonne

R: > 0 
A: -0.15 - 0
G: <-0.15

3A Highways verges and amenity grass cutting/strimming, within 
contractual service standards and timescales (%)

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator 75% 97% 91% 73% 97% 100% 100% 100% 92% 88% 88% 82% 83% 97% 75% 91% GREEN HIGH 100% 75% GREEN

R: < 64%
A: 65% - 74%

G: >75%

3B Number of events in parks (>250) New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator New Indicator New Indicator New 

Indicator
New Indicator 

2021/22 HIGH Annual 250
R: < 150

A: 151 to 200
G: > 201

3C Number of attendees for environmental education sessions at 
BEECHE

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A New KPI for 
19/20 4,000 383

0
 (Sessions 

cancelled due 
to COVID-19)

0
 (Sessions 

cancelled due 
to COVID-19)

0
 (Sessions 

cancelled due 
to COVID-19)

0
 (Sessions 

cancelled due 
to COVID-19)

127 203

660 (540 plus 
120 from 
digitial 

sessions)

352 (112 plus 
240 from 

digital 
sessions)

32
 (0 digital 
sessions)

4 
(4 digital 
sessions)

33
(33 digital 
sessions)

316
 (309 digital 
sessions)

4500 1,727 RED HIGH
337 (111 

digital 
sessions)

1,800 GREEN
R: < 1,500

A: 1,501 to 1,700
G: > 1,701

This target was not achievable in 2020/21, due to COVID-19 and the current limitations in place. The BEECHE centre have to limit the number 
of attendees at educational sessions in line with government legislation. This target has been adjusted for 2021/22 to reflect the current 
limitations. The centre continues to fulfil its role as an educational ecology centre and therefore schools will continue to participate in line with 
their own social distancing requirements. Only the retail visitor centre is closed to the public.

3D External Funding (£000) 337 207 340 437 Outcome 175 Quarterly 144 N/A 85 Quarterly Quarterly 11 Quarterly Quarterly 52 Quarterly Quarterly 8 Quarterly Quarterly 65 N/A 226 OUTCOME OUTCOME Quarterly N/A OUTCOME

3E Partnership Funding* (£000) 172 43 Outcome 60 Outcome 20 Annual 13 N/A Awaiting 
Data N/A 25 OUTCOME OUTCOME Annual N/A OUTCOME

3F Public Satisfaction with Parks and Grounds Maintenance (%) New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator 75% 80% 75% 80% HIGH Annual 75%

R: < 67%
A: 68% to 72%

G: >73%

3G Ensure no net loss of trees  (Net positive no. of trees) New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

Felled: 213
Planted: 

1115
Net gain: 

902

N/A

Felled: 431
Planted: 

499
Net gain: 68

N/A
Felled: 383

Planted: 404
Net gain: 21

Net gain in 
street trees

Felled:372
Planted: 417 
Net gain: 45

Net gain in 
street trees

Felled:663
Planted: 1225 
Net gain: 562

GREEN HIGH Annual Net gain in 
street trees

R: < 0
A: 0

G: > 0

3H Total monthly tasks completed on time by Arboricultural 
Services contractor (% of all jobs)

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator 75.0% N/A

89%
 (288 out of 

322)

69% 
(262 out of 

379)

93% 
(754 out of 

807)

89%
(1132 out of 

1268)

79.46%
(1100 out of 

1383)

62.58%
(719 out of 

1149)

56.11%
(335 out of 

597)

65.47% 
(493 out of 

753)

69.45%
(441 out of 

635)

81.06% 
(993 out of 

1225)

87.25%
(1191 out of 

1365 

85.09%
(668 out of 

785)
75.00% 77% GREEN HIGH

69.56%
(425 out of 

611)
75.00% GREEN

R: < 64%
A: 65% to 69%

G: > 70%

4A Condition of principal (A) roads (% considered for maintenance) 1% 2% <6% 2% 6% 2% 6% 3% <6% Awaiting 
Data

 TBC in 
Autumn 2020 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Autumn 2020 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL
<6% Awaiting Data LOW Awaiting Data <6%

R: >  20%
A: 20 to 10%

G: < 10%

4B Condition of non-principal classified (B & C) roads (% considered 
for maintenance) 3% 2% <8% 2% 8% 2% 8% 2% <8% Awaiting 

Data

 TBC in 
Autumn 2020 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Autumn 2020 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL

 TBC in 
Summer 2021 

by TFL
<8% Awaiting Data LOW Awaiting Data <8%

R: >  20%
A: 20 to 10%

G: < 10%

4C Condition of unclassified roads (% considered for maintenance) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Awaiting Data LOW Awaiting Data 15%
R: >  20%

A: 20 to 10%
G: < 10%

Borough-wide condition survey planned for summer 2021

4D 10 day highway maintenance tasks completed within required 
timescale (%)

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator 90.0% 75.6% 90.0% 83.8% 93.29% 72.22% 74.69% 72.49% 78.97% 85.89% 90.91% 93.97% 95.35% 97.76% 65.09% 71.13% 90% 83.0% AMBER HIGH Awaiting Data 90% AMBER

R: < 80%
A: 80% to 90%

G: > 90%

Performance has been affected by poor weather conditions and the relayed recruitment of a new Contracts Manager. A performance plan has 
been agreed with the aim of meeting the required KPI's in May. Low Service Damages are being charged on a monthly basis.

4E 35 day highway maintenance tasks completed within required 
timescale (%)

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator 90.0% 67.4% 90.0% 86.0% 96.72% 91.91% 92.26% 93.26% 95.44% 91.40% 97.23% 97.67% 99.18% 72.04% 43.72% data to be 

varified 90% 88.0% AMBER HIGH Awaiting Data 90% AMBER
R: < 80%

A: 80% to 90%
G: > 90%

Performance has been affected by poor weather conditions and the relayed recruitment of a new Contracts Manager. A performance plan has 
been agreed with the aim of meeting the required KPI's in May. Low Service Damages are being charged on a monthly basis.

4F Routine street lighting maintenance tasks completed within four 
working days (%)

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

N/A Part 
year 

contract

N/A Part year 
contract 95.0% 96.5% 100.00% 99.41% 98.52% 95.88% 97.38% 95.50% 97.55% 96.74% 97.45% 91.00% 96.00% 98.00% 95% 97.0% GREEN HIGH 87.00% 95% AMBER

R: < 80%
A: 80% to 95%

G: > 95%

4G Routine street lighting maintenance tasks completed within 
eight working days (monthly) (%)

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

New 
Indicator

N/A Part 
year 

contract

N/A Part year 
contract 100% 97% 100.00% 99.41% 98.82% 98.63% 98.36% 98.50% 98.16% 98.60% 98.87% 91.00% 98.00% 99.50% 100% 98.0% GREEN HIGH 93.00% 100% AMBER

R: < 80%
A: 80% to 95%

G: > 95%

4H Number of FPNs Issued 
(to utilities in relation to permits)

534 509 N/A 427 Outcome 145 63 48 N/A 89 0 1 10 0 10 12 9 0 118 32 14 27 N/A 233 OUTCOME OUTCOME Awaiting Data N/A OUTCOME

4I Number of Defect Notices 
(to utilities in relation to reinstatement)

4,300 4,588 4,000 3,887 4,000 2,009 1,539 2,037 N/A N/A 75 25 51 75 62 33 75 100 123 59 83 99 N/A 860 OUTCOME OUTCOME Awaiting Data N/A OUTCOME

5A Daily Trips Originating in the Borough made by Bicycle (%) 1.0% 1.7% 1.4% 1.2% 1.5% 1.1% 1.5% 0.8% 1.6% Annual 1.7% Awaiting 
19/20 data HIGH Awaiting Data 1.8% Amber = 1.7%; Red = 1.0%

5B Daily Trips Originating in the Borough made by Foot (%) 25.0% 25.3% 28.4% 25.3% 28.5% 26.0% 28.5% 25.4% 28.6% Annual 29.0% Awaiting 
20/21 data HIGH Awaiting Data 29.5% Amber = 27%; Red = 25%

5C Average Vehicle Delay (mins per km - principal roads) 0.77 0.80 <0.7 0.80 <0.7 Awaiting 
Data <0.7

Awaiting 
Data from 

TfL
<0.7 Annual 0.70 Awaiting 

20/21 data LOW Awaiting Data <0.7 Amber = 0.8; Red = 1.0

5D Maintain Bus Excess Wait Time (EWT) Annually at less than or 
equal to 1.0 minutes (time mins) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A <1.0 0.80 <1.0 Annual <1.0 Awaiting 

20/21 data LOW Awaiting Data <1.0 Amber = 1.1; Red = 1.5

16 6 8 11 5 4 7 4 Data not 
available yet

(Jan to Apr 
combined)

1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 Data not 
available yet

(Jan to Apr 
combined)

151 33 39 55 48 55 48 47 Data not 
available yet

(Jan to Apr 
combined)

5H Children travelling to school by foot, cycle or scooting (%) 
(From School Census) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 44% 46% 46% 46% 48% N/A HIGH Awaiting Data 50% Amber = 48% ; Red = 40%

5I Cycle training activities (No.) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A New Indicator 
2021/22 HIGH Awaiting Data

Target cannot 
be set at 
present

Cannot be set at present

5J School Travel Plans (No.) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A New Indicator 
2021/22 HIGH Awaiting Data >90 Amber = 85 ; Red = 75

5K Anti-idling Warnings issued (No.) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A New Indicator 
2021/22 OUTCOME OUTCOME Awaiting Data N/A OUTCOME N/A

5L Schools engaged in anti-idling campaign (No.) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A New Indicator 
2021/22 HIGH Awaiting Data >14 Amber = 13; Red = 10

5M Customers using online self-serve transactions to challenge 
PCNs (%) 60.8% 66.9% N/A 67.5% 72% 70.5% 66.7% 67.4% 76.6% 72.2% 61.0% 75.2% 84.5% 82.9% 80.0% 75.3% 78.5% 78.4% 81.9% 74.0% 78.7% 79.6% 78.7% 77.5% AMBER HIGH 79.7% 80.0% AMBER Amber = 78% ; Red = 70% Parking Services have updated the ICT systems to allow for the use of QR codes to be added to all statutory documents once the new stationery 

is ordered in July, to encourage online usage.

5N Pay and Display Machine Maintenance 
(Percentage of machine non-operational time during full period) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1.5% N/A 1.8% 1.0% 1.8% 0.59% 0.28% 1.09% 1.55% 1.12% 1.57% 2.56% 2.16% 2.96% 2.60% 2.26% 1.83% 1.00% 1.7% AMBER LOW 2.10% 2.00% AMBER Amber = 2.25% ; Red = 3% Unreliable machines are being replaced with either new or recycled machines. The machines that we being broken into regularly (and therefore 

damaged) are still being emptied regularly and break-ins have been much reduced. 

5O Cashless parking usage in on and off street locations
(Percentage of users paying for on and off street parking by RingGo) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A >33% 41.7% 38.59% 42.3% 45.6% 47.7% 50.4% 52.2% 55.0% 53.2% 55.4% 53.5% 55.3% 54.8% >40% 50.3% GREEN HIGH 57.4% 45.00% GREEN Amber = 44% ; Red = 40%

5P Number of incidents in Car Parks of graffiti, rubbish, fly tipping 
etc. not cleared proactively as part of routine maintenance (No.) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 228 N/A 31 80 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70.00 0 GREEN LOW 0 12 GREEN Amber = 15 ; Red = 25

883 <904

129 … 107

<8

N//AN/A N/A

<92
(2020 calendar 

year)

N/A5F

5G

Children Killed or Seriously Injured in Road Traffic Accidents 
(No.)

Total Road Accident Injuries and Deaths (No.)

N/A

N/A

*Partnership Funding is money which id verde help to bid for or define projects for, but where LBB is the recipient e.g. S106, LIP Funding, and Public Health Funds.

5E People Killed or Seriously Injured in Road Traffic Accidents (No.) <99 109 <92
106        

(calendar year 
2019)

107 131 …

New Indicator 2021/22

No data available in 2020/21

N/A Awaiting DataN/A N/A

ECS PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE MONITORING (2021/22)

1: Improving the 
Street Scene

4: Managing our 
Transport 

Infrastructure & 
Public Realm

New Indicator 2021/22

New Indicator 2021/22

New Indicator 2021/22

Annual

Annual

Annual

Annual Indicator 2021/22

2: Minimising 
Waste and 
Increasing 
Recycling

Performance has been affected by changes in key personnel during December. Permanent Contracts Manager is now in place and 
improvement plans have been agreed with Riney to achieve KPIs by May 2021. Low Service Damages are being charged to the Contractor.

The annual figures for 2020/21 are representative of the fact the team are currently working on a number of larger and more complex projects, 
some spanning financial years, of which associated income figures will not be reported until the projects are complete. The 2020/21 figure 
represents reduced income secured by community groups who have been unable to host their usual fundraising events due to the impact of the 
pandemic. The annual figures also represent the under-reporting by community groups who are asked to submit figures on a quarterly basis to 
the team.

Awaiting Data
<86

(2021 calendar 
year)

Awaiting Data

<7

<873

Amber = 85; Red = 99

Amber = 8; Red = 10

Amber = 884; Red = 9685: Improve 
Travel, 

Transport & 
Parking

Awaiting 20/21 data 

Awaiting 20/21 data 

Awaiting 20/21 data 

Awaiting 20/21 data 

Target could not 
be set as the data 

recording 
methodology 

changed.

10

Target could not be 
set as the data 

recording 
methodology 

changed.

16

Target could not 
be set as the data 

recording 
methodology 

changed.

737

Target could not be 
set as the data 

recording 
methodology 

changed.

New Indicator 2021/22

N/A N/A

N/A

New Indicator 2021/22

New Indicator 2021/22

61 to date 
(projection 67 

for year)
LOW

LOW
4 to date 

(projection 4 
for year)

476 to date 
(projection 

519 for year) 

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

LOW

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD 21064 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 
  

 

   

Decision Maker: ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY SERVICES PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER  
 
For Pre-Decision Scrutiny by the Environment and Community Services 
PDS Committee on: 

Date:  9th June 2021  

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Executive Non-Key 

Title: APPOINTMENTS TO THE COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTATIVE 
PANEL AND THE LEISURE GARDENS AND ALLOTMENTS 
PANEL 2021/2022 
 

Contact Officer: Steve Wood, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel:  020 8 313 4316   E-mail:  stephen.wood@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: N/A 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 There are two Consultative Panels, both within the remit of the Environment Portfolio, namely 
the Countryside Consultative Panel and the Leisure Gardens and Allotments Panel. 
Administration for the Panels is undertaken by Idverde, the Council’s contractor for Parks, 
Countryside and Greenspace Management.    

1.2 It is necessary to confirm the appointment of Members to these Panels for 2021/2022.    

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 The Portfolio Holder is asked to confirm the 2021/2022 Membership of the Countryside 
Consultative Panel and the Leisure Gardens and Allotments Panel. 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7a



  

2 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: N/A.        
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council. Quality Environment 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No cost       
 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A.       
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services  
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £359k  
 

5. Source of funding: 2021/2022 Revenue Budget  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): Currently operating with 5 full time staff.   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Seeking nominations and drafting of this 
report takes no more than approximately 30 minutes.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: No statutory requirement or Government guidance.       
 

2. Call-in: Call-in is applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments?  N/A.  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 62



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 The following nominations for the Countryside Consultative Panel have been received: 
 

Councillors Graham Arthur, Ian Dunn*, William Huntington-Thresher, Alexa Michael, Richard 
Scoates. 
 

3.2   The following nominations for the Leisure Gardens and Allotments Panel have been received:   
 
        Councillors Vanessa Allen*,  Mary Cooke, Will Rowlands, Harry Stranger, and Stephen Wells 
 

*Subject to confirmation from Labour after their AGM on 17th May 
 
 

Non-Applicable Sections: Policy, Financial, Legal and Personnel 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

N/A 

 

Page 63



This page is left intentionally blank



- 1 - 

London Borough of Bromley 

Report No.  

ES20090 
 

PART 1 - PUBLIC 
Agenda 
Item No.  

Title: GRANT FUNDING FROM THE FORESTRY COMMISSION TO 
SUPPORT THE WOODLAND IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAMME - 

POST COMPLETION REVIEW REPORT 

Decision Maker: 

EXECUTIVE 

For pre-decision scrutiny by: 

Environment PDS Committee on 9th June 
2021 

Decision Date: 

30th June 2021 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Executive Non-Key 

Budget/Policy 
Framework: 

Within policy and budget 

Chief Officer: 
Colin Brand, Director of Environment and Public Protection 

Contact Officer: 
James Hilsden, Parks & Greenspaces Borough Manager & Neighbourhood 
Manager, Bromley West 

Tel: 0208 3134632 Email: James.Hilsden@bromley.gov.uk 

Ward: Borough-wide 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 

1.1 As part of the Capital Programme Procedures it is a requirement that schemes should be 
formally reviewed within one year of completion and the outcome of this review be brought 
to the Portfolio Holder for endorsement. This report provides a review of woodland 
improvements carried out between 2014-16 using funding secured from the Forestry 
Commission through a Woodland Improvement Grant and match-funding from the Council. 

 
1.2      A total grant award of £126,420 was awarded by the Forestry Commission. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Environment Policy and Development Scrutiny Committee: 

2.1 Note the contents of the report and provide the Executive with comments. 

The Executive are requested to: 

2.2 Endorse the findings of the Post Completion Review that has been carried out in respect of 
the Woodland Improvement Grant scheme. 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



- 2 - 

3. COMMENTARY 
 
3.1 The Forestry Commission’s Woodland Improvement Grant (WIG) scheme provided capital 

investment in woodlands to create, enhance and sustain the social, environmental, and 
economic public benefits that woodlands provide. In March 2013 Bromley secured a 
£126,420 grant from the scheme.  The grant was separated into two strands - Woodland 
Access (£62,660) which aimed to provide and improve facilities for free public access to 
woodlands where there is a need; and Woodland Biodiversity (£63,760) which aims to 
improve woodland structure and health through careful thinning based on sound silviculture, 
for wildlife to thrive. 

 
3.2 The London Borough of Bromley is responsible for managing 552 hectares of woodland; 30 

woodland sites throughout the borough were set to benefit from this grant, with 
approximately one half of these sites having an associated Friends Group attached to them. 
Where woodlands had an associated Friends Group, the work was delivered in partnership 
with volunteers and by engaging the local community. The allocation of both Council staffing 
costs and volunteer time towards this programme counted towards the match funding 
identified elsewhere in this report. 

 
3.3 The award was based on a schedule of standard costs set by the Forestry Commission. A 

range of costs for operations and tasks were independently calculated based on typical 
scenarios, including materials, labour, and supervision costs. The WIG contribution rates 
were variable and ranged from a minimum of 50% to a maximum of 80% and were applied 
to these standard costs to set a grant rate for the work. The rate of grant for a work item 
was not negotiable. 

 
3.4 Bromley’s  contribution  to  the  grant  works  was  £31,605;  this  was  a combination of 

expenditure from Council budgets (50%) and an ‘in kind’ contribution, in the form of  
existing  staff  time  and  work  undertaken  by  Friends  and  volunteer  groups  (50%).  
Expenditure came from the Woodlands Estate Works budget and the Nature Conservation 
Projects budget which existed at the time. Within the WIG grant there was also £7,500 of 
funding towards 150 hours of staff time to oversee the work programme and monitoring 
contracts.  

 
3.5 The scheme was added to the Capital Programme with expenditure of £92,923 for 2014/15 

and £50,385.50 for 2015/16 (see Table 1. below). As part of a contract novation the client 
element of parks management and grounds maintenance was outsourced to the incumbent 
service provider at that time, English Landscapes (now idverde) in 2015. Delivery of the 
scheme was then transferred to idverde for completion.  

 
 Expenditure – Table 1. 
 

Woodland Access 
works 

2014/15 (£) 2015-16 (£) TOTAL (£) 

    
WIG funding  30,654.40 9,404.40 40,058.80 
LB Bromley Contribution  11,343.50 4,321.50 15,665.00 
Total cost of Work  41,997.90 13,725.90 55,723.80 

 
 

Biodiversity works 2014/15 (£) 2015-16 (£) TOTAL (£) 

    
WIG funding  42,916.70 28,728.00 71,644.70 
LB Bromley Contribution  8,008.40  7,931.60  15,940 
Total cost of Work  50,925.10 36,659.60 87,584.70 

Page 66



- 3 - 

 
 
 
Actual Expenditure 
 
3.6 At completion of the project, £111,703.50 of works were undertaken that were identified 

from the original grant application. This sum of money was claimed and received from the 
Forestry Commission. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the Forestry 
Commission Grant Scheme (see Appendix A), there was no claim for overpayment of the 
amount and no balance was left remaining to repay.  

 
3.7 As per usual grant funding practice, the grant had a series of terms and conditions and 

could only be spent on the outcomes as specified in the Forestry Commission contract. The 
work funded by the WIG needed to be maintained for at least five years from the date of 
each payment, and included works enabling public access. The Council is required to 
ensure that the areas remain open to the general public, free of charge, and accessible 
between dawn and dusk for a period of 30 years.  

 

3.8 Details of the type of works undertaken for the two strands (Woodland Access and 
Woodland Biodiversity) were in the form of the items covered in Appendix B.  

 
3.9 The 30 woodland sites at which the Woodland Access and Biodiversity works were 

undertaken are listed with their respective Ward area in Appendix C. 
 
4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Completion of the Woodlands Improvement Project scheme assisted in meeting the key 

outcomes of the Environment Portfolio Plan of 2013/16 which included the Key Aim to 
“Conserve and enhance Bromley’s parks and green spaces”.  

 
4.2 The maintenance, improvements and enhancements funded by this programme, including 

interpretation and access, were consistent with Bromley’s existing countryside policies. 
 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This report provides information on a Post Completion Review that has been carried out in 

respect of the Woodlands Improvement Project. There are no financial implications arising 
from the matters addressed in this report.  

 
6. CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 The relevant Ward Members were consulted in the lead up to this project. The scheme 

received the support of the Environment Portfolio Holder and was presented to Members on 
2nd April 2014. 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Personnel and Legal Implications 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

 

Page 67



4 

APPENDIX A  
 
Terms and Conditions of the Forestry Commission Grant Scheme (pdf document)

Page 68



5 

 
APPENDIX B  
 
Types of works undertaken for the two strands include the following: 
 
Woodland Access: 
 

• 26 Interpretation Boards 

• 4 Picnic Benches with tables 

• 3 Notice Boards 

• 2 Kissing Gates 

• 1033m of footpath construction over 4 sites 

• 4 Benches with back rests 

• 20 Post and disk way-markers 

• 55 Routed hardwood way-markers 

• Production of 1,500 leaflets promoting woodlands 
 
Woodland Biodiversity: 
 

• 14.3 Hectares of woodland thinning work in 19 woodlands 

• 30 Hectares of holly clearance in 3 woodlands 

• 9.7 Hectares of rhododendron and laurel control in 7 woodlands 

• 9.7 Hectares of rhododendron and laurel regrowth spray in 7 woodlands 

• 8.5 Hectares of coppicing over 30 years old in 6 woodlands 

• 1 Ha of rhododendron and laurel control in 1 difficult site 

• 1 Ha of rhododendron and laurel regrowth spray in 1 difficult site 

• 150 hours of forestry agent time – supervision of work 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



6 

 
APPENDIX C  
 
List of Woodland Sites/Ward: 
  
1. Scadbury Park Nature Reserve - Chislehurst  
2. Langley Nature Reserve – Kelsey & Eden Park  
3. Walden Rec Wood - Chislehurst  
4. Darrick Wood – Farnborough & Crofton  
5. Covet Wood - Cray Valley West  
6. Well Wood – Hayes & Coney Hall  
7. Jubilee Country Park - Bickley  
8. High Broom Wood – West Wickham  
9. Padmal Wood – Bromley Common & Keston  
10. Crofton Wood - Farnborough & Crofton  
11. Elmfield Wood - Bromley Common & Keston  
12. Elmstead Wood – Mottingham & Chislehurst North  
13. Hayes Common - Hayes & Coney Hall  
14. High Elms - Farnborough & Crofton  
15. Marvels Wood - Mottingham & Chislehurst North  
16. Great Thrift Wood – Petts Wood & Knoll  
17. Kingswood Glen - Shortlands  
18. Amhurst Wood – Cray Valley West  
19. Foxbury Wood – Chelsfield & Pratts Bottom  
20. Blyth Road Wood – Bromley Town  
21. Milk Street Wood – Plaistow & Sundridge  
22. Juggs Hill – Biggin Hill  
23. St Pauls Green - Chislehurst  
24. St Pauls Cray Hill Park – Cray Valley East  
25. Bradmanshill Wood - Hayes & Coney Hall  
26. Rushfield Shaw – Hayes & Coney Hall  
27. Lillys Wood - Chelsfield & Pratts Bottom  
28.  Fox Hill Shaw – Hayes & Coney Hall  
29. Cheyne Wood – West Wickham  
30. Hobblingwell Wood – Cray Valley West 

 

Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



  

1 

Report No. 
ES20096 
 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC PROTECTION POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  09th June 2021 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: ARBORICULTURE - GLENDALE ANNUAL CONTRACT 
PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
 

Contact Officer: Hugh Chapman, Arboricultural Services Manager  
    E-mail:  Hugh.Chapman@bromley.gov.uk  
 

Chief Officer: Colin Brand –  Director of Environment & Public Protection 

Ward: (All Wards) 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 This annual report outlines the performance of the Arboricultural Services contract which 
delivers the day-to-day arboricultural operations across the Council’s administrative area 
relating to financial year 20/21. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 That PDS Committee reviews and comments on the content of the report. 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 10



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Arboricultural Services are used by all residents, including vulnerable adults 

and children. Protection is not their primary purpose but adjustments are made, as required, to 
ensure services are as accessible as possible and all users are safe. 

______________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable  
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council Quality Environment Safe Bromley Healthy Bromley  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre:  Tree Maintenance & Tree Planting & Maintenance 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £ 724,030  
5. Source of funding:  Existing controllable revenue budget for 2021/22 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 5 FTEs 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1.  Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement : The Highways Act 1980 imposed on the London 
Borough of Bromley a duty of care to maintain all trees on the street in a safe condition, which 
includes routine maintenance. 

 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  Borough wide impact on 
businesses, residents and service users. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable 
 

Page 94



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Aims of the Service – Arboricultural Services 
 
3.1. The primary purpose of the Arboricultural Maintenance contract is to maintain the Council’s tree 

stock across the borough, which includes street trees, park trees, trees in education sites, trees 
in woodlands and trees in conservation sites. The Council is responsible for inspecting trees to 
identify those requiring any remedial work, removal, or replacement under the requirements of 
contract resources. The borough has the largest number of street and park trees in London and 
is also home to two thirds of London’s woodlands; this is particularly valued by Bromley’s 
residents, visitors and Council Members. 
 

3.2. The existing contract supports the Council’s arboricultural strategy, which sets out to ensure 
trees are planted, preserved and managed in accordance with good arboricultural practice, and 
with regard to their contribution to amenity and the urban landscape for both current, and future 
generations. 

 
3.3. A key aim of the service is to maintain a general presumption against the removal of trees, 

allowing felling only in accordance with good arboricultural practice. The Council also will 
ensure that adequate and appropriate replacement planting takes place where planting is 
desirable, aesthetically necessary and sustainable. 

 
   Public Perception of Arboriculture in the borough 

3.4. Nationally, there have been recent examples of poor arboricultural management by local 
authorities at a strategic level which has drawn significant public attention to this service area. 
The Council sets out it’s aims to maintain and publicise high standards of arboricultural 
management, which is available on the Council’s website. 

 
3.5. Significant public and political attention has been drawn to the benefits of trees in recent years 

leading to the development of enhanced tree planting targets both at a local and national level. 
The Council takes a long term ‘tree time’ view on these targets. Planting a tree is of little value if 
the tree fails to establish. Therefore, the adopted approach is through the implementation of the 
‘right tree for the right place’ philosophy and the commitment of the Council’s Service Provider, 
Glendale, to maintain these young trees until established. Significant work has been undertaken 
in the past year to rectify historic issues with young tree establishment, complimented with a 
redesign of our processes related to tree planting and young tree maintenance. The Council 
continues to review and consider its processes and approach to the tree planting programme to 
maintain its continued success.  

 
   Current Position – Performance Standards 

 
3.6. Contract performance is managed through a governance model set out in the contract 

documentation, the Performance Management Framework (PMF), which comprises of a series 
of Key Performance Indicators established at contract commencement. These indicators are 
reviewed on a monthly, bi-annual and annual basis to ensure they are fit-for-purpose and any 
proposed changes are made through a Change Control Notice procedure. 
 

3.7. In addition to the client’s monitoring system and partnership inspections Glendale is also 
responsible for self-monitoring to ensure the standards set out in the contract specification are 
adhered to. Access to Glendale’s contract management system (a software system called 
Glendale Live) is provided to members of the client Arboriculture Team and the Performance 
Management and Business Support Team to view real-time data, this also provides access to 
before and after date-stamped photographic evidence of completed works.   

 

Page 95



  

4 

3.8. Throughout financial year 20/21, the Council has continued working in partnership with both its 
ICT Service Provider, BT, and Glendale, on the integration of IT systems to facilitate the 
extraction of the data required under the contract in order to monitor the contractor’s 
performance (e.g. PMF). This data is derived from the quantitative and qualitative monitoring 
being undertaken by the service. This information is reviewed and reported on a monthly basis 
by Performance Management and Business Support officers and Contract Management 
officers.  

 
3.9. The impact of COVID-19 has not been as pronounced as it has been with other frontline 

environmental services provided by the Council. During the year 20/21 there was no disruption 
to supplier staffing levels due to COVID-19. Clarification was obtained early in the pandemic 
from the Minister of State for Domestic Forestry that no restrictions, other than those imposed 
through general government guidance and corporate procedure need be applied specific to this 
sector. 

 
   Ad-Hoc and Routine Works  

 
3.10. These works constitute the majority of the service provided by Glendale, originating primarily 

from cyclical tree surveying, the species-specific management of basal growth, subsidence 
mitigation pruning and public enquiries. In line with the growing season we see a typical spike in 
public enquires related to tree nuisance. There are a significant number of enquiries received in 
relation to arboriculture through various Council reporting systems; the majority are received 
through FixMyStreet as the primary reporting method for customer enquiries. In 20/21 there 
were a total of 3760 customer enquiries (see Appendix Figure 1). The enquiring volume has 
resulted in varied jobs issued throughout the year on the contract is represented in Appendix 
Figure 2. Seasonal variations are primarily caused by the need to crown lift/remove basal 
growth from trees and can also be impacted by weather conditions (e.g. severe strong winds), 
both being the main contributory factor to the variations in work requests. Officers endeavour to 
limit the volume of potential ad-hoc works and reduce potential risk to the Council associated to 
insurance claims through thorough working practices. 

 
Monitoring of Completion of Works (April-March 20/21) 

 
3.11 As set out in the contract documentation the primary Key Performance Indicator (KPI) for all 

routine and ad-hoc arboricultural works, is the measure of works completed within the 
designated time frame on the basis of the Councils risk based priority system. The PMF 
(paragraphs 3.6 to 3.8) is used to monitor and record these measures on a rolling monthly 
basis, and where performance is not achieved a monetary Performance Adjusted Value (PAV) 
is applied. A PAV is an estimate of the costs that would be incurred by the Council through 
implementing corrective action and managing the service in order to return performance to the 
contracted level. Monitoring this KPI performance throughout the financial year 20/21 
demonstrates a performance variation (see Appendix Figure 3), averaging a final annual 
percentage value of 77.28% which equates to an above target annual indicator value (75%). 
This figure confirms that the service standard has been met over the course of the past year.  

 
3.12 The remaining Key Performance Indicators set out within the contract documentation have been 

met since contract commencement, and the last financial year. This has been documented as 
part of the monthly contractual governance processes.  

 
3.13 The Council has undertaken a thorough review of the relevant performance data. This has 

involved consideration of seasonal variations and acknowledgement that particular tree works 
require more time to complete than estimated in the baseline Service Level Agreement within 
the PMF indicators. Therefore, the Council in partnership with Glendale have agreed to 

Page 96



  

5 

reconfigure the mechanics of specific indicators and amend procedural/operational processes 
and administration to address this review. 

 
3.14 As a result of the review of work volumes and timescales of completion the Council will 

introduce a programmed works approach in the form of a ‘Clear Borough’ programme. This is 
anticipated to significantly reduce the volume of ad-hoc works ordered, above the average norm 
due to seasonal peak variations. Historically the bulk of minor works such as ‘crown lifting’ and 
‘basal growth removal’ have been raised as ad hoc works which have been identified as a 
significant contributor to the significant seasonal increase of works required. Implementing the 
‘Clear Borough Programme’ (to include a number of traditionally ad-hoc works), the Council 
intends to enable Glendale to produce a routine schedule of works, encapsulating both routine 
and proactive ad-hoc works requirements. This will ensure the performance targets are 
equitable to the baseline expected workload on an average monthly basis, providing more 
meaningful data to monitor the performance of the contract.  

 
3.15 Action has been undertaken by Council officers, including thorough negotiation with Glendale, 

to provide Glendale officers specified use of the Council’s asset management system (Confirm 
Arb) where appropriate, to amend target completion dates of works where there is a justified 
amendment to be made (i.e. storm event). The Council will require this to be evidenced and will 
monitor and approve amended requests when validated by accompanying information. 

 
3.16 It should be be noted that even with the most robust mitigation measures, the volume of work 

on the contract is still liable to volatility due to severe weather events and the 
emergence/identification of pests and disease which can significantly and unexpectedly 
increase the workload above expected levels.   

 
Emergency Call Out 

 
3.17. Typically arising from severe weather events, emergency works are received by Glendale, 

from the Council’s Contact Service Centre and assigned by Glendale to a team to make the 
situation safe. 
 

3.18. In the last financial year there were eight named meteorological storms and many other 
instances of high winds, causing tree failures with varying degrees of severity and impact 
across the borough. This is the most unpredictable element of the contract; national and global 
weather forecasting data suggests an increase in frequency and severity of such events. The 
severity of impact of these weather events can significantly alter the scheduled and predicted 
delivery of ad-hoc and routine works for several weeks. This risk is identified and mitigated 
through mechanisms in the contract monitoring framework. 

 
3.19. For works identified as Emergency Call Out, Glendale respond by attending the given location 

or site to make the reported works safe within one hour during normal working hours. These 
targets are monitored on a monthly basis as part of the PMF. The illustration in Appendix Figure 
4 illustrates the decreasing volume of hours worked to complete Emergency Call Outs during 
the financial period 20/21. 

 
Tree Planting 

 
3.20. The annual tree planting season is carried out between the months of November and March 

each year when conditions are the most optimum for successful planting. This programme 
comprises of the replacement of street, park trees and woodlands where felling has occurred, or 
where suitable sites have been identified for new provision. 
 

Page 97



  

6 

3.21. During the 2020/21 planting season the Council have planted 475 standard trees on the public 
highway and 750 whips (young tree) as a part of a woodland expansion project in Parkfield 
Recreation Ground. In addition, the Council have secured funding and purchased an additional 
450 standard trees which are being stored at a tree nursery until required as part of the 2021/22 
winter’s planting programme (commencing November 2021). This is part of a programme to 
deliver an enhanced planting programme for the coming year with a target of a 1000 standard 
trees, with other projects linked establishing a programme of woodland creation and expansion 
in the Council’s tree stock.  

 
3.22. Working in association with ‘Trees for Streets’, the Council will launch this year an online tree 

sponsorship platform enabling residents and Friends Groups to proactively request and provide 
funding for trees in their local area. This will be supported by a campaign aimed at empowering 
residents to contribute toward the establishment of young trees throughout the borough. 

 
3.23. The events of the last year have led more people to appreciate the difference nature makes to 

their lives and given the benefits trees provide the Council will expand upon the existing 
programme of engagement with Friends Groups, residents’ associations and supporters of tree 
planting, to focus on identifying suitable sites for future planting.  

 
3.24. Opportunities for the provision of external funding for tree planting will be managed by the 

Council with applications for various funding streams including the Urban Tree Challenge Fund 
which could see a 50% contribution toward street tree planting of £30,000. Other sources of 
funding include applying for the Woodland Creation Planning Grant and the Nature for Climate 
Fund to support ambitious future tree planting and establishment targets. An application will 
also be made for the HS2 Woodland Fund which will focus on areas of the borough’s nature 
reserves.    

 
Review of Contract Purpose 

 
3.25. The Council have an ongoing requirement for arboricultural services. The scope of this service       

is only anticipated to grow as current trees age and new trees are planted. The contract is 
based on a schedule of rates and future demands on the service are met by available revenue 
funding and income from external grant applications. 

 
4. COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1 The Executive awarded the contract in November 2018 (Report No. ES18077) for an initial 8 
year period with the contract commencing on 1st April 2019, with an option to extend the 
contract for a further two 4 year periods. Options for the future provision of these services, 
including a possible contract extension, will be considered in 2024, subject to the satisfactory 
performance of Glendale. 

 
5. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
         

5.1 Within the 2020/21 revenue budget for Tree Maintenance and recharges to other departments 
there is a sum of £541,830 available for the arboricultural services contract with Glendale. The 
table below provides a breakdown of the budgets and projected spend for each service area as 
follows; 

 
Revenue 2019/20 
Service Area        Budget  

     £  
Tree Maintenance – Parks & Green Spaces   103,720  
Amenity/Environment – Tree Planting & Maintenance 438,110  

Page 98



  

7 

 
Total Revenue       541,830  
 

5.2 Future risks relating to the financial impact of Ash Dieback are being quantified with a future 
report prepared for Member consideration which will outline the Council’s strategy to address 
this matter in a practical and financial sense.  Ash Dieback is a fungus that effects this tree 
species and has had the most impact in the south-east of England where it was first recorded in 
the UK in 2012. It is anticipated there will a loss of approximately 80% of ash trees in the UK. 

6. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The activities in this report reflect the Council’s existing policy as set out in the Environment and 
Community Services Portfolio Plan 2019/20 and Building a Better Bromley 2016-18. 

 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Personnel, Procurement 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

Environment Portfolio Plan ES18035  
 
Building a Better Bromley (2016-18) 
 
Council’s Tree Management Strategy  
 
Report Nos: 
ES18077 Award of Contract for Arboricultural Services; 
ES17088 Environment Services Commissioning 
Programme Update; 
ES17002 Environmental Services Procurement Strategy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/209/portfolio_plans
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/209/portfolio_plans
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=127&MId=6461&Ver=4
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/2005/building_a_better_bromley
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/3334/tree_management_strategy_2016-2020
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=127&Year=0
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=127&Year=0
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=127&Year=0


  

8 

 

APPENDICES:  

 

Figure 1: 

 

 

Figure 2: 

 

Page 100



  

9 

 

 

Figure 3: 

 

 

Figure 4: 

 

Page 101



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
ES20087 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

 
PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 

 

   

Decision Maker: Environment and Community Services PDS Committee  
 

Date:  
9th June 2021  

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Non-Executive  Non-Key  

Title: Contract Register 
 

Contact Officer: Sarah Foster, Assistant Director of Performance Management & Business 
Support, Tel: 020 8313 4023 Email: Sarah.Foster@Bromley.gov.uk 
Lucy West, Senior Performance Officer 
Tel: 020 8461 7726 Email: Lucy.West @Bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Colin Brand, Director of Environment & Public Protection 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report presents an extract from May 2021’s Contracts Register for detailed scrutiny by PDS 
Committee – all PDS committees will receive a similar report each contract reporting cycle, 
based on data as at  21 January 2021 and presented to E&RC PDS on Tuesday 18 May 2021. 
 

1.2 There is no accompanying ‘Part 2’ of this agenda, as any relevant commentary has been 
included in the Part 1 report.   

 
  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the PDS Committee: 

2.1 Reviews the appended £50k Contracts Register (which also forms part of the Council’s 
commitment to data transparency).  

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 11



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: The appended Contracts Register covers services which may be universal 

or targeted. Addressing the impact of service provision on vulnerable adults and children is a 
matter for the relevant procurement strategies, contracts award and monitoring reports, and 
service delivery rather than this report. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: - N/A 
 

2. Ongoing costs: - N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Environment and Community Services Portfolio 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: - £31.76m 
 

5. Source of funding: - Existing controllable revenue budget for 2021/22 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   -  N/A 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   -  N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Improves the Council’s approach to contract 
management. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 104



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Contracts Register Background 

3.1 The Contracts Database (CDB) is fully utilised by all Contract Managers across the Council as 
part of their Contract Management responsibilities, which includes the updating the information 
recorded on the database. The Register is generated from the Contracts Database which is 
administered by Commissioning & Procurement Directorate and populated by the relevant 
service managers (Contract Owners) and approved by their managers (Contract Approvers). 

3.2 As a Commissioning Council, this information is vital to facilitate a full understanding of the 
Council’s procurement activity and the Contracts Register is a key tool used by Contract 
Managers as part of their daily contract responsibilities. The Contract Registers are reviewed by 
the Procurement Board, Chief Officers, Corporate Leadership Team, and Contracts Sub-
Committee as appropriate 

3.3 The Contracts Register is produced four times a year for members– though the CDB itself is 
always ‘live’.  

3.4 Each PDS committee is expected to undertake detailed scrutiny of its contracts – including 
scrutinising suppliers – and hold the Portfolio Holder to account on service quality and 
procurement arrangements. 

Contract Register Summary 

3.5 The Council has 224 active contracts covering all portfolios as of 30th April 2021 for the May 
reporting cycle as set out in Appendix 1.  

            Environment and Community Services 

Item Category 
November 

2020 
February 

2021 
May 2021 

Total Contracts £50k+ 16 16 20 

Concern Flag Concern Flag 0 1 0 

  

Risk Index Higher Risk 8 8 8 

  Lower Risk 8 8 12 

  

 Procurement Status for 
Contracts approaching 

end date 

Red N/A N/A 0 

Amber N/A N/A 0 

Green N/A N/A 5 

Neutral N/A N/A 14 

 

3.6 Contracts may be flagged for attention due to the tight timescales for tender (rather than any 
performance issues associated with the delivery of the contract).  During this contract cycle, 
there are no contracts flagged for attention. 
 

 
4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS & CHILDREN 

4.1 The Corporate Contracts Register covers all Council services: both those used universally by 
residents and those specifically directed towards vulnerable adults and children. Addressing the 
impact of service provision on the vulnerable is a matter for the relevant procurement strategies, 
contracts, and delivery of specific services rather than this summary register. 

Page 105



  

4 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council’s renewed ambition is set out in the 2016-18 Building a Better Bromley document 
and the Contracts Database (and Contract Registers) help in delivering the aims (especially in 
delivering the ‘Excellent Council’ aim). For an ‘Excellent Council’, this activity specifically helps 
by ‘ensuring good contract management to ensure value-for-money and quality services’. 

6. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Most of the Council’s (£50k plus) procurement spend is now captured by the Contracts 
Database. The database will help in ensuring that procurement activity is undertaken in a timely 
manner, that Contract Procedure Rules are followed and that Members are able to scrutinise 
procurement activity in a regular and systematic manner. 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The Contracts Database and Contract Registers are not primarily financial tools – the Council 
has other systems and reports for this purpose such as the Budget Monitoring reports. 
However, the CDB and Registers do contain financial information both in terms of contract 
dates and values and also budgets and spend for the current year. 

8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 There are no direct personnel implications but the Contracts Database is useful in identifying 
those officers directly involved in manging the Council’s contracts. 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 There are no direct legal implications but the Contracts Database does identify those contracts 
which have a statutory basis and also those laws which should be complied with in delivering 
the contracted services. 

9.2 A list of the Council’s active contracts may be found on Bromley.gov.uk to aid transparency (this 
data is updated after each Contracts Sub-Committee meeting). 

Non-Applicable Sections: None 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

 Appendix 1 – Key Data (All Portfolios) 

 Appendix 2 - Contracts Database Background information 

 Appendix 3 – Contracts Database Extract PART 1  

Page 106

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/2005/building_a_better_bromley
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200110/council_budgets_and_spending/311/payments_to_suppliers/3


  

5 

Appendix 1: Key Data (All Portfolios) 

 

Item Category 
November 

2020 
February 

2021 
May 2021 

Contracts (>£50k TCV) All Portfolios 220 223 224 

Flagged as a concern All Portfolios 0 4 0 

Capital Contracts All Portfolios 3 7 7 

  

Portfolio 

Executive, Resources and 
Contracts 

56 57 56 

Adult Care and Health 73 74 72 

Environment and 
Community Services 

16 16 20 

Children, Education and 
Families   

39 40 39 

Renewal and Recreation 
and Housing 

30 30 32 

Public Protection and 
Enforcement 

6 6 5 

  

Risk Index 
Higher Risk 92 95 89 

Lower Risk 128 128 135 

  

 Procurement Status for 
Contracts approaching 

end date 

Red 77 83 82 

Amber 21 20 22 

Green 20 30 34 

Neutral  102 90 86 

Imminent 2 3 1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 107



  

6 

Appendix 2 - Contracts Register Key and Background Information 
 
 

Contract Register Key 

1.1    A key to understanding the Corporate Contracts Register is set out in the table below. 

 

Register 
Category 

Explanation 

Risk Index Colour-ranking system reflecting eight automatically scored and weighted criteria 
providing a score (out of 100) / colour reflecting the contract’s intrinsic risk 

Contract ID Unique reference used in contract authorisations  

Owner Manager/commissioner with day-to-day budgetary / service provision responsibility   

Approver Contract Owner’s manager, responsible for approving data quality 

Contract Title Commonly used or formal title of service / contract 

Supplier Main contractor or supplier responsible for service provision  

Portfolio Relevant Portfolio for receiving procurement strategy, contract award, contract 
monitoring and budget monitoring reports   

Total Contract 
Value 

The contract’s value from commencement to expiry of formally approved period 
(excludes any extensions yet to be formally approved) 

Original Annual 
Value 

Value of the contract its first year (which may be difference from the annual value 
in subsequent years, due to start-up costs etc.) 

Budget Approved budget for the current financial year. May be blank due to: finances being 
reported against another contract; costs being grant-funded, complexity in the 
finance records e.g. capital (also applies to Projection) 

Projection Expected contract spend by the end of the current financial year 

Procurement 
Status 

Automatic ranking system based on contract value and proximity to expiry. This is 
designed to alert Contract Owners to take procurement action in a timely manner. 
Red ragging simply means the contract is nearing expiry and is not an implied 
criticism (indeed, all contracts will ultimately be ragged ‘red’). 

Start & End 
Dates 

Approved contract start date and end date (excluding any extension which has yet 
to be authorised) 

Months duration Contract term in months 

Attention  Red flag indicates that there are potential issues, or that the timescales are tight 

and it requires close monitoring.   (also see C&P Commentary in Part 2)  

Commentary Contract Owners provide a comment – especially where the Risk Index or 
Procurement Status is ragged red or amber.  
Commissioning & Procurement Directorate may add an additional comment for 
Members’ consideration 
The Commentary only appears in the ‘Part 2’ Contracts Register 

Capital Most of the Council’s contracts are revenue-funded. Capital-funded contracts are 
separately identified (and listed at the foot of the Contracts Register) because 
different reporting / accounting rules apply 

 

  Contract Register Order 

1.2 The Contracts Register is output in Risk Index order. It is then ordered by Procurement Status, 
Portfolio, and finally Contract Value. Capital contracts appear at the foot of the Register and 
‘contracts of concern’ (to Commissioning & Procurement Directorate) are flagged at the top. 

 

 

 

Page 108



  

7 

 

Risk Index 

1.3 The Risk Index is designed to focus attention on contracts presenting the most significant risks 
to the Council. Risk needs to be controlled to an acceptable level (our risk appetite) rather than 
entirely eliminated and so the issue is how best to assess and mitigate contract risk. Contract 
risk is assessed (in the CDB) according to eight separate factors and scored and weighted to 
produce a Risk Index figure (out of 100). These scores are ragged to provide a visual reference. 

 
 

Procurement Status 

1.4 A contract’s Procurement Status is a combination of the Total Contract Value (X axis) and 
number of months to expiry (Y axis). The table below is used to assign a ragging colour. 
Contracts ragged red, amber or yellow require action – which should be set out in the 
Commentary. Red ragging simply means the contract is nearing expiry and it is not an implied 
criticism (indeed, all contracts will ultimately be ragged ‘red’). 
 

3 months Requires an agreed plan

6 months Develop / test options

9 months Consider options

12 months No action required

18 months

£5k - £50k £50k - £100k £100k - £173k £173k - £500k >£500k

P
e
rio

d
 

Total Contract Value

Procurement / Commissioning Status

 

 
 
  

Page 109



This page is left intentionally blank



Risk 

Index

Contract 

ID
Owner Approver Contract Title Supplier Name Portfolio Total Value

Original Annual 

Value

Proc. 

Status
Start Date End Date

Months 

Duration
Attention Capital

Lower 

Risk
3805 Garry Warner Colin Brand CONFIRM

Pitney Bowes  Software 

Europe Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
324,330 86,865 g 01/07/2018 30/06/2022 48

Lower 

Risk
4891 Allen Herve

Angus 

Culverwell
Videalert Ltd Videalert Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
315,600 125,396 g 01/06/2019 31/05/2024 60

Lower 

Risk
4955

Jonathan 

Richards
Colin Brand Bromley Market Assemby

MarketForce Services 

Limited

Environment and 

Community Services
154,000 77,000 g 01/01/2020 31/12/2021 24

Lower 

Risk
5059

Michael 

Watkins
Sara Bowrey Energy Services - Gas Total Gas and Power 

Environment and 

Community Services
726,452 363,226 g 01/10/2020 30/09/2022 24

Higher 

Risk
5065

Michael 

Watkins

Michael 

Watkins
Energy Services - Electricity HAVEN POWER LIMITED

Environment and 

Community Services
2,072,227 1,036,113 g 02/11/2020 01/11/2022 24

Higher 

Risk
3764 Garry Warner Colin Brand Highway Maintenance JB Riney & Co Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
90,000,000 01/07/2018 30/06/2027 108

Higher 

Risk
4868 Jim Cowan

Peter 

McCready

Environment Services Lot 2: Waste 

Collection, Management of Waste Sites 

and Materials Handling & Sale of 

Recyclates

Veolia Environmental 

Services (UK) PLC

Environment and 

Community Services
103,030,901 12,304,583 01/04/2019 31/03/2027 96

Higher 

Risk
4867 Amy Harris

Peter 

McCready

Environment Services Lot 1: Disposal of 

Residual Waste

Veolia Environmental 

Services (UK) PLC

Environment and 

Community Services
73,668,620 9,595,359 01/04/2019 31/03/2027 96

Higher 

Risk
4869 David Hall

Peter 

McCready

Environment Services Lot 3: Street 

Environment

Veolia Environmental 

Services (UK) PLC

Environment and 

Community Services
44,936,034 5,617,004 01/04/2019 31/03/2027 96

Higher 

Risk
4870

James 

Hilsden

Peter 

McCready

Environment Services Lot 4: Parks 

Management and Grounds Maintenance
id verde

Environment and 

Community Services
37,590,832 4,698,854 01/04/2019 31/03/2027 96

Higher 

Risk
1371

Jonathan 

Richards

Angus 

Culverwell

Parking Enforcement and Associated 

Services
APCOA Parking (UK) Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
19,222,178 1,922,217 03/04/2017 02/04/2027 120

Higher 

Risk
4866

Hugh 

Chapman

Peter 

McCready

Environmental Services: LOT 5 - 

Arboricultural Maintenance Services 
Glendale Countryside Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
4,075,624 509,453 01/04/2019 31/03/2027 96

Lower 

Risk
4885 Paul Chilton Garry Warner Supply of Leased Cars

Crown Commercial 

Suppliers (CCS): Vehicle 

Lease Framework

Environment and 

Community Services
2,310,000 525,000 16/05/2019 15/05/2023 48

Lower 

Risk
4984 Paul Chilton Garry Warner Central Depot Security MPD FM Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
316,642 98,281 01/04/2020 31/03/2023 36

Lower 

Risk
5013

Jonathan 

Richards
Sarah Foster FixMyStreet Pro SocietyWorks Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
70,000 35,000 01/04/2020 31/03/2022 24

Lower 

Risk
4951 Matt Wyatt Colin Brand Document Management Solutions Restore PLC

Environment and 

Community Services
400,000 80,000 01/01/2020 31/12/2023 48

Lower 

Risk
5024 Garry Warner Colin Brand

Access agreement in relation to a 

framework for the provision of rock salt
ICL UK (SALES) LTD 

Environment and 

Community Services
270,000 90,000 01/10/2020 31/12/2023 39

Lower 

Risk
4886 Paul Chilton Garry Warner Supply of Leased Commercial Vehicles

Crown Commercial 

Suppliers (CCS): Vehicle 

Lease Framework

Environment and 

Community Services
178,840 34,880 16/05/2019 15/05/2023 48

Lower 

Risk
5054 Paul Chilton Paul Chilton Vehicle Bodywork Repair Grove Autos Ltd

Environment and 

Community Services
150,000 50,000 01/12/2020 30/11/2023 36

Contract Register Report  -  £50k Portfolio Filtered - Environment and Community Services
May 2021

P
age 111

http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3805&name=CONFIRM
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4891&name=Videalert%20Ltd
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4955&name=Bromley%20Market%20Assemby
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5059&name=Energy%20Services%20-%20Gas
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5065&name=Energy%20Services%20-%20Electricity
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3764&name=Highway%20Maintenance
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4868&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%202:%20Waste%20Collection,%20Management%20of%20Waste%20Sites%20and%20Materials%20Handling%20&%20Sale%20of%20Recyclates
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4868&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%202:%20Waste%20Collection,%20Management%20of%20Waste%20Sites%20and%20Materials%20Handling%20&%20Sale%20of%20Recyclates
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4868&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%202:%20Waste%20Collection,%20Management%20of%20Waste%20Sites%20and%20Materials%20Handling%20&%20Sale%20of%20Recyclates
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4868&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%202:%20Waste%20Collection,%20Management%20of%20Waste%20Sites%20and%20Materials%20Handling%20&%20Sale%20of%20Recyclates
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4867&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%201:%20Disposal%20of%20Residual%20Waste
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4867&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%201:%20Disposal%20of%20Residual%20Waste
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4869&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%203:%20Street%20Environment
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4869&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%203:%20Street%20Environment
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4870&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%204:%20Parks%20Management%20and%20Grounds%20Maintenance
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4870&name=Environment%20Services%20Lot%204:%20Parks%20Management%20and%20Grounds%20Maintenance
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=1371&name=Parking%20Enforcement%20and%20Associated%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=1371&name=Parking%20Enforcement%20and%20Associated%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4866&name=Environmental%20Services:%20LOT%205%20-%20Arboricultural%20Maintenance%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4866&name=Environmental%20Services:%20LOT%205%20-%20Arboricultural%20Maintenance%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4885&name=Supply%20of%20Leased%20Cars
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4984&name=Central%20Depot%20Security
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5013&name=FixMyStreet%20Pro
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4951&name=Document%20Management%20Solutions
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5024&name=Access%20agreement%20in%20relation%20to%20a%20framework%20for%20the%20provision%20of%20rock%20salt
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5024&name=Access%20agreement%20in%20relation%20to%20a%20framework%20for%20the%20provision%20of%20rock%20salt
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4886&name=Supply%20of%20Leased%20Commercial%20Vehicles
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5054&name=Vehicle%20Bodywork%20Repair


T
his page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
ES20086 

 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Environment and Community Services PDS Committee and 
Public Protection and Enforcement PDS Committee 

 

Date:  
9th June 2021 and 22nd June 2021 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Non-Executive  Non-Key  

Title: Risk Register 
 

Contact Officer: Lucy West, Senior Performance Officer 
Tel: 020 8461 7726 Email: Lucy.West@Bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Colin Brand, Director of Environment & Public Protection 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report presents the revised Environment & Public Protection Risk Register for detailed 
scrutiny by both PDS Committees. 

 
1.2 This appended Risk Register also forms part of the Annual Governance Statement evidence-

base and has been reviewed by: E&PP DMT, Corporate Risk Management Group; and Audit 
Sub-Committee. 
 

 
  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Environment and Community Services PDS Committee and Public Protection 
and Enforcement PDS Committee reviews and comments on the appended E&PP Risk 
Register.  It should be noted that each risk has been highlighted as being relevant to one 
committee only (and therefore should be discussed at the relevant meeting).   

Page 113

Agenda Item 12



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: The appended Risk Register covers services provided by the E&PP 

Department and some borough-wide risks. Addressing the impact of service provision on 
vulnerable adults and children is a matter for the relevant procurement strategies, contracts and 
service delivery rather than this high-level Risk Register report. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal:  N/A 
 

2. Ongoing costs:  N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre:  E&CS and PP&E Portfolios 
 

4. Total current budget for this head:  £31.76m and £2.54.m 
 

5. Source of funding:  Existing controllable revenue budget 2021/22 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): - 145.4 FTEs and 47.3 FTEs 
  

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: - N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Risk management contributes to contract management 
and good governance. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A 
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 114



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Risk Register Background 

3.1 The Council’s aims are set out in Building a Better Bromley and the Portfolio Plans, and a risk 
can be defined as anything which could negatively affect the associated outcomes. Some level 
of risk will be associated with any service provision: the question is how best to manage that risk 
down to an acceptable level? (this is known as our ‘risk appetite’) 

3.2 It follows that the Council should be able to clearly and regularly detail the main departmental 
risks and related mitigation measures to ensure a) that desired outcomes are achieved and b) 
to allow for Member scrutiny – the purpose of this report. 

3.3 Although the appended E&PP Risk Register is comprehensive, departmental risk management 
activity is certainly not exclusive to this report. For instance: 

 major programmes and services (e.g. Tree Management Strategy) will have associated Risk 
Registers (such registers are reviewed by the relevant Programme / Service Boards); 

 financial risk is addressed in each Portfolio’s Budget Monitoring Reports and, more generally, 
in the Council’s Annual Financial Strategy Report; 

 audit risk is captured through the Audit Programme’s planned and investigative activity and 
associated reports and management action requirements; 

 contract risk forms part of the Contracts Database (all contracts are now quantified and 
ranked according to the risk presented to the Council). The new Environmental Services 
Contract, therefore, appears both in this Risk Register and the Corporate Contracts Register, 
due to its size and complexity.  

3.4 In 2016/17 Zurich Municipal (the Council’s insurer) undertook a ‘check and challenge’ review 
(involving all management teams) of the Council’s general approach and the individual risks. 
This resulted a new-style of register and a greater consistency of approach across the Council.  
Zurich attended during 2018/19 to repeat this exercise with all E&PP risk owners. 

3.5 It was agreed that Risk Registers should be presented to each Departmental Management 
Team, the relevant PDS committee, and Audit Sub-Committee twice a year (minimum) to allow 
activity to be scrutinised in a regular and systematic manner. Individual risks should naturally be 
reviewed (by Risk Owners) at a frequency proportionate to the risk presented (see appendix). 

3.6 In addition to its use for management and reporting purposes, the Risk Register also forms part 
of E&PP’s evidence-base for contributing to the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 
(which, itself, forms part of the Council’s end-of-year management procedures). 

3.7 Risks from all three departments are considered at the (officer) Corporate Risk Management 
Group (CRMG), which reviewed all the Risk Registers when it last met on 26th April 2021 and at 
Audit Sub-Committee, which last met on 8th June 2021. The next CRMG meeting will take place 
on 10th September 2021. 

3.8 At the time of writing, the Council has 123 individual risks (113 departmental plus 10, high-level, 
Corporate Risks (covering key risks which apply to the Council as a whole). 

3.9 E&PP Department currently has 29 risks (~22% of the Council’s total). 

3.10 The appended E&PP Risk Register is summarised below. Each risk is scored using a 
combination of the ‘likelihood’ (definite to remote) and ‘impact’ (insignificant to catastrophic) to 
produce a ‘gross rating’ (prior to controls) and ‘net rating’ (post management controls) – see 

Page 115

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/2005/building_a_better_bromley


  

4 

Appendix. Number E&PP risks are currently ragged ‘red’ following implementation of 
management control measures. 

Ref Risk & Description 
Gross  

Risk Rating 
Current 

Risk Rating 

1 
Emergency Response: Failure to respond effectively to a major emergency / incident 

internally or externally 
8 6 

2 
Central Depot Access: Major incident resulting in loss of / reduced Depot access 

affecting service provision (LBB's main vehicle depot) 
12 9 

3 Fuel Availability: Fuel shortage impacting on transport fleet / service delivery  5 4 

4 
Business Continuity Arrangements: Lack of up-to-date, tried and tested, BCP for all 

Council services 
8 8 

5 
Industrial Action: Contractors' staff work-to-rule / take strike action impacting on 

service delivery 
12 8 

6 
Health & Safety (E&PP): Ineffective management, processes and systems within 

E&PP departmentally 
12 8 

7 
Highways Management: Deterioration of the Highway Network due to under-

investment  
8 6 

8 
Arboricultural Management: Failure to inspect and maintain Bromley's tree stock 

leading to insurance claims etc   
12 6 

9 
Income Variation (Highways and Parking) (Non-Covid): Loss of income at a time 

when the Council is looking to grow income to off-set reduced funding 
9 6 

10 
Waste Budget: Increasing waste tonnages resulting in increased waste management 

costs  
20 12 

11 
Town Centre Businesses and Markets: Loss of town centre businesses to 

competition  
15 6 

12 
Staff Resourcing and Capability: Loss of corporate memory and ability to deliver as 

key staff leave (good new staff are at a premium)  
12 9 

13 
Climate Change: Failure to adapt the borough and Council services to our changing 

climate 
12 8 

14 
Income Reconciliation (Public Protection Licensing): Uncertainty around income 

reconciliation when the Council is looking to grow income to offset reduced funding 
6 6 

15 
Income Reconciliation (Waste Management): Uncertainty around income 

reconciliation linked to the mobilisation of new waste contracts 
6 2 

16 Dogs and Pests Contract: Failure to deliver the contract to the required service levels 6 4 

17 Out of Hours Noise Service: Failure to deliver statutory services  16 16 

18 Integrated Offender Management: Failure to contribute to IOM in Bromley 12 12 

19 
Anti-Social Behaviour Co-Ordinator post: Failure to deliver ASB problem solving and 

partnership activity 
12 12 

20 
Gangs and Serious Youth Violence Officer: Inability to deliver strategic coordinated 

gang disruption work with partners across the borough 
12 4 

21 The provision of 24/7 CCTV Monitoring: Inability to provide 24-7 CCTV monitoring 12 6 

22 Loss of Income from Licensing: Lost income from alcohol and gambling licenses 12 9 

23 Risk to Health: Officers exposed to COVID-19 through enforcement visits 12 9 

24 
Staff Resourcing - Public Protection Enforcement: Inability to deliver to existing 

statutory responsibilities                         
9 6 

25 
Increased Costs for Coroners Service: Additional estimated costs due to high risk 

post mortems 
15 15 

26 
COVID-19 related loss of income (Parking): Greatly reduced income from parking 

charges and from enforcement activity.  Failure to deliver transport improvements. 
20 12 

Page 116



  

5 

27 

Disfuncionality of Uniform Information Management System: Impacts  how data is 

recorded, retrieved and analysed. Data is not always saved or retrievable. 
 

20 16 

28 
Disruption to Waste Services: During Depot Improvement Programme works in 

2022/23 significant infrastructure works at the Depot which will impact the service. 
20 16 

29 

 
Dysfuncionality of IT Support & Systems: Insufficient/Inadequate IT Support. The 

dysfunctionality of systems and support affects performance of the team which has 
meant staff unable to work using IT .   

12 12 

 

3.11 The risks (including causes and effects) are described in more detail in the appended Risk 
Register. Each risk is assigned a category (Compliance & Regulation, Finance, Service 
Delivery, Reputation and Health & Safety) and scored – using a combination of the ‘likelihood’ 
and ‘impact’ both being assessed on a scale of 1-5 – to produce a gross risk score.  

3.12 Current controls designed to mitigate the risk are also listed and these, in turn, generally result 
in a (lower) net risk score. Finally, additional actions are listed for the Risk Owner to consider to 
further reduce the level of risk (commensurate with their risk appetite).  Risk Ownership will be 
regularly reviewed and adjusted in light of any changes to the LBB Corporate Leadership Team 
structure. 

3.13 Risk 17 has a Current Risk Rating of 16, which is red. The out of hours noise service is 
dependant on grant funding from the Mayors Office for Policing & Crime (MOPAC) by way of the 
Local Crime Prevention Fund. This grant is released on a 2 year cycle, current cycle ends 
March 2022. The grant was reduced in 2017 and there is no guarantee it will be sustained post 
April 2022.  The service is staffed on a voluntary basis, and the remuneration for covering the 
shift is low; additionally, as officers from within the section also cover additional COVID 
enforcement responsibilities,  as such there is no guarantee that officers will be available. 

3.14 Risk 25 has a Current Risk Rating of 15, which is red. The increased costs for Coroners Service 
is due to the additional estimated costs due to high risk post mortems. The Director of 
Environment and Public Protection will be challenging the appropriateness of the required 
spend for this service to mitigate the risk.  

3.15 Risk 27 has a Current Risk Rating of 16, which is red. The dysfunctionality of Uniform is really 
affecting how the team record, retrieve and analyse data. As Regulators the team have no 
confidence that data once uploaded to the system (when it responds) is retained. There is no 
confidence in FOIs, SARs or performance data, contemporaneous notes are lost, Notices are 
not attached and hours of officer time is lost waiting for the system to work (or not). 

3.16 Risk 28 has a Current Risk Rating of 16, which is red. The Depot Improvement Programme 
works that are planned to take place in 2022/23 are likely to impact the service as they involve 
significant infrastructure works taking place at the two Waste Sites.They will require the closure 
of all or part of the Waste Transfer Stations and the Household Reuse and Recycling Centres. 
There is limited space to store waste during the closure of the Transfer Stations limiting the 
Council’s ability to recycle as much waste as possible. The temporary Waste Transfer Station 
and Household Reuse and Recycling Centres needed to migitate the service related issues will 
have a financial impact. 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS & CHILDREN 

4.1 The appended Risk Register covers environmental services, which tend to be universal in 
nature, rather than being specifically directed towards vulnerable adults and children. It also 
covers Public Protection activities which do impact on vulnerable people – for example the 
Trading Standards team are responsible for safeguarding vulnerable adults who may be 
targeted by rogue traders and the Anti-Social behaviour and Gangs and Serious Youth Violence 
teams are actively targeting and supporting those young people that are at risk of crime. 

Page 117



  

6 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council’s renewed policy ambition for the borough is set out in Building a Better Bromley 
and the various Portfolio Plans. Risk Registers help to deliver these policy aims by identifying 
issues which could impact on ‘ensuring good contract management to ensure value-for-money 
and quality services’ and putting in place mitigation measures to reduce risk and help deliver the 
policy aims and objectives. 

6. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Contract and hence procurement risk is mainly captured in the Contracts Database and 
Contracts Register Report rather than this Risk Register Report. That said, progress with 
mobilising the new Environmental Services Contract is captured in the appended register due to 
the contract’s strategic importance.  

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, however the Risk Register 
does identify areas that could have financial risks.  

8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 There are no direct personnel implications but the Risk Register does identify service areas 
where recruitment and capacity present challenges (e.g. 12: Staff Resourcing and Capability). 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 There are no direct legal implications but the Risk Register does identify some regulatory and 
legal issues: e.g. compliance with Health & Safety law and Industrial Action. 

Non-Applicable Sections: None 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

None 

 

Page 118

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/2005/building_a_better_bromley


  

7 

RISK REGISTER REPORT (ES18037): RISK ASSESSMENT GUIDANCE SUMMARY 
L

IK
E

L
IH

O
O

D
 

Almost Certain (5) 5 10 15 20 25   15+ High Risk: review controls/actions every month 

Highly Likely (4) 4 8 12 16 20   10 - 12 Significant Risk: review controls/actions every 3 mths 

Likely (3) 3 6 9 12 15   5 - 9 Medium Risk: review controls/actions every 6 months 

Unlikely (2) 2 4 6 8 10   1 - 4 Low Risk: review controls/actions at least annually 

Remote (1) 1 2 3 4 5       

    
Insignificant 

(1) 
Minor  

(2) 
Moderate  

(3) 
Major  

(4) 
Catastrophic 

(5) 
      

    
    IMPACT           
 

LIKELIHOOD KEY 

  Remote (1) Unlikely (2) Possible (3) Likely (4) Definite (5) 

Expected 
frequency 

10-yearly 3-yearly Annually Quarterly Monthly 

 

IMPACT KEY 

Risk Impact Insignificant (1) Minor (2) Moderate (3) Major (4) Catastrophic (5) 

Compliance & 
Regulation 

 Minor breach of internal 
regulations (not 
reportable) 

 Minor breach of external 
regulation (not reportable) 

 Breach of internal regulations 
leading to disciplinary action 

 Breach of external regulations, 
reportable 

 Significant breach of external 
regulations leading to 
intervention or sanctions 

 Major breach leading to 
suspension or 
discontinuation of business 
and services 

Financial  <£50,000  > £50,000 <£100,000  >£100,000 <£1,000,000  >£1,000,000 <£5,000,000  >£5,000,000 

Service Delivery 
 Disruption to one service 

for a period <1 week 
 Disruption to one service for 

a period of 2 weeks 
 Loss of one service for 

between 2-4 weeks 
 Loss of one or more services 

for a period of 1 month or more 
 Permanent cessation of 

service(s) 

Reputation 

 Complaints from 
individuals / small groups 
of residents 

 Low local coverage 

 Complaints from local 
stakeholders 

 Adverse local media 
coverage 

 Broader based general 
dissatisfaction with the running 
of the Council 

 Adverse national media 
coverage 

 Significant adverse national 
media coverage 

 Resignation of Director(s) 

 Persistent adverse national 
media coverage 

 Resignation / removal of 
CEX / elected Member 

Health & Safety 
 Minor incident resulting in 

little harm 

 Minor injury to Council 
employee or someone in the 
Council’s care 

 Serious injury to Council 
employee or someone in the 
Council’s care 

 Fatality to Council employee or 
someone in the Council’s care 

 Multiple fatalities to Council 
employees or individuals in 
the Council’s care 

  

P
age 119



T
his page is left intentionally blank



DATE LAST REVIEWED: 25/05/2021

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

1 1 All E&PP

Emergency Response
Failure to respond effectively to a major 
emergency / incident internally or 
externally

Cause(s): 
-Emergency may be triggered by storms, floods, snow, 
extreme heat or other emergency. Ineffective response could 
be caused by capacity and/or organisational issues

Effect(s):
- Failure to fulfil statutory duties in timely manner
- Disruption to infrastructure and service provision in general

Service Delivery 2 4 8

1.  Corporate Major Emergency Response Plan
2.    Adoption of Standardisation Process in terms of Emergency Response
3.    Business Continuity Policy & Strategy and associated Service Business Continuity Plans 
4.    Out-of-Hours Emergency Service
5.    Winter Service Policy and Plan (reviewed annually)
6.    Ongoing training, Testing and Exercising  programme
7.    Multi-agency assessment of emergency risks
8.    Training Programme delivered for volunteers in respect of Standardisation Process
9.    Implementation of 'on-call rota' for Emergency Response Manager and at Director level
10. Multi-agency forum for emergency preparedness, response and recovery planning within the Borough

2 3 6

1. Delivery of the Business Continuity Management process by CLT 
2. Development of risk-specific arrangements based upon London Resilience 
frameworks, informed by the Borough Community Risk Assessment
3. Recruit and train more Emergency Response Volunteers 
4. Implementation of the Resilience Standards For London

David Tait

2 2 All E&PP

Central Depot Access
Major incident resulting in loss of / 
reduced Depot access affecting 
service provision (LBB's main vehicle 
depot)

Cause(s): 
-Fire, explosion, train derailment, strike etc.

Effect (s):
-Significant service disruption (Waste, Street Cleaning, 
Gritting, Fleet Management, Neighbourhood Management 
etc.)

Service Delivery 4 3 12

1. Contingency plans for:
- Alternative vehicle parking
- Temporary relocation of staff
- Storage of bulky materials
2. Implement Business Continuity Plans
3. Close liaison with other Depot users (e.g. Waste Contract, Street Cleansing) and Highways Winter 
Service Team 
4. 'Central Depot Users Group' (Health & Safety/co-operative forum for all site users)
5. Work Place Risk Assessments in place
6. Depot Insurance reviewed September 2020 to ensure full reinstatement cover is in place
8. Waste Service Change has incorporated separate battery collection which will reduce likelihood of fires 
from batteries in residual waste

3 3 9
1.  Site re-development plans to include recommendations from fire safety 
audit.  To include consideration of fire suppression systems Paul Chilton

3 3 All E&PP
Fuel Availability 
Fuel shortage impacting on both LBB 
and service provider transport fleet 

Cause(s): 
-National or local fuel shortage caused by picketing or other 
external factors

Effect (s):
-Failure to provide services impacting on residents and other 
customers

Service Delivery 1 5 5

1. Identified alternative fuel supplies at contractors and neighbouring boroughs (corporate Fuel Disruption 
Plans based on National Plan are held by the Emergency Planning Team)
2. Designated Filling Station identified under National Emergency Plan by London Resilience Team as 
designated fuel supply for LBB logoed vehicles
3. Fuel store at Central Depot
4. Ongoing liaison with other London Boroughs concerning collaboration and assistance

1 4 4 1. Continue to monitor service provider arrangements for ensuring adequate 
fuel supply Peter McCready

4 4 All E&PP
Business Continuity Arrangements
Lack of up-to-date, tried and tested, 
BCP for all Council services

Cause(s): 
-Failure to implement and keep up-to-date effective service 
and corporate Business Continuity Plans

Effect(s):
-Non-provision of critical services following an incident 
(internal or external) 

Service Delivery 2 4 8

1. Corporate Risk Management Group now encompasses Business Continuity 
2.Full suite of BC plans in place across all Directorates, including E&PP
3. Overarching corporate BC plan developed identifying prioritisation of all services
4. All E&PP BC plans now transposed on to new corporate BCP template
5. Corporate BC management policy & strategy document signed off by leader and chief exec
6. Ensure all service providers have up to date Business Continuity Plans

2 4 8

1. CLT adoption of BCM which will monitor delivery on behalf of COE going 
forwards.  Current COVID-19 disruption to ways of working has tested BCPs 
during the largest disruption encountered in decades. ICT system failure has 
been identified as the largest risk and is outside the control of E&PP

David Tait

5 6 All E&PP

Industrial Action
Contractors' staff work-to-rule / take 
strike action impacting on service 
delivery

Cause(s): 
-Union dissatisfaction over pay and conditions (particularly in 
Waste, Libraries)

Effect (s):
-Temporary disruption to service / reduced customer 
satisfaction

Service Delivery 3 4 12
1. Ongoing monitoring / meetings regarding workforce issues
2. Joint development of Business Contingency Plans with Service Providers
3. Staff training and engagement built into the Environmental Services contracts

2 4 8
1. Review public communications to be used in the event of a strike
2.  Staff training and engagement incorporated into communications with 
Library staff

Colin Brand

6 8 All E&PP

Health & Safety (E&PP)
Ineffective management, processes 
and systems within E&CS 
departmentally

Cause(s): 
-Failure to take departmental action to reduce likelihood of 
accidents, incidents and other H&S issues 

Effect (s):
-HSE investigation / prosecution leading to fines, increased 
insurance claims, and reputational damage

Health & Safety 3 4 12

1. Workplace Risk Assessments (including lone and home working)
2. Accident & Incident Reporting system (AR3 & Riddor)
3. Contractor Inspection electronic Reporting system
4. Interface with Corporate Risk Management Group 
5. Annual audits and annual paths surveys (Parks)
6. Cyclical 5-year survey of park trees and highway trees
7. Regular Footway inspections
8.  Fire responsible persons list in place for all sites under the control of E&PP
9.  EPP Health and Safety Committee meets regularly to review departmental Health and Safety 
arrangements
10.  All corporate policies followed for COVID-19 risk assessments.  Staff home working unless unable to 
do so.

2 4 8

1. Ensure Workplace Risk Assessments (inc. Homeworking) updated annually 
and biennial reviews conducted
2. Encourage reporting of all significant accidents and incidents using AR3 
form (and reporting of RIDDOR incidents)
3.  and ensure the necessary communication and training is provided. 
4. Ensure resource exists to discharge statutory functions
5.  Ensure any staff wishing to return to the office during COVID-19 have done 
so in accordance with all corporate processes and procedures. 

Sarah Foster 
(Paul Chilton leading during COVID-

19 whilst SF is seconded to 
Shielding, Volunteering and 

Assistance programme)

7 12 Highways

Highways Management
Deterioration of the Highway Network 
due to under-investment 

Cause(s):
-Failure to manage Highways in respect of traffic volumes, 
winter weather, financial  resources leading to deteriorating 
condition

Effect (s):
-Leading to increased maintenance costs, insurance claims 
(trips, falls and RTAs) and reputational damage

Financial 2 4 8

1. Strategy to mitigate insurance claims                                                 
2. Inspection regime and defined intervention levels for maintenance repairs and monitoring 10% of works 
for compliance
3. Winter Maintenance procedures (gritting / salting)
4. Increased salt storage capacity
5. Improved customer expectation management        
6. Asset management technique (e.g. Highway Asset Management Plan)
7. New capital programme to reduce reactive works           
8.  Performance Management measures incorporated into Highways contract        
9. Modernisation of contractor's programming and completion of maintenance repairs involving remote 
working ICT technology                          

3 2 6 2. Additional inspections carried out and repairs undertaken as necessary Garry Warner

No.

Environment & Public Protection (E&PP) Risk Register

E&PP RISK REF FURTHER ACTION REQUIREDRISK TITLE & 
DESCRIPTION RISK OWNERRISK CATEGORY

GROSS RISK 

DIVISION

CURRENT RISK 

EXISTING CONTROLS IN PLACE TO MITIGATE THE RISKRISK CAUSE & EFFECT

Page 1 of 5

P
age 121



DATE LAST REVIEWED: 25/05/2021

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

No.

Environment & Public Protection (E&PP) Risk Register

E&PP RISK REF FURTHER ACTION REQUIREDRISK TITLE & 
DESCRIPTION RISK OWNERRISK CATEGORY

GROSS RISK 

DIVISION

CURRENT RISK 

EXISTING CONTROLS IN PLACE TO MITIGATE THE RISKRISK CAUSE & EFFECT

8 13 Neighbourhood 
Management

Arboricultural Management 
Failure to inspect and maintain 
Bromley's tree stock leading to 
insurance claims etc.  

Cause(s): 
-Failure to ensure that trees are managed as safely as 
reasonably practicable

Effect (s):
-Leading to blocked highways, reputational damage and 
financial liabilities  

Financial 4 3 12

1. Tree care and safety contract in place (new contract commenced April 2019) 
2. Full asset Survey of ~30% of street and park trees (and 50% of school trees)
3. Risk trees identified and registered increased inspection frequency using asset management database 
(Confirm)
4. Implement remedial works to address risk associated defects  
5. Review Tree Risk Management Strategy (annually)
6. Review the 'Storm Strategy' annually to be able to respond quickly and call in additional staff, equipment 
and contractors
7. Provide a cyclical safety survey and remedial works schedule commensurate to budget availability and 
potential prioritisation  
8. Work with FixMyStreet Officer (Secondment) to ensure enquiries are responded to as quickly as 
possible

2 3 6

1. Continue to monitor completion of annual tree surveys by Arboriculture 
Team ensuring programme requirements are met.
2. 2021/26 Tree Management Strategy to be approved by Env. PDS March 
2021

Peter McCready

9 14 All E&PP

Income Variation (Highways and 
Parking*)
Loss of income when the Council is 
looking to grow income to offset 
reduced funding

*Note new COVID-19 specific parking 
risk addition at the end of this register

Cause(s): 
- Improved Street Works performance by utility companies 
(reduced fines)
- Under-achievement of expected car parking income and 
parking enforcement, due to resistance to price increases 
and reduced incidents
- Loss of income from Penalty Charge Notices for Bus Lane 
Enforcement activity
- Reduction in Street Enforcement activity (Fixed Penalty 
Notices)
- Failure of APCOA (new Parking contractor) to provide 
contracted services (e.g. strikes)

Effect (s):
-Loss of income with potential to reduce service delivery 
funds

Financial 3 3 9

1. Regular income monitoring and review of parking tariff structures, including benchmarking Parking 
charges against other authorities and local private sector competitors
2. Monitoring contractor performance (e.g. only issue good quality PCNs)
3. Good debt recovery systems
4. Monitoring parking use and avoid excessive charge increases
5. Provide attractive, safe clean car parks
6. Regular contractor meetings
7. Monitoring of parking enforcement activity through Performance Indicators reported to PDS Committees 
(E&CS, PP&E)
8. Scrutiny of APCOA at PDS meetings

3 2 6

1. Refine procedure for resolving disputes with utilities
2. Review of parking tariff structures
2. Monitor income trends
3. Continue to monitor success in achieving enforcement objectives
4. Intelligence-led targeting of hotspot sites for enforcement
5.  Review of further income opportunities as part of Council's Transformation 
agenda

Colin Brand

10 15 Neighbourhood 
Management

Waste Budget
Increasing waste tonnages resulting in 
increased waste management costs 

Cause(s): 
- COVID-19 pandemic has and will continue to impact the 
amount of waste generated by Bromley Households and 
Businesses. Increased home working and a move towards 
single use could increase waste tonnages and associated 
costs.  
- Failure to anticipate/manage waste management financial / 
cost pressures due to increasing landfill tax, increasing 
property numbers, declining recycling income (lower paper 
tonnages or rejected wet paper loads) and limited alternate 
treatment capacity. 
- Waste tonnage growing faster than budgeted or operational 
factors (i.e. adverse weather conditions, additional home 
working during COVID-19 etc.)

Effect (s):
- Budgets being exceeded and potential knock-on impact on 
other Council services

Financial 5 4 20

1. Cost pressures recognised in Council's Financial Strategy
2.Send virtually zero to landfill from April 2020, minimising any tax increase
3. Continued focus on promoting waste minimisation and recycling (e.g. in Environment Matters and 
through targeted campaigns and initiatives e.g. the flats above shops pilot launched in September 2020)
- Monthly monitoring of recycled tonnages and projection to yearly figures
- Regular and sustained recycling awareness campaign
- Consolidation of Compositing for All campaign
- Continuing investigation of waste minimisation and recycling initiatives
- Monthly monitoring of all waste tonnages and projection to yearly figures
- Monthly monitoring of all collection costs and figures
- Ongoing analysis of collection and disposal methodology 
4. Reviewing and benchmarking operational costs to identify options 
5. Monitoring procedure in place (from December 2019) for the testing of paper loads to determine 
moisture content.

3 4 12 1. Continue to work with Veolia to ensure that recycling services are offered to 
residents throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Peter McCready

11 18 All E&PP

Town Centre Businesses and 
Markets
Loss of town centre businesses to 
competition and as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic

Cause(s): 
-COVID-19 Pandemic causing businesses and market 
traders to cease trading (temporarily or permanently)
- Town centre social distancing measures resulting in a 
reduced amount of market stalls

Effect(s):
-Reduction in high street business and market stall 
occupancy
-Loss of income (Business rates and market stalls)
-Poor public perception and negative publicity

Financial 5 3 15

1. BID Teams organise town centres events
2. Investment in Orpington High Street and Bromley North (done)
3. Regular advertising / promotion of markets and availability of stalls
4. Review of Market operational costs to reduce costs where possible (a new Market Strategy is under 
development and will be delivered from 2020/21)
5. Regular maintenance and renewal of market infrastructure - recent market relocation project has been 
completed and feedback from traders is positive
6. Markets Manager attends regular strategy meetings with BIDs and has provided guidance for a new 
town centre (BID) framework agreement

2 3 6
1. Ongoing review of market provision linked to outsourcing service provision 
2. Detailed annual action plan to be drawn up for each town centre Colin Brand

Page 2 of 5

P
age 122



DATE LAST REVIEWED: 25/05/2021

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

No.

Environment & Public Protection (E&PP) Risk Register

E&PP RISK REF FURTHER ACTION REQUIREDRISK TITLE & 
DESCRIPTION RISK OWNERRISK CATEGORY

GROSS RISK 

DIVISION

CURRENT RISK 

EXISTING CONTROLS IN PLACE TO MITIGATE THE RISKRISK CAUSE & EFFECT

12 20 All E&PP

Staff Resourcing and Capability 
Loss of  corporate memory and ability 
to deliver as key staff leave (good new 
staff are at a premium) 
 

Cause(s): 
-Availability of suitably qualified / experienced staff to replace 
retirees and leavers. Particular problem within Planning, 
Environmental Health and Traffic professionals (TfL offers 
better remuneration and career progression).  Lack of 
incentive for good staff to remain at LBB.

Effect (s):
-Loss of organisational memory,  greater reliance on 
contracted staff,  delays in delivering services / plans (e.g. 
Transport Local Implementation Plan).  Inability to effectively 
manage contracts as Contract Managers may have started 
out in a different role (i.e. as Service Managers) and do not 
have the necessary expertise to do so (i.e. auditing). 

Service Delivery 3 4 12 1. Ongoing programme to find and retain quality staff through internal schemes such as career grades and 
ongoing CPD 3 3 9

1. Consider potential for contractors to supply necessary skills
2. Review options with HR for incentivisation schemes to ensure staff 
recruitment and retention is high
3. Existing controls are not currently sufficient to maintain the staff quota 
within the Arboriculture team.  Explore apprenticeship scheme as a possibility 
to ensure this team can maintain deliverables of the service in terms of client 
inspections and reporting. Enlist contractor to assist with tree survey backlog.

Colin Brand

13 22 All E&PP

Climate Change
Failure to adapt the borough and 
Council services to our changing 
climate

Cause(s): 
-Severe weather events including extreme heat, storms, 
floods etc.

Effect (s):
-Resulting in threats to service provision, environmental 
quality and residents' health in addition to reputational 
damage caused by perceived lack of action to tackle climate 
change

Service Delivery 3 4 12

1. Adopt best adaptation practice as identified through London Climate Change Partnership, UK Climate 
Impacts Programme, and the Local Adaptation Advisory Panel
2. Implementation of LBB's Carbon Management Programme 
3. LBB Surface Water Management Plan and Draft Local Flood Risk Strategy
4. Establish net zero (direct) carbon emissions target for 2029 as part of 10 year climate plan

2 4 8

1. Emergency Planning to liaise with Public Health on cross-cutting issues e.g. 
excess summer deaths and vector-borne disease etc.
2. Detailed climate action plan to be developed as part of ongoing Carbon 
Management Programme, in order to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 
2029

Sarah Foster 
(Colin Brand leading during COVID-

19 whilst SF is seconded to 
Shielding, Volunteering and 

Assistance programme)

14 25 Public Protection

Income Reconciliation (Public 
Protection Licensing)
Uncertainty around income 
reconciliation when the Council is 
looking to grow income to offset 
reduced funding

Cause(s): 
- Lack of processes to reconcile actual licence fee income 
against expected income held on service specific IT systems.

Effect (s):
- Loss of income with potential to reduce service delivery 
funds
- Reputational damage

Financial 3 2 6

1. Regular income monitoring
2. Good debt recovery systems
3. Monitoring of activity through Performance Indicators
4. Continual Benchmarking of licensing charges against other authorities

3 2 6 1. Refine procedure for reconciliation of expected income against actual and 
provide suitable training for staff to deliver this Joanne Stowell

15 26 Neighbourhood 
Management

Income Reconciliation (Waste 
Management)
Uncertainty around income 
reconciliation linked to the mobilisation 
of new waste contracts 

Cause(s): 
-Lack of integration between client and service provider IT 
systems so that data is not linked
- Loss of income due to the closure of some businesses 
during the COVID-19 pandemic

Effect (s):
- Loss of income from Commercial Waste and Green Garden 
Waste services with potential to reduce service delivery 
funds
- Costs incurred as a result of additional last minute 
resources required to deliver services
- Reputational damage

Financial 3 2 6

1. Regular income monitoring
2. Good debt recovery systems
3. Monitoring of activity through Performance Indicators
4. Suspend commercial accounts allowing the businesses to return once open following the COVID-19 
pandemic.

1 2 2

1. Refine procedure for reconciliation of expected income against actual and 
provide suitable training for staff to deliver this. 
2. Project in 2020/21 to review the platform under which the garden waste and 
commercial waste service are hosted on.
3. Work with Veolia to review the commercial waste service offer to 
businesses with a view to provide a recycling offer and grow the commercial 
waste customer base. 

Peter McCready

16 28 Public Protection
Dogs and Pests Contract
Failure to deliver the contract to the 
required service levels

Cause(s): 
-Lack of robustness within contract specification in terms of 
contract deliverables and Key Performance measures

Effect (s):
-Inability to deliver statutory functions
-Reputational damage

Service Delivery 3 2 6

1. Identification of named Contract Manager
2. Regular contract management meetings with service provider
3. Review of contract specification to identify change control requirements (a contract change notice 
regarding a change to invoicing was signed in August 19).

2 2 4 This contract is now running well, the contract is due to be extended for 1 year 
and no action is required at this time. Joanne Stowell

17 29 Public Protection Out of Hours Noise Service 
Failure to deliver statutory services 

Cause(s): The out of hours noise service is dependant on 
grant funding from the Mayors Office for Policing & Crime 
(MOPAC) by way of the Local Crime Prevention Fund. This 
grant is released on a 2 year cycle, current cycle ends March 
2022. The grant was reduced in 2017 and there is no 
guarantee it will be sustained post April 2022.  The service is 
staffed on a voluntary basis, and the remuneration for 
covering the shift is low; additionally, as Officers from within 
the section also cover additional COVID enforcement 
responsibilities,  as such there is no guarantee that officers 
will be available.             

Effect: Inability to deliver Out of Hours Noise Service.

Service Delivery 4 4 16 1. Annual review with MOPAC on service outcomes 4 4 16

1. Meetings with MOPAC to ensure early warnings of any change to funding 
levels.  MOPAC funding is outside of the control of LBB.
2. OOH Service Offer is being reviewed together with the standby allowance. 
The feasibility of opening up the rota to officers outside of public protection is 
being explored. 

Joanne Stowell

Page 3 of 5

P
age 123



DATE LAST REVIEWED: 25/05/2021

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

No.

Environment & Public Protection (E&PP) Risk Register

E&PP RISK REF FURTHER ACTION REQUIREDRISK TITLE & 
DESCRIPTION RISK OWNERRISK CATEGORY

GROSS RISK 

DIVISION

CURRENT RISK 

EXISTING CONTROLS IN PLACE TO MITIGATE THE RISKRISK CAUSE & EFFECT

18 30 Public Protection Integrated Offender Management 
Failure to contribute to IOM in Bromley

Causes: 
-IOM functions are reliant on grant funding from MOPAC via 
the LCPF, equates to one day per week. Reduction or 
cessation of grant after April 2020. 

Effect: 
-Inability to contribute to IOM in Bromley.

Service Delivery 3 4 12 1. Annual review with MOPAC on service outcomes 3 4 12 1. Meetings with MOPAC to ensure early warnings of any change to funding 
levels. MOPAC funding is outside of the control of LBB. Joanne Stowell

19 31 Public Protection

Anti-Social Behaviour Co-Ordinator 
post: 
Failure to deliver ASB problem solving 
and partnership activity

Cause(s): 
-Grant from MOPAC via the LCPF is used to fund the ASB 
Co-ordinator post which is responsible for delivering targeted 
ASB project work across the borough with partner agencies.  
Reduction or cessation of grant after April 2021.    

Effect: 
-Inability to fund this post would result in the cessation of 
targeted ASB work with partners across the borough. 
Funding for this post was reduced in 2018 and the shortfall 
was met by LBB. LBB continue to meet the slight shortfall in 
2019.  

Service Delivery 3 4 12 1. Review of project outcomes to determine whether they can be delivered on a reduced budget with LBB 
contributions in kind 3 4 12 1. Review of Community Safety functions to allow for MOPAC project delivery 

on reduced days per week. MOPAC funding is outside of the control of LBB. Joanne Stowell

20 32 Public Protection

Gangs and Serious Youth Violence 
Officer 
Failure to deliver Gang problem solving 
and partnership activity

Cause(s): 
-this has funding from MOPAC for 1 year only  and the post 
which is responsible for the strategic coordination of gang 
interventions and reductions in serious youth violence.
Effect: 
-Inability to fund this post would result in the cessation of 
strategic coordinated gang disruption work with partners 
across the borough.   

Service Delivery 3 4 12 1. Annual review with MOPAC on service outcomes 1 4 4
1. Funding for this post is in place via MOPAC until 2022 at which point the 
costs will move to the community safety salary budget as agreed with finance 
as this post will become part of the full time LBB staff establishment.

Joanne Stowell

21 33 Public Protection
The provision of 24/7 CCTV 
Monitoring

Cause: 
-COVID 19 Pandemic 
Effect: 
-Potential Loss of officers through sickness arising from a 
potential second wave leading to an inability to provide 24-7 
CCTV monitoring .

Service Delivery 3 4 12

1. The contract is currently running back at full strength, however, due to a second wave of COVID we 
have again moved to running a single operator crew (as this still provides continued 24 hour monitoring). 
Shift hand overs are once again not be in person, so the operator signing off would not see the next shift 
operator and handover notes would be left. Engineers who visit the room for maintenance would keep 
main room closed if accessing the server room, and if they do have to enter the control room they will 
maintain 2m social distancing at all times. This is achievable when there is only a single operator in the 
room. The supervisor will mostly work from home. 

2 3 6 1.  Monitor and review monthly with Contractors Rob Vale

22 34 Public Protection Loss of Income from Licensing 

Cause: 
-COVID 19 pandemic and the potential impact on achieving 
income from licensing.  
Effect: 
-The majority of income relates to alcohol and gambling 
licences which are renewed between October and November 
each year. The Team has already received the income for 
the first 7 months of this financial year and have not had any 
requests to refund existing licences. However, there is a risk 
that the expected income target will not be met.

Financial 3 4 12

1.  The Council's Covid business support schemes offer business rate deferral as well as discretionary 
grants to cover non staffing overheads, the government have not specifically provided assistance with the 
costs of licences and premiums and there is an assumption that  the loss of use of the licence would be 
covered under the distortionary grants.  For most businesses the licence would be a minor cost and they 
would be more concerned with significant overheads such as staffing, rents and rates. Should expected  
income targets not be met, the Division would look to mitigate the shortfall by reducing expenditure in the 
first instance to maintain a balanced budget.

3 3 9 1.  Monitor and review income and government guidance. Rob Vale

23 35 All E&PP

Risk to Health 
- Ill health resulting from enforcing 
Health Protection COVID 19 
Restrictions Regulations 2020 or from 
operating public sites

Cause: 
-COVID 19 pandemic and the National requirement that 
Environmental Health and Trading Standards Officers 
enforce the COVID 19 Health Regulations. 
- Operational activities requiring staff to undertake site visits 
or to operate public facilities.
Effect: 
-The potential for Officers, Contractors and Visitors to be 
exposed to and infected by, COVID 19 

Service Delivery 3 4 12

1.Risk assessments have been undertaken. No face to face inspections to take place, all investigations to 
be undertaken at arms length via email or telephone, drive by etc., unless there is a life and limb 
enforcement issue. Should face to face contact be necessary, PPE (gloves/masks/sanitiser) is available 
and must be used. 
2.  Assessments for bulky waste collections undertaken via telephone.    

3 3 9 1.To regularly review the risk assessments Colin Brand

24 36 Public Protection

Staff Resourcing - Public Protection 
Enforcement
The requirement of Public Protection to 
enforce the social distancing measures  

Cause: 
-The impact of the Covid 19 pandemic and relaxation of the 
lockdown places an additional enforcement responsibility on 
Public Protection to enforce social distancing measures in 
business premises. 
Effect: 
-This additional responsibility may interfere with the ability to 
deliver to existing statutory responsibilities.                           

Service Delivery 3 3 9

1. A joint BCU Enforcement approach was developed and agreed in April 2020, whereby The South BCU 
will work collegiately with the Council to undertake joint enforcement activity where appropriate. 
Investigations, regulatory and enforcement activities will have regard to local context, be risk based and 
targeted to where they will have the greatest effect. Enforcement will be a last resort, and overall a 
process of escalation will be used until compliance is reached. Exceptions may occur where there is a 
serious risk to public safety . The Met Police have now issued another London wide enforcement protocol 
that covers the latest changes to legislation, however, the one that is already in place covers the 
approach, and is being updated.                                                                                                                 

2 3 6 1. Ongoing weekly meetings with the BCU leadership team to discuss capacity 
and response. Joanne Stowell

25 37 Public Protection
Increased Costs for Coroners 
Service

Cause:
-COVID 19 Pandemic  and the resultant excess deaths and 
impact on the Coroners services. 
Effect: 
-Additional estimated costs (£57k) over the BAU contract 
costs due to high risk post mortems. 

Financial 3 5 15
1. Ongoing communication with the South London Coroners Consortium to ensure that additional costs 
are scrutinised.  The Consortium is looking  to mitigate the additional costs by reducing expenditure in the 
first instance to maintain a balanced budget.

3 5 15

1. If the costs cannot be absorbed by the consortium, the Division would look 
to mitigate the additional spend by reducing expenditure within the 
division/department in the first instance to maintain a balanced budget.
2. The Director of Environment and Public Protection is challenging the 
appropriateness of the required spend.

Joanne Stowell

Page 4 of 5

P
age 124



DATE LAST REVIEWED: 25/05/2021

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IM
PA

C
T

R
IS

K
 R

A
TI

N
G

No.

Environment & Public Protection (E&PP) Risk Register

E&PP RISK REF FURTHER ACTION REQUIREDRISK TITLE & 
DESCRIPTION RISK OWNERRISK CATEGORY

GROSS RISK 

DIVISION

CURRENT RISK 

EXISTING CONTROLS IN PLACE TO MITIGATE THE RISKRISK CAUSE & EFFECT

26 38 Traffic and 
Parking

COVID-19 related loss of income
Greatly reduced income from parking 
activity.
Current uncertainty re TfL grant funding 
for transport improvements.

Cause(s): 
-Fewer people used paid-for parking during the pandemic
-Enforcement was relaxed to allow residents to park at home 
during first lockdown
-TfL LIP funding has not been clarified for 2021/22 (normally 
confirmed in December, now expected to be confirmed in 
May)

Effect (s):
- Parking income in 202/21 was down by over 50%
- PCN income was down in 2020/21 by 20%
- Failure to deliver new traffic and highway improvement 
schemes, or road safety education and cycle training

Service Delivery / 
Financial 4 4 16 1. Encourage residents to have confidence to visit town centres

2. Seek ongoing grant funding. 4 3 12

1. 'This risk will remain high until such time as car use returns to pre-COVID 
levels.
2. Council should use the limited funding available to support economic 
recovery for town centres, returning school pupils and those travelling to work. 
3. Council to consider reprofiling highway improvements and behaviour 
change projects if funding is reduced to implement Local Implementation Plan 
(LIP).

Angus Culverwell

27 39 Public Protection
Dysfunctionality of Uniform 
Information Management System

Cause- This is a legacy system and there has been a lack of 
investment in maintaining it.                                                                   
Effects- . The dysfunctionality of Uniform  affects how data is 
recorded, retrieved and analysed. Data is not always saved 
or retrievable. Further there are issues trying to connect to 
the system remotely. 

Service Delivery 5 4 20 Ongoing communication with IT, the system upgrade is due in May 21 4 4 16 The system will remain unreliable until such time that the system is upgraded. 
Discussions as to whether the upgrade can be accelerated. Joanne Stowell

28 40 Neighbourhood 
Management

Disruption to waste services during 
the Depot Improvement Programme 
works in 2022/23

Cause - The depot improvement programme involves 
significant infrastructure works at the Council's operational 
depots over an 18 month period. The works themselves will 
impact services as will any delays. 
Effect(s) - Closure of all or part of the Waste Transfer 
Station means there is limited space to store waste, resulting 
in additional costs to find alternatives, it could also limit ability 
to recycle as much of the waste collected as possible.
- Closure of Reuse and Recycling Centre at one or both sites 
means additional cost if alternative needs to be sourced

Service Delivery 5 4 20

1. Work closely with the Depot Improvement Programme Consultants and stakeholders to plan and phase 
the works appropriately
2. Consider council sites as locations for temporary waste storage and/ or recycling sites
3. Produce a communications plan to ensure that residents and businesses are aware of any planned 
changes to the site and their services.

4 4 16
This risk will remain high until the detailed Depot Improvement Programme 
plan has been completed and additional mitigation measures identified as part 
of this process. 

Peter McCready

29 41 Public Protection
Dysfunctionality of IT Support & 
Systems

Cause- Insufficient/Inadequate IT Support                                                                   
Effects- The dysfunctionality of systems and support affects 
performance of the team which has meant staff unable to 
work using IT .  

Service Delivery 3 4 12 Ongoing fault reporting with IT 3 4 12 The team have no communications from IT with regards to keeping staff 
informed of problems Joanne Stowell

Note: Column B reflects the unique E&PP risk reference.

Page 5 of 5

P
age 125



T
his page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11th MARCH 2021
	Minutes
	 ORAL QUESTIONS WITH ANSWERS
	 WRITTEN QUESTIONS WITH ANSWERS

	4 QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND THE PUBLIC
	5 MATTERS ARISING AND WORK PROGRAMME
	6 PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE AND  ECS PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
	Dashboard

	7a APPOINTMENTS TO THE COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTATIVE PANEL AND THE LEISURE GARDENS AND ALLOTMENTS PANEL 2021/2022
	9 WOODLANDS IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME--POST COMPLETION REVIEW REPORT
	Forestry Commission Grant T  C Appendix C

	10 GLENDALE CONTRACT--ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT
	11 ECS CONTRACTS REGISTER
	Enc. 1 for Contracts Register ECS

	12 ECS RISK REGISTER
	21.05 Enc. 1 for Risk Register ECS and PPE_Appendix1_FINAL RELEASED
	Risk Register



